

# Decoupling Growth from Prosperity: Greece's Economic Paradox and the Path Forward

# Table of Contents

A. Greece's Return to Investment-Grade: Drivers Behind Moody's Marc	:h 2025
Upgrade	4
1. Macroeconomic and Fiscal Stability	
1.a Fiscal Consolidation and Debt Reduction	5
1.b Revenue Reforms and Tax Compliance	6
1.c Role of EU and International Institutions	7
1.d Economic Growth and Primary Surpluses	8
2. Structural and Institutional Reforms	
2.a Labor Market	9
2.b Pension System	10
2.c Business Climate and Competitiveness	10
2.d Digital Transformation and E-Governance	11
2.e Anti-Corruption and Transparency	12
2.f Budgetary Framework	12
3. Banking Sector and Financial Stability	13
3.a NPL Resolution and the 'Hercules' Scheme	13
3.b Bank Recapitalization and Return to Profitability	15
3.c Restoring Credit Flow and Financial Stability	16
4. Market and Investment Implications	17
4.a Lower Bond Yields and Narrower Spreads	
4.b Sovereign Issuance and Borrowing Costs	19
4.c Foreign Direct Investment Inflows	20
4.d Corporate and Banking Sector Benefits	21
4.e Alignment with Broader EU Trends	22
5. Geopolitical and External Context	23
5.a Greece in the Post-Upgrade EU Landscape	24
5.b Geopolitical Risks and Energy Security	25
6. Downside Risks to Greece's Credit Standing	27
6.a Domestic Policy Risks and Reform Reversals	27



6.b Economic and External Shock Risks	28
6.c Risk Mitigation and Contingency Plans	29
7. Conclusion:	31
B. Are Greeks Truly Better-Off?	34
1. Macroeconomic Recovery vs. Real Incomes	34
1.a Real incomes and wages have suffered a lost decade	34
1.b GDP growth vs. household prosperity:	35
2. Cost of Living, Inflation and Housing Affordability	35
3. Labor Market and Job Security 3	38
4. Inequality and Wealth Distribution	1
5. Financial Stability vs. Quality of Life	4
6. Comparative Context: Greece vs. Other Southern European Economies	
6.a Purchasing power:	48
6.b Labor market comparisons:	48
6.c Fiscal and policy approaches:	
6.d In terms of inequality:	50
7. Conclusion: Is Investment Grade Status Benefiting Greek Citizens?	
	0
C. Why Greece's Macroeconomic Recovery Has Not Translated Into Improved	
Quality Of Life For Greeks5	4
1. The Disconnect Between Macroeconomic Growth and Household Prosperity	57.
2. Drivers for The Cost of Living Crisis and High Consumer Prices. 5	
2.a Multinational pricing practices:	
2.b Import dependency and taxes:	
2.c Weak competition and oligopolies:	
2.d Policy options to ease living costs:	
3. Drivers for Wage Stagnation and Labor Market Challenges 5	
3.a Post-crisis labor reforms:	
3.b Precarious and temporary employment:	
3.c Brain drain and skill gaps:	
3.d Labor market policies going forward:	
4. Drivers for Housing Affordability and Real Estate Pressures 6	



4.a Foreign real estate investment (Golden Visas):	62
4.b Short-term rentals and Airbnb:	63
4.c Housing affordability crisis:	63
4.d Policy debate: rent controls and taxes:	64
5. Public Services, Infrastructure, and Welfare Limitations.	65
5.a Austerity's lasting impact:	65
5.b Infrastructure quality in Greece now lags:	65
5.c EU fiscal rules and limited fiscal space:	66
5.d Welfare state gaps:	66
5.e Needed reforms in public services and welfare:	67
6. Breaking the Cycle - Policy Recommendations for Inclusive	Growth68
a. Boost investment in high-value industries and diversify the economy:	68
b. Enhance competition and fair market practices to reduce price disparities:	69
c. Strengthen labor institutions to ensure workers benefit from growth:	69
d. Address cost-of-living through targeted interventions without jeopardizing stability:	70
e. Roles of government, EU, and private sector:	71
f. Retaining young talent and reversing the brain drain:	72
D. Rethinking Greece's Economic Development: Towards a Decentralized	d,
Innovation-Driven Economy	74
1. Decentralizing Economic Growth Beyond Athens	
1.a Opportunities of Redistributing Activity:	75
1.b Challenges to Decentralization:	75
1.c Leveraging Remote Work and Digital Nomads:	76
1.d Making Rural Living Attractive:	77
2. Identifying High-Potential Growth Sectors for Greece's Fut	ure 78
2.a Agritech and Food Innovation:	79
2.b Healthtech and Biotechnology:	79
2.c Fintech and Digital Finance:	80
2.d Artificial Intelligence and Digital Innovation:	81
2.e Clean Energy and Climate Tech:	82
2.f Barriers to Scaling New Industries:	84
3. The Role of Technology and Remote Work in Economic	
Decentralization	85



3.a Expanding Digital Infrastructure Nationwide:	85
3.b Global Lessons in Attracting Remote Workers:	86
4. Demographic and Social Revitalization Through Economic	-
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••	
4.a Addressing the Demographic Crisis:	
4.b Economic Decentralization as Demographic Policy:	91
4.c Incentivizing Youth and Families to Rural Areas:	91
4.d Quality of Life and Community Revival:	92
4.e A sustainable lifestyle appeal:	93
4.f Historical/Internal Precedents:	
·	
5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private	
5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private	
5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private Roles in Driving Regional Growth	<b></b>
5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private Roles in Driving Regional Growth	
<ul> <li>5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private Roles in Driving Regional Growth</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private Roles in Driving Regional Growth</li> <li>5.a Targeted Tax Policies and Incentives:</li> <li>5.b Infrastructure and Public Investment Outside Athens:</li> <li>5.c Utilizing EU Funds and Public-Private Partnerships:</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private Roles in Driving Regional Growth</li> <li>5.a Targeted Tax Policies and Incentives:</li> <li>5.b Infrastructure and Public Investment Outside Athens:</li> <li>5.c Utilizing EU Funds and Public-Private Partnerships:</li> <li>5.d Education and Workforce Alignment:</li> </ul>	<b>94</b> 95 95 97 98 99

# A. Greece's Return to Investment-Grade: Drivers Behind Moody's March 2025 Upgrade

#### Introduction:

After a decade-long debt crisis and three international bailouts, Greece has finally reattained investment-grade status across all major rating agencies. Moody's upgrade of Greece's sovereign rating to Baa3 (from Ba1) in March 2025 marked the culmination of this recovery (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters) (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | Reuters). It reflects the nation's drastic fiscal turnaround, structural reforms, and banking-sector rehabilitation following the post-2010 crisis era. This report analyzes the macroeconomic, fiscal, and institutional drivers behind Greece's milestone, with a focus on developments since the 2010 crisis and especially the factors cited in Moody's latest upgrade. We explore Greece's strengthened public



finances, the breadth of reforms (from pensions to digital governance) underpinning renewed investor confidence, the clean-up of bank balance sheets, and the market implications of its restored creditworthiness. We also assess external risks and future challenges that could test the resilience of Greece's hard-won stability.

# **1. Macroeconomic and Fiscal Stability**

### 1.a Fiscal Consolidation and Debt Reduction

Greece's fiscal position has improved dramatically since the crisis years, laying the groundwork for credit upgrades. The country underwent aggressive fiscal consolidation under EU/IMF programs, turning large deficits into sustained primary budget surpluses in the late 2010s. Even after the pandemic shock, Athens guickly returned to fiscal discipline. In 2022, the general government deficit narrowed to 2.3% of GDP, and Greece achieved a small primary surplus (0.1% of GDP) (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece) (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece). Fiscal over-performance continued into 2023-2024: the government beat its targets with an estimated primary surplus of ~3.5% of GDP in 2024, well above the 2.5% goal (Greece's 2024 central government surplus exceeds target, says minister | Reuters). Strong tax revenues (aided by economic growth and improved compliance) alongside controlled spending have produced these surpluses, even as Greece provided energy price relief and pandemic support when needed (Economic forecast for <u>Greece - European Commission</u>) (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece). High primary surpluses are crucial for a country with Greece's debt load, as they help reduce the debt burden over time - a fact explicitly noted by Moody's as underpinning their upgrade (<u>Moody's upgrades</u> Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability Reuters).

Parallel to budget repair, public debt dynamics have improved sharply. Greece's debt-to-GDP ratio, which exploded during the crisis and peaked above 200% in 2020, has since been on a firm downward path (Greece Government Debt to GDP - Trading Economics) (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters). The combination of fiscal surpluses, economic rebound, and inflation has slashed the debt ratio by over 40 percentage points from its pandemic high (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters). Public debt fell to about 171% of GDP in 2022 from 206% in 2020 (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece) (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece). By 2024 it was roughly 154% of GDP and is projected to drop further toward the mid-140s by 2025 (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters) (Economic forecast for Greece - European



<u>Commission</u>). EU forecasts see the debt ratio declining on a "downward trajectory" – to 153% in 2024, 147% in 2025, and ~143% in 2026 – assuming solid growth and continued primary surpluses (<u>Economic</u> <u>forecast for Greece - European Commission</u>). This progress addresses a key concern of rating agencies, given Greece's debt remains the highest in the eurozone. Moody's specifically cited the "quicker-than-expected improvement in public finances" and expectation of "substantial primary surpluses" steadily reducing the debt burden in coming years (<u>Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters</u>).

Crucially, Greece's debt sustainability has benefited not only from lower debt levels, but also from its debt profile and official support. Approximately three-quarters of Greek public debt is owed to European official creditors (EU institutions and euro-area partners) at concessional interest rates and very long maturities (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews) (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece). The Eurogroup's debt relief measures of June 2018 - such as extended loan maturities and interest deferrals significantly improved medium-term sustainability (<u>Yannis Stournaras:</u> <u>Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future</u>). As a result, despite the still-high nominal debt, Greece's debt servicing costs are manageable and near-term refinancing needs are modest. Most debt carries fixed low rates or is hedged, limiting Greece's exposure to the recent rise in global interest rates (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>) (<u>Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France</u> Euronews). The average maturity of government debt is around 20 years (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France Euronews), among the longest in Europe, reducing rollover risks. These factors mean Greece faces only low short-term financing risk, a point noted by both the European Commission and rating analysts (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece) (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread <u>erased against France | Euronews</u>). However, as Greece gradually replaces official loans with market funding over the long term, vigilance is needed - the Commission still classifies Greece's mediumterm fiscal sustainability risk as high, until debt ratios are lowered further (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece).

### 1.b Revenue Reforms and Tax Compliance

A key element of Greece's fiscal turnaround has been improved tax collection and revenue growth. During the bailout years, Greece implemented extensive tax reforms – raising VAT and income tax rates, broadening bases, and combating evasion – to boost revenues. Postprogram, efforts have focused on modernizing tax administration and digitalizing collection processes. The creation of an Independent



Authority for Public Revenue (AADE) insulated tax enforcement from political interference and has helped increase compliance. In recent years, the government has rolled out e-governance tools (like efiling, e-invoicing, and real-time transaction reporting) to close the notorious VAT gap and curb the shadow economy (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). Early evidence shows rising income tax receipts and VAT intake, contributing to better-than-expected budget outcomes (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). For instance, the European Commission noted that growth in income tax revenues, alongside restrained spending, drove the improved fiscal balance in 2023 (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). On the upside, the Commission sees the digitalization of tax systems yielding further revenue gains in coming years, improving Greece's budgetary position beyond current forecasts (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). Higher revenues from a growing, formalizing economy have been instrumental in allowing Greece to run primary surpluses while also reducing tax rates selectively to spur investment (e.g. cutting employer social contributions). This virtuous cycle of compliance-led revenue gains supporting fiscal health underpins investor confidence in Greece's fiscal sustainability.

### 1.c Role of EU and International Institutions

International support and oversight were pivotal in Greece's fiscal rehabilitation. Between 2010 and 2018, Greece underwent three adjustment programs financed by the EU, European Stability Mechanism (ESM), International Monetary Fund (IMF), and other eurozone governments. In exchange for some  $\in 289$  billion in rescue financing, Greece enacted fiscal austerity and reforms that corrected its massive pre-2010 imbalances (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future ) (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future ). The European Union's role was especially pronounced through the ESM (and its predecessor facilities), which became Greece's largest creditor. These official loans - at below-market interest rates and long tenors - were critical to Greece avoiding default and stabilizing its finances. The IMF also provided loans and technical assistance, though Greece exited the IMF program early and repaid remaining IMF loans ahead of schedule (by 2019), signaling renewed financial independence.

Even after the bailout era, European institutions continued to shepherd Greece's recovery. Under post-program surveillance (2018– 2022), the European Commission monitored Greece's budgets and reform progress, offering debt relief incentives (such as returning ECB profits on Greek bonds) upon completion of milestones. The ECB played a supportive role as well – it reinstated Greek banks' access to regular funding operations and, during the pandemic, included Greek bonds in its emergency asset purchases despite their non-investment grade status. This helped keep Greek borrowing costs low and market access open through the COVID shock. The ESM extended additional debt relief in 2018 and stands ready as a backstop if Greece ever needs precautionary support, which further reassures investors. In short, the EU and IMF enforced the difficult adjustments that turned Greece's fiscal trajectory around, and their ongoing engagement has anchored expectations that Greece will remain on a prudent path. The "institutional improvements" cited by Moody's partly refer to these stronger fiscal frameworks and external checks that Greece built during the post-crisis period (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters).

### 1.d Economic Growth and Primary Surpluses

Greece's ability to maintain primary surpluses (budget balance before interest) has been aided by a return to economic growth after the depression of 2010-2016. After losing a quarter of GDP during the crisis, the Greek economy rebounded with 8.4% growth in 2021 and 5.9% in 2022, recovering strongly from the pandemic ([PDF] 2023 Country Report - Greece - Economy and Finance). While growth moderated to ~2% in 2023–2024 due to global headwinds, Greece has consistently outpaced the eurozone average (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | Reuters). Robust tourism, foreign investment, and pent-up consumer demand have driven this recovery. For 2025, Greece expects GDP growth of 2.3%, more than double the eurozone's projected rate (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | Reuters). This above-trend growth boosts tax revenues and facilitates debt reduction. Notably, Greece's economic expansion has occurred alongside (and partly because of) its reforms and improved fiscal credibility - in contrast to the early 2010s when harsh austerity deepened the recession.

By 2023, Greece had achieved a primary surplus of 2.1% of GDP, and that is forecast to rise to ~2.9% in 2024 (Economic forecast for <u>Greece - European Commission</u>). Running primary surpluses year after year – a politically challenging feat – underscores the government's commitment to fiscal responsibility. Moody's upgrade specifically pointed to expectations that Greece "will continue to run substantial primary surpluses" in coming years, given the stable policy orientation (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters). Primary surpluses directly slow debt accumulation; coupled with decent growth and moderate inflation, they ensure the debt-to-GDP ratio falls steadily. Greece's fiscal consolidation is thus not a one-off but an ongoing effort, and



this sustained discipline has been a key driver in regaining investorgrade status.

Importantly, political stability has undergirded fiscal stability. Since 2019, Greece has been led by a single-party government (the center-right New Democracy party) that broadly embraces pro-market and pro-EU policies. The government reelected in 2023 has maintained continuity in the finance ministry and reform agenda, reassuring markets that there will be no return to the fiscal indiscipline or bailout confrontations of the past. Moody's noted Greece's "stable *political environment"* as a factor supporting its positive fiscal outlook (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal <u>recovery and stability | Reuters</u>). This contrasts with the turbulent early 2010s, when frequent elections and brinkmanship (e.g. the 2015 referendum) rattled investors. Today, there is a broad political consensus in Greece in favor of honoring EU fiscal rules and debt commitments - a major institutional change from the pre-crisis era. This stability reduces the risk premium on Greek debt and was pivotal in convincing rating agencies that the fiscal gains would be preserved.

### 2. Structural and Institutional Reforms

Beyond just numbers, Greece's climb back to investment grade has been underpinned by deep structural reforms and institutional changes enacted since the crisis. Over the last decade, Greece implemented what the Bank of Greece governor termed "a bold programme of structural reforms...covering various areas, such as the pension and healthcare systems, goods and services markets, the business environment, the tax system, the budgetary framework and public sector transparency." (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis past, present, future ). These reforms have improved the economy's competitiveness and governance, addressing many of the weaknesses that contributed to the crisis. Moody's explicitly cited "institutional improvements that are bearing fruit" in its upgrade rationale (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters). Key reform areas include:

### 2.a Labor Market

Greece liberalized its labor market significantly under the bailout programs. Restrictions on collective bargaining were eased, minimum wage adjustments were temporarily frozen (and later made more datadriven), and employment protection laws were made more flexible. Unit labor costs were sharply reduced – a form of internal devaluation – helping restore competitiveness lost in the 2000s. As a result, Greek wages fell and then grew more slowly than



productivity for several years, encouraging hiring. The unemployment rate, which peaked at 27.8% in 2013, has steadily fallen to about 9– 10% by 2024, the lowest in over a decade (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future ) (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). Job growth has been robust in sectors like tourism, services, and export manufacturing. While unemployment remains higher than the EU average and labor force participation is low, the trend is improving, partly thanks to active labor policies and a better business climate. Continued labor reforms – such as tackling skills mismatches and enabling flexible work arrangements – are aimed at lowering joblessness further to ~9.0% by 2026 (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). This employment recovery has supported consumer confidence and political stability, reinforcing Greece's economic turnaround.

### 2.b Pension System

Greece's pension system, once notoriously unsustainable, has undergone multiple overhauls. Reforms since 2010 have raised the statutory retirement age (now 67 for most workers), cut pension benefit levels, consolidated numerous pension funds into a unified system, and linked pensions more closely to lifetime contributions (<u>A Greek tragedy - European Pensions</u>). The 2016 "Katrougalos" reform introduced a national pension and recalibrated replacement rates, while a 2020 reform began partially moving pensions towards a funded model (for auxiliary pensions), aiming to reduce the long-term burden. These changes dramatically curbed pension spending, which had been among the highest in the EU as a share of GDP. While reforms were politically contentious - pension cuts deeply affected retirees - they were crucial for fiscal sustainability. The IMF noted that the 2015-17 pension reforms removed major distortions and reduced system deficits ([PDF] Structural reforms to boost inclusive growth in Greece - OECD). As a result, Greece's pension outlays have leveled off, and future liabilities are better contained, which credit rating agencies view positively when assessing long-term debt. That said, court challenges loom as a risk (some past pension cuts have faced legal appeals), but so far the core reforms have held, demonstrating resilience of reforms even through changes in government.

### 2.c Business Climate and Competitiveness

Greece has improved its business environment through deregulation and digitalization. Many product and service market reforms were implemented, ranging from opening up closed professions (pharmacists, lawyers, truckers, etc.) to simplifying business licensing and reducing red tape. The goal was to increase



competition and reduce costs for consumers. Greece climbed in the World Bank's now-discontinued Ease of Doing Business rankings during the post-crisis years as procedures for starting a business, registering property, and obtaining permits were streamlined. Foreign investment rules were liberalized and fast-track processes introduced for strategic investments. These efforts contributed to a surge in export performance - Greece's exports of goods and services climbed from just 19% of GDP in 2009 to nearly 38% of GDP in 2018 (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, <u>future</u>), reflecting a more open and export-oriented economy. Even excluding volatile shipping, real exports have risen over 50% since 2009, outpacing euro area export growth (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future ). The economy has clearly rebalanced toward tradables, a sign that structural reforms have improved competitiveness. This export growth and diversification (beyond tourism into manufacturing and agri-food) is a fundamental change that enhances Greece's creditworthiness by reducing its external vulnerabilities.

### 2.d Digital Transformation and E-Governance

One of the more striking recent reforms is Greece's rapid digital transformation of public services. Since 2019, the government launched an ambitious digitalization drive, creating a central gov.gr portal that has put hundreds of citizen services online from tax payments and business registrations to prescriptions and birth certificates. This has not only improved efficiency and transparency but also helped tackle petty corruption by reducing face-to-face interactions. The shift to digital platforms (like electronic procurement systems and online tax filing) has improved governance metrics and is expected to boost tax compliance further (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). Additionally, Greece has invested in digital infrastructure and connectivity (often with EU Recovery and Resilience Facility funds) to support a growing tech sector. The country's burgeoning startup scene and tech investments (e.g. Microsoft's planned data centers in Greece) indicate rising confidence in its digital economy. Rating agencies consider governance and institutional effectiveness in their assessments - Greece's strides in modernizing its public administration and reducing corruption are therefore creditpositive. For example, establishing independent agencies (for revenues, statistics, competition, etc.) and using technology to increase accountability addresses institutional weaknesses that previously undermined policy implementation.



### 2.e Anti-Corruption and Transparency

Greece has historically scored poorly on corruption indices, but there have been gradual improvements post-crisis. The creation of the National Transparency Authority, stricter rules on party finances, and high-profile anti-corruption prosecutions all signal a more robust stance against graft. According to Transparency International's Corruption Perceptions Index, Greece's score modestly improved in the late 2010s and it moved up from its crisisera rank (though challenges remain) ([PDF] 2021 Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI): Greece improves position) (2021 Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI): Greece improves position). The EU's postprogram monitoring ensured Greece passed reforms on public procurement and judicial efficiency. These institutional changes help safeguard the fiscal and economic reforms from being derailed by vested interests. Moody's upgrade implicitly recognizes these institutional gains - Greece's *"institutional stability"* was noted as supporting positive credit prospects despite some persistent challenges (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters). In other words, the reforms have proven resilient against political shifts, as even anti-establishment forces (like the Syriza government of 2015-2019) ended up respecting most of the bailout-mandated changes after some initial pushback. Today, there is an entrenched understanding across the political spectrum that reverting reforms (e.g. rehiring excess public workers or raising pensions unsustainably) would risk fiscal ruin. This marks a cultural shift in Greek governance and lends credibility to its policy trajectory in the eyes of investors and rating agencies.

### 2.f Budgetary Framework

Another less-heralded but crucial reform area was the strengthening of Greece's budget institutions. The crisis spurred the creation of the Hellenic Fiscal Council, an independent body that evaluates budget plans, and new budgeting laws that enforce transparency and multi-year planning. Greece adopted EU fiscal compact rules into national law, embedding commitments to balanced budgets over the cycle. It also overhauled public financial management – for instance, establishing a unified treasury account and modern cash monitoring, which helped eliminate arrears. These improvements mean Greece's public finances are managed with greater discipline and oversight than before, reducing the chance of a return to runaway deficits. Indeed, Greece's budgetary framework and public sector transparency were highlighted as areas of significant reform progress post-2010 (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis



<u>- past, present, future</u>). Consequently, markets have more trust in Greek fiscal data and projections now (unlike the disbelief after the 2009 statistical underreporting scandal). This institutional maturity supports the investment-grade narrative by showing Greece has the tools to avoid past mistakes.

In summary, Greece's structural reforms - though socially painful at times - have tackled many of the root causes of its crisis: lack of competitiveness, an oversized public sector, and weak institutions. The payoff has been a faster-growing, more export-driven economy and a state apparatus that is gradually regaining credibility. These factors improved investor confidence and were explicitly credited by rating upgrades (for example, DBRS in 2023 cited Greece's "overperformance in fiscal targets" and that "legacy risks in the banking system have receded" as reasons for raising its rating) (DBRS upgrades Greece on <u>debt reduction | Reuters</u>). The reforms have also enhanced Greece's resilience – the economy withstood the pandemic and energy price shock relatively well, bouncing back without derailing its fiscal course. However, some reforms (especially those boosting productivity and investment) will need to continue for Greece to converge with richer EU states. The government's ongoing commitment to privatizations, education improvements, and judicial reform will be important to sustain long-term growth and maintain its hard-won credit status.

## 3. Banking Sector and Financial Stability

At the height of Greece's crisis, its banking sector was in meltdown – burdened with massive non-performing loans (NPLs), reliant on central bank emergency liquidity, and effectively insolvent until repeated recapitalizations. The health of Greece's banks was a key constraint on its economy and a concern for rating agencies. Over the past five years, however, Greek banks have staged a remarkable recovery, becoming a pillar of financial stability rather than a risk. The turnaround was driven by aggressive NPL resolution (aided by the Hercules asset protection scheme), restructuring and recapitalization, and improved economic conditions. Moody's upgrade in 2025 cited Greece's *"greater resilience to potential future shocks"*, to which a sounder banking system has directly contributed (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability Reuters). Key aspects of the banking sector revival include:

### 3.a NPL Resolution and the 'Hercules' Scheme

Greek banks were once saddled with one of the highest bad-loan ratios in the world – NPLs comprised >45% of total loans in 2016-2017, a dire legacy of the recession (<u>Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek</u> <u>crisis - past, present, future</u>) (<u>Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the</u>



<u>Greek crisis - past, present, future</u>). This impaired banks' ability to lend and required large provisions that eroded profitability. Beginning around 2018, banks (under supervision of the Bank of Greece and ECB) embarked on ambitious NPL reduction plans. A crucial tool was the Hellenic Asset Protection Scheme, nicknamed "Hercules," launched by the Greek government in late 2019 (<u>Greek NPL Market: Five Years</u> <u>into the Hercules Asset Protection Scheme – CREDIT VILLAGE</u>). Modeled on Italy's GACS, Hercules allowed banks to bundle and securitize NPL portfolios, with the state providing a guarantee on the senior tranches of these securitizations to enhance investor confidence (<u>Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset Protection</u> <u>Scheme – CREDIT VILLAGE</u>). Essentially, Hercules facilitated the sale of bad loans to private investors by mitigating some risk, thus cleaning up bank balance sheets.

The results have been dramatic. Through Hercules I (2019-2021) and Hercules II (2021-2022, extended into 2023), Greek banks offloaded tens of billions in bad loans. Seventeen securitization transactions were executed under the scheme, involving all four systemic banks (Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset Protection <u>Scheme – CREDIT VILLAGE</u>). By leveraging about €24 billion in state guarantees over multiple phases, banks reduced their NPL stock at an unprecedented pace. The aggregate NPL ratio plunged from ~40% in 2019 to single digits by 2022 (Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset Protection Scheme - CREDIT VILLAGE). According to DBRS, NPL ratios fell to 9.7% by Q3 2022 and continued down to 7.5% by Q1 2024 - levels not seen in over a decade (Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset Protection Scheme - CREDIT VILLAGE) (Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset Protection Scheme - CREDIT VILLAGE). In fact, the largest Greek banks now report NPL ratios around or below 5%, comparable to EU averages (Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset Protection Scheme - CREDIT VILLAGE). This deleveraging success is one of the most significant improvements in Greece's financial landscape. It relieved banks of burdensome legacy assets and freed up capital for new lending. The European Commission noted in 2023 that NPLs had "recorded a sharp fall...building on large reductions in earlier years," although it cautioned they *"remain high"* relative to EU peers (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>). By 2025, however, with NPL ratios in low single-digits, Greek banks have largely put the bad loan crisis behind them - an achievement reflected in upgrades of their own credit ratings and a key reason agencies see Greece as more shock-proof now (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction Reuters).

It should be noted that Hercules, while successful, shifts the bad loans to special servicers (credit management firms) that now work



them out over time (Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules <u>Asset Protection Scheme - CREDIT VILLAGE</u>). As of Q1 2024, about €70 billion of former bank loans are managed by such servicers (down from €88 billion in 2022), meaning the cleanup is ongoing but progressing (Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset Protection Scheme - CREDIT VILLAGE). Crucially. though. the risk is largely off bank balance sheets, and provisions have been taken. The state's guarantees under Hercules have so far not resulted in material payouts because the senior tranches are largely performing. The EU authorized and monitored Hercules to ensure it was market-conform state aid (market conform asset protection scheme for banks in Greece), and its continuation (Hercules III) through end-2024 is further bolstering banks' asset quality. In sum, tackling the NPL mountain has been fundamental to restoring trust in Greek banks and enabling them to function normally - a precondition for an investment-grade sovereign, since weak banks are often a contingent liability for the government.

#### 3.b Bank Recapitalization and Return to Profitability

Greek banks underwent three rounds of recapitalization (2013, 2015, 2015-16) during the crisis, with significant capital injected by both the Greek state (via the Hellenic Financial Stability Fund, HFSF) and private investors. These recapitalizations, while diluting old shareholders, shored up banks' capital adequacy. By the late 2010s, capital ratios were at acceptable levels, but profitability was still hampered by NPLs and low credit growth. As NPLs got resolved, banks dramatically reduced their loan-loss provisions. Coupled with cost-cutting (branch and staff reductions) and a recovering economy, this has led to a return to profitability. In the last couple of years, all major Greek banks have reported positive earnings. For example, in 2022 and 2023, banks benefited from rising interest rates (widening loan margins) and lower impairment charges.

According to Reuters, Greek banks are now "steadying and returning to profit", having addressed the vulnerabilities that once required repeated capital injections (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters). In a milestone development, banks received approval from the ECB in 2024 to resume dividend payments for the first time in 16 years (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | Reuters). This decision was based on their strengthened balance sheets – "after they cut bad loan ratios, eliminated state ownership, and returned to profit," noted Reuters (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | Reuters). Indeed, the Greek state (HFSF) has been gradually selling down its equity stakes in the banks. By 2023, several banks had no government ownership left, fully returning to private hands (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction |



<u>Reuters</u>). This signals a normalization of the sector. For instance, Piraeus Bank and Alpha Bank saw HFSF significantly reduce its holdings, and National Bank of Greece (NBG) and Eurobank were already largely private earlier. The exit of the state as a shareholder removes a layer of political influence and is viewed positively by investors assessing bank governance.

All these developments – fewer NPLs, stronger capital, and independent management – have led rating agencies to upgrade Greek banks' ratings, which in turn feeds into the sovereign outlook. In early 2025, Moody's and other agencies raised the ratings of major Greek banks' long-term deposits into investment-grade territory, reflecting their muchreduced risk profile (Fitch Ratings Maintains Greece's at BBB-; Retains Stable Outlook) (Fitch Ratings Upgrades Greece to Investment Grade - Greek Reporter). Greek banks are now able to access market funding on better terms and are less reliant on costly emergency liquidity. Their credit recovery has thus been both a result and a facilitator of Greece's sovereign upgrade.

### 3.c Restoring Credit Flow and Financial Stability

A healthy banking system has allowed credit to flow again to the economy, supporting growth. After years of credit contraction (bank lending shrank annually from 2011 through 2019), Greece is now seeing positive credit growth, especially to businesses (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). Bank liquidity has improved deposits that fled during the crisis have returned, and capital controls (imposed in 2015) were fully lifted by 2019. This restoration of confidence means businesses and households can borrow again for productive activity, a key to sustaining the recovery. The European Investment Bank (EIB) and European Investment Fund (EIF) have partnered with Greek banks to further boost lending. For instance, in April 2024 the EIF signed guarantee agreements with Greece's top four banks to unlock up to €4.5 billion in new SME loans, using funds from the EU's Recovery and Resilience Facility as backing (EIF provides credit guarantees to leading Greek banks to unlock up to €4.5 billion of SME lending) (EIF provides credit guarantees to leading Greek banks to unlock up to €4.5 billion of SME lending). These EU-supported guarantee schemes allow banks to lend to more small firms and innovative projects at favorable terms, improving credit access for the private sector. Similarly, the EIB has provided credit lines for green investments and infrastructure via Greek banks (Greece: EIB reaches €1 billion milestone in green financing for ...) (Greece: EIB Group to support businesses and startups in life ...). Such initiatives, supported by Greece's improved sovereign rating, create a virtuous circle of investment and growth.



Financial stability indicators have also normalized. Deposits are growing, interbank funding is open, and Greek government bonds (held by banks) have risen in value as yields fall. The banking system's reliance on ECB emergency funding is nil - Greek banks now fund themselves via deposits and normal ECB operations. The Bank of Greece oversees a much-strengthened supervisory framework, with annual stress tests ensuring banks can withstand shocks. As a result, "banks' capital adequacy ratios stand at satisfactory levels, and loan-loss provisions are sufficient to address potential risks," as the Bank of Greece noted (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future ). While the stock of NPLs that remains is still sizeable in absolute terms, banks have a variety of tools (loan restructurings, sales, and write-offs) to keep addressing them (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future ). Importantly, the NPL clean-up has improved banks' lending capacity and profitability, which in turn feeds a healthier economy and reduces the chance that new NPLs accumulate rapidly in the future (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece).

All these improvements in the banking sector mean that a key source of sovereign risk has been mitigated. During the crisis, the Greek government had to borrow to recapitalize banks and guarantee deposits, linking bank distress to public debt. Now, banks are a much lower contingent liability for the state. In fact, with the government selling bank shares and expecting dividends, the sector could become net positive for the budget. Rating agencies have taken note: DBRS's March 2025 upgrade of Greece cited the "healthier banking sector" as a core reason for lifting the rating to BBB (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | Reuters) (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | <u>Reuters</u>). Moody's similarly acknowledged that banks' recovery and reduced legacy risks enhance Greece's resilience to shocks (e.g., they can better support the economy in a downturn rather than require government aid) (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong <u>fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters</u>). In sum, the banking sector's stabilization has been both a barometer and booster of Greece's return to financial normalcy, and thus a critical driver in regaining investment-grade status.

### 4. Market and Investment Implications

Greece's upgrade to investment grade is not just a symbolic victory; it carries tangible market and investment benefits for the country. The anticipation and realization of restored credit quality have already affected Greek bond yields, investor behavior, and capital inflows. This section examines how the market has responded – in terms



of sovereign bond spreads, borrowing costs, foreign direct investment, corporate financing, and asset prices – and what the investment-grade milestone means for Greece's economic trajectory within the EU.

### 4.a Lower Bond Yields and Narrower Spreads

One immediate implication of achieving investment grade is lower borrowing costs for the sovereign. Even before Moody's March 2025 move, markets had "priced in" Greece's improving credit. Greek government bond (GGB) yields have fallen dramatically from crisis highs. During the worst of the euro crisis, 10-year Greek bonds yielded over 35% (thousands of basis points above Germany) as default fears loomed (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews). In stark contrast, by late 2024 Greek 10year yields had dropped below 3%, effectively aligning with French 10year yields (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews) (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews). This meant investors were demanding roughly the same interest to lend to Greece as to France - a remarkable turnaround for a former "junk"-rated issuer. In fact, Greece reached a *"historic milestone"* in November 2024 when the yield spread between Greek and French bonds was essentially zero (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France Euronews). Such convergence reflects strong market confidence in Greece's fiscal health and reform story, even relative to higher-rated peers.

The spread between Greek and German 10-year bonds - a closely watched risk gauge - has tightened to multidecade lows. As of early 2025, the Greece-Germany 10-year spread hovers around 70-100 basis points (0.7-1.0 percentage point) (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews) (Greece-Germany 10 Year Bond Spread (I:GG10YBS) - YCharts), down from over 400 bps in 2017 and 1,000+ bps at the height of the crisis (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: <u>Spread erased against France | Euronews</u>). Reuters reported in mid-2023 that Greek 10-year yields were about 50 bps lower than Italy's (despite Italy being investment grade for years), the largest discount in favor of Greece since at least 1999 (Investors bet Greek bonds have <u>shed 'junk' credit rating | Reuters</u>). This inversion - Greece yielding less than Italy - stunned many and signaled that markets viewed Greece as having shed much of its "junk" risk profile (<u>Investors bet Greek</u> bonds have shed 'junk' credit rating | Reuters) (Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' credit rating | Reuters). By the time of the actual upgrades from agencies, Greek bonds were already trading like investment-grade paper (Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' <u>credit rating | Reuters</u>). Analysts noted that the upgrade was *"in the* 



price" and any further spread tightening might be modest (Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' credit rating | Reuters). Still, gaining the official IG stamp has important long-term effects: it widens the investor base eligible to buy Greek bonds, including conservative institutional funds that require at least BBB- ratings. It also makes Greek bonds eligible for certain global bond indices followed by investors (Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' credit rating | Reuters). This inclusion can generate automatic demand from passive funds, exerting downward pressure on yields. Indeed, Greece's return to IG is expected to attract a "much bigger pool" of global investors and more "steady demand," according to Reuters (Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' credit rating | Reuters) (Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' credit rating | Reuters). In practical terms, Greece should enjoy easier access to financing and lower interest expenses on new debt, saving public resources.

### 4.b Sovereign Issuance and Borrowing Costs

With improving ratings, Greece's sovereign borrowing costs have fallen to manageable levels. In 2021–2023, even as it remained sub-investment grade, Greece issued 5- and 10-year bonds at historically low yields (sometimes below 1.5-2%). The ECB's pandemic support and Greece's credible reform trajectory allowed it to borrow on terms unthinkable during the crisis. As of March 2025, the 10-year GGB yield is around 3.7% (Greece 10-Year Government Bond Yield - Quote - Trading Economics), and the 5-year yield around 2.8%, still lower than some peers with similar ratings (Greek bonds are already on A rating for markets - eKathimerini.com). These rates are only slightly above German yields (the Bund is ~2.8% for 10-year, implying ~90 bps spread) (Greece 10 Years vs Germany 10 Years Bond Spread). Such low yields dramatically cut Greece's debt servicing costs: interest payments were ~1.8% of GDP in 2022 and trending down as expensive old debt is refinanced. The spread compression also reflects reduced perceived sovereign risk - Greece's credit default swap (CDS) spreads have similarly fallen, indicating less demand for insurance against default.

Achieving investment grade from all agencies will likely lock in permanently lower funding costs for Greece. It signals to lenders that Greek bonds are no longer speculative but rather a normal part of the European investment universe. This should help Greece issue longer maturities at reasonable rates, extend its yield curve and perhaps even issue in foreign currencies if desired. For example, being IG could allow Greece to issue 30-year bonds more regularly or consider innovative instruments, knowing there's solid investor appetite. Already, in 2023 Greece issued a 10-year bond at 4.3% and a 5-year at



3.5% amid market volatility – terms that should improve post-upgrade as more IG-only investors participate. The Public Debt Management Agency (PDMA) plans to take advantage of the rating upgrade by diversifying its investor base – we may see Asian and Middle Eastern institutional investors (typically restricted to IG assets) increasing holdings of Greek debt. Lower yields not only ease the budget (through lower interest outlays) but also trickle down to the real economy by setting a benchmark for loan rates.

### 4.c Foreign Direct Investment Inflows

Another positive effect of Greece's rehabilitation is a surge in foreign direct investment (FDI). Investor confidence in the Greek economy has grown steadily in recent years, thanks to political stability and reforms improving the business environment. According to UNCTAD, FDI inflows into Greece reached \$7.6 billion in 2022, one of the highest levels in decades and a strong increase from the ~\$5 billion pre-pandemic level (2024 Investment Climate Statements: Greece - State Department) (Foreign direct investment (FDI) in Greece -Standard Bank TradeClub). In fact, 2022 saw "one of the highest growth rates recorded in Europe" for FDI into Greece (2024 Investment Climate Statements: Greece - State Department). Sectors attracting investment include tourism and hospitality (e.g. new hotels, resorts), logistics and infrastructure (the port of Piraeus by China's COSCO, regional airports by Germany's Fraport), energy (renewable projects by European utilities), and technology (Microsoft, Amazon Web Services, and Google have all announced cloud or data center investments in Greece).

The restoration of an investment-grade sovereign rating serves as a green light for many long-term investors considering Greece. It reduces perceived country risk, which can boost FDI further by lowering the hurdle rate for investment. For instance, real estate investment by foreigners has boomed, with Greece's Golden Visa program (granting residency for property purchases) and generally rising property values in Athens and islands drawing funds from China, Europe, and the Middle East. Large development projects - such as the €8 billion Hellinikon urban redevelopment in Athens – have progressed with the backing of foreign capital, reflecting trust in Greece's prospects. As Moody's upgrade made headlines, government officials touted it as validation that "Greece is now a safe investment destination". Indeed, Greece's center-right government explicitly linked the Moody's Baa3 rating to expectations of higher foreign investment (Latest News from Greece Today | AP News) (Associated Press News: Breaking News, Latest Headlines and ...). Empirically, higherrated sovereigns tend to attract more stable and diversified FDI.



It's also worth noting that portfolio investment has flowed strongly into Greek assets. The Athens Stock Exchange saw significant foreign inflows in 2023, and foreign investors reportedly own the majority of the free float of Greek equities (Inflow of some €9 billion into the <u>Greek bourse in 2023-2024</u>). As confidence grew, more international funds increased their Greek equity exposure, helping drive the Athens stock index up. Greece's improved standing and inclusion in bond indices could similarly increase foreign portfolio inflows into bonds. This overall financial inflow helps strengthen Greece's external accounts, offsetting its still-negative international investment position and current account deficit (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece) (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>). In the long run, sustaining investment (both FDI and portfolio) is key to raising Greece's growth potential and ensuring the upgrade is followed by real economic convergence with the EU core.

### 4.d Corporate and Banking Sector Benefits

The sovereign's upgrade has positive knock-on effects for Greek corporates and banks seeking financing. Many large Greek companies and banks tap international markets for funding, and their credit ratings are often constrained by the sovereign rating (the so-called sovereign ceiling). As Greece regains IG, Greek corporate issuers can also obtain better credit ratings and terms. For example, utilities like Public Power Corporation (PPC) and Hellenic Petroleum, or telecom operators like OTE, may see rating upgrades and tighter spreads on their bonds, reflecting reduced country risk. Lower yields on government debt also generally translate to lower loan and bond yields for companies, as the risk-free component in domestic interest rates falls.

Greek banks, as discussed, have already seen upgrades and the ability to pay dividends again (<u>DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction</u> | <u>Reuters</u>). With the sovereign now IG, Greek banks' bonds (senior and Tier 2 debt) become eligible for purchase by a wider set of investors and for use as collateral with central banks without special waivers. This reduces funding costs for banks, enabling them to offer more competitive loan rates to businesses and households. Indeed, as banks regain full market access, competition in lending could intensify, benefitting borrowers. Additionally, banks can better support Greek firms in raising capital abroad or through project finance, knowing the country risk premium is lower.

On the equity side, Greece's stock market has been a star performer recently. In 2023, the Athens General Composite Index surged by nearly 39% (in EUR), making it the top-performing stock market in the world in USD terms that year (<u>Deutsche Bank: Greek Stock Market Top in World</u>



in 2023 - tovima.com) (Deutsche Bank: Greek Stock Market Top in World in 2023 - tovima.com). This rally was fueled by both domestic recovery and foreign buying as investors "priced in" Greece's improving fundamentals and imminent ratings boost. According to Deutsche Bank, the Greek market's 2023 gains marked it as *"a mega-catalyst eagerly* anticipated by foreign investors" looking into 2024 (Deutsche Bank: <u>Greek Stock Market Top in World in 2023 - tovima.com</u>). Bank stocks led much of this rally (as NPLs dropped and profitability returned), but many other sectors like construction, energy, and consumer goods also saw strong interest. The investment-grade upgrade further solidifies positive sentiment - equity investors typically view such upgrades as reducing downside risk. It's telling that Greece was no longer seen as the "problem child of Europe" but rather a turnaround story by 2023, according to financial analysts (as the country shakes off 'problem child of Europe' label | User). Sustained equity inflows also help Greek companies raise capital for expansion, creating a healthier corporate sector.

The real estate market has likewise benefitted from Greece's stability and low interest rates. Property prices in Athens and popular islands have rebounded strongly from post-crisis lows, rising in the high single digits annually in recent years. Foreign investors have been active in commercial real estate (offices, logistics centers) and residential buys for tourism (Airbnb rentals, second homes). An investment-grade Greece is likely to attract more institutional real estate investors (like global REITs or sovereign wealth funds) who require a certain sovereign rating for comfort. This could, for instance, aid plans to monetize state-owned real estate or develop new infrastructure via public-private partnerships, as investor pools for such projects grow.

#### 4.e Alignment with Broader EU Trends

Greece's economic trajectory in the mid-2020s has come into closer alignment with broader EU trends, rather than being an outlier. While during 2010-2015 Greece suffered a unique depression, it is now growing faster than much of Europe (thanks partly to post-crisis rebound). Its fiscal metrics, aside from debt level, are improving in line with EU norms – for example, its 2024 overall budget deficit (~0.6% of GDP) is actually smaller than those of many EU countries (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission) (Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission). Greece's inflation spiked along with global trends in 2022 but is receding, projected at 2–3% in 2024-25, near the euro-area average (Economic forecast for Greece -European Commission). This convergence in economic indicators means Greece is



no longer seen as an outlier requiring special treatment (it exited the EU's "enhanced surveillance" framework in 2022). For investors, Greece now fits into the "southern European" cohort of sovereign credits, comparable to countries like Portugal or Italy (which also have high debt but moderate deficits and ECB support). Notably, Greece's bond yields in 2024 traded very close to Spain's and Portugal's – at one point, Greek 5-year yields were even slightly below Spain's (Greek bonds are already on A rating for markets – <u>eKathimerini.com</u>). This signals that markets view Greece's risk on par with (or even slightly better than) some Southern European investmentgrade peers.

The upgrade also has implications within the EU policy context. Greece can now fully participate in ECB asset purchase programs if reactivated, without need for waivers. It can also better advocate within the EU for initiatives now that it's a success story rather than a cautionary tale. As the EU debates new fiscal rules (post-Stability Pact reform) and potentially more integration (like a eurozone budget or debt mutualization), Greece approaches these discussions from a position of recovered credibility. Its experience reducing debt by growing out of a crisis - might align with arguments for allowing growth-friendly fiscal flexibility under EU rules. At the same time. Greece's return to normalcy means it will be expected to adhere to whatever fiscal constraints apply to other members (with less leniency than it got during post-program surveillance). Overall, being investment grade puts Greece on a more equal footing in the European financial landscape. The risk premium for Southern Europe remains a concern for rating agencies, but Greece's efforts have led them to substantially cut the extra yield demanded for its bonds (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews). As long as Greece's metrics continue to converge with EU averages (unemployment falling, current account improving, etc.), it will be increasingly viewed by investors as a regular euro-area credit rather than a special case.

## 5. Geopolitical and External Context

While domestic factors largely drove Greece's upgrade, the geopolitical and external economic context also plays a role in its credit outlook. Greece's location and alliances, as well as broader EU developments, influence investor perceptions of sovereign risk. Postupgrade, Greece stands as a rehabilitated economy in Southeastern Europe, but one not without external vulnerabilities. Here we consider Greece's position in the EU economy, regional geopolitical risks, and how rating agencies weigh Southern European sovereign risks, including Greece's.



#### 5.a Greece in the Post-Upgrade EU Landscape

With its return to investment grade, Greece has, in a sense, "closed the door on a painful era," as one news headline put it (<u>Greek</u> <u>Government Debt Raised to Investment Grade by Moody's ...</u>). It is now rebuilding its reputation within the EU as a country that implemented tough reforms and emerged stronger. This positions Greece to potentially attract a greater share of European investments and initiatives. For example, Greece is a major beneficiary of the EU's Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF) – it has an allocation of €30.5 billion in grants and loans to deploy on projects through 2026. Effective use of these funds (in areas like green energy, digitalization, and infrastructure) can further integrate Greece's economy with the rest of the EU and raise its productivity. A credible investment-grade status helps ensure these projects face no financing hiccups and encourages private co-investment alongside EU funds.

Geopolitically, Greece is a member of NATO and the EU at a crossroads of Europe, Asia, and Africa. It has leveraged this position to become an energy and logistics hub - for instance, developing LNG terminals and power interconnectors that reduce not only its own but also Europe's dependence on Russian gas. Greece's port of Piraeus is now one of the largest in the Mediterranean (with Chinese investment), serving as a gateway for EU-Asia trade. Stability in Greece contributes to stability in the Balkans and East Med region. Conversely, regional instability could affect Greece: tensions with neighboring Turkey have flared on and off (over maritime boundaries, Cyprus, migration), and while diplomacy has improved lately, any severe escalation could worry investors (due to potential military expenses or disruption of trade/tourism). So far, Greece has managed such tensions without economic fallout, and both countries being in NATO provides a framework to de-escalate. Rating agencies likely monitor these geopolitical risk factors, but as of now they appear contained and not immediate threats to Greece's credit - especially as Greece maintains good relations with EU partners and participates in EU foreign policy coherence.

Another external risk is global economic shifts. Greece is quite exposed to the global economy through tourism (which accounts for ~20% of GDP including indirect effects) and shipping (the Greek-owned merchant fleet is the largest globally). A slowdown in major source markets or global trade can affect these sectors. For instance, a eurozone recession could dent tourist arrivals from Germany or the UK, hitting Greek growth and fiscal revenues. Similarly, global supply chain issues or sanctions (as seen with the war in Ukraine) can impact shipping revenues. Greece's upgrade assumes a generally favorable

external environment - rating agencies did praise Greece's resilience to recent shocks like the pandemic and energy crisis (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability **Reuters**). Continued resilience will depend on diversifying the economy and building buffers (fiscal and external) against such shocks. Notably. Greece still runs a current account deficit (around 9.7% of GDP in 2022, though shrinking) (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>), meaning it relies on foreign capital inflows. Investment grade can help sustain those inflows, but a deteriorating external balance remains a vulnerability that could be exacerbated by global factors (e.g. higher oil prices widening the trade deficit). The European Commission flagged Greece's external position and high negative net international investment position (NIIP) (around -140% of GDP) as lingering concerns, even as other indicators improved (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece) (In-Depth Review 2023 Greece). Essentially, Greece still owes a lot to the rest of the world, and while it can roll over that debt more easily now, any drying up of external financing (due to global risk aversion or crises) could pressure its economy. That said, the RRF and EU's cohesion funds provide a counterbalance by bringing in external funding for good purposes (investment), improving the external accounts quality.

### 5.b Geopolitical Risks and Energy Security

Energy security has been a key external concern, especially after Russia's invasion of Ukraine in 2022. Greece, like other EU states, faced surging natural gas prices and had to find alternatives to Russian supplies (which previously made up ~40% of its gas). It managed this by increasing LNG imports (utilizing its Revithoussa LNG terminal) and pipeline gas from Azerbaijan, and accelerating renewables deployment. The government's support measures cushioned the domestic impact, and fortunately, gas prices fell in 2023. From a credit standpoint, Greece showed adaptability in the face of an external energy shock. Continued efforts to bolster energy independence (new interconnectors to Egypt/Israel for electricity, more renewable projects) will reduce its vulnerability to geopolitical energy turmoil. Additionally, Greece could potentially become an energy transit route (for East Med gas or green electricity to Europe), which would strengthen its strategic importance and economic stability.

Regional relations are another factor. Greece's improved ties and cooperation with neighbors (e.g. the 2018 Prespa Agreement resolved the long-standing name dispute with North Macedonia, enabling better economic links) contribute to a more stable environment for trade and investment in Southeast Europe. Conversely, any instability in



neighboring countries (like political crises in the Western Balkans) could have spillovers (migration surges, for example). Thus far, these have been manageable. The refugee/migrant influx via Turkey and the Aegean remains something Greece contends with, but the EU supports Greece on this front both financially and politically, which helps contain any fiscal or social strains that might arise.

From the perspective of rating agencies and investors comparing Southern European economies, Greece now presents a case of significant reform-driven improvement, whereas some others carry different concerns. For instance, Italy, while larger and richer, faces questions about growth and political cohesion that Greece has answered more convincingly of late (Italy's debt is ~145% of GDP with low growth, Greece's is higher but falling fast with decent growth). Spain and Portugal have lower debt ratios (~113% and ~115% of GDP respectively in 2024) but also lower primary surpluses. Rating agencies thus look at debt trajectories and political stability across these countries. Greece's trajectory - a rapid debt reduction from extremely high levels - is actually relatively favorable now (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters) (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | <u>Reuters</u>). But agencies will also weigh Greece's smaller economy size and historically weaker institutions against those peers. Currently, agencies rate Greece at the entry level of investment grade (Moody's Baa3 stable, S&P BBB- positive, Fitch BBB- stable, DBRS BBB stable), which is on par with or just below Italy (Moody's Baa3, S&P BBB, Fitch BBB) and below Spain/Portugal (A-/BBB+ range). They will be cautious in moving Greece further up until they see a sustained track record at IG and further risk reduction (like much lower debt or a higher NIIP).

Overall, geopolitics and external factors are something Greece cannot be complacent about. But its integration in European structures provides insulation. During the crisis, one risk was "Grexit" – an exit from the euro – which would have been geopolitically destabilizing. That risk has completely evaporated; Greece's euro membership is secure and supported by its public. If anything, Greece is now a stakeholder in Eurozone reforms and EU expansion (it supports Western Balkan EU accession, for example, which could open new markets). In summary, Greece's geopolitical context has improved, though risks like regional tensions or external shocks remain on the radar. Its rating upside in the future will partly depend on navigating these without backsliding, and ensuring that external weaknesses like the current account gap continue to shrink.



### 6. Downside Risks to Greece's Credit Standing

While Greece's return to investment grade is a major achievement, maintaining and further improving that standing will require careful management of downside risks. Several economic and policy factors could, if mishandled or if external conditions worsen, put pressure on Greece's credit profile again. This section assesses the main risks that could reverse the positive trend – ranging from domestic policy complacency to global shocks – and the mitigation strategies in place.

#### 6.a Domestic Policy Risks and Reform Reversals

A key risk is fiscal slippage or policy missteps that undermine the hard-won fiscal credibility. If future governments were to sharply increase spending or cut taxes imprudently, causing primary surpluses to vanish and debt to rise, rating agencies would quickly take note. For example, a reversion to budget deficits through populist measures (large public sector wage hikes, pension giveaways, or unjustified subsidies) could alarm investors. Greece's history underscores this risk – overspending in the 2000s set the stage for crisis. However, there are safeguards now: Greece is subject to EU fiscal oversight and has domestic fiscal rules, plus the current political consensus leans toward prudence. Still, complacency could creep in with the "good times" of investment grade.

Another domestic risk is stalling or reversing structural reforms. If reforms that enhanced competitiveness and investor trust were rolled back (for instance, if labor markets were re-regulated in a way that hurts job creation, or if privatizations were halted), it could erode confidence. A change in government to a less reform-oriented coalition could bring this risk. For instance, if in the future a government attempted to re-expand the public sector payroll or interfere with independent agencies like the tax authority or central bank, it would raise institutional concerns. Similarly, Greece's pension reforms vital for long-term fiscal health - face pressure from court cases and public opinion; any court-mandated restoration of pension cuts or other benefits could create fiscal holes. The Greek Council of State in the past has partially rolled back some pension cuts, though impact was managed. This remains a legal risk that could increase spending by billions if not navigated carefully (Economic forecast for Greece -European Commission). To mitigate this, the government has set aside contingency funds and seeks to pre-empt adverse rulings with negotiated solutions for retirees.

Political risk is always present. While Greece currently enjoys stable governance, its proportional representation electoral system (after 2023) could produce fragmented parliaments in the future. A weak or



short-lived government might find it hard to continue reforms or might resort to patronage spending. The experience of the first half of 2015 (when an inexperienced government's clash with creditors led to capital controls and a return to recession) is a reminder of how quickly gains can be reversed if policy credibility is lost (<u>Yannis</u> <u>Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis - past, present, future</u>). However, that episode also served as a cautionary tale to Greek politicians and voters. Public opinion has largely shifted to favor stability and EU membership, reducing the likelihood of a radical shift. Moreover, Greece now has the safety net of ECB's OMT (Outright Monetary Transactions) – if market yields spiked due to unwarranted political turmoil, the ECB could intervene, provided Greece stays within agreed fiscal parameters.

### 6.b Economic and External Shock Risks

Greece's economy, while stronger, is still subject to external shocks that could stress its finances. A global recession or sharp slowdown in Europe would hit Greek exports and tourism, potentially shrinking GDP and tax revenue. This could make it harder to achieve primary surplus targets in the short run. A severe recession could also lead to some uptick in NPLs again, testing banks' asset quality. Rating agencies would closely watch how Greece manages a downturn: whether it maintains fiscal discipline or lets debt metrics slip. The Greek government has some buffers – a cash reserve buffer of roughly €30 billion (built from past unused bailout funds and market issuances) that can cover sovereign financing needs for at least 2 years if market access temporarily tightens. This cash buffer is a form of self-insurance that Greece did not have prior to 2018. Using it judiciously in a pinch (as done during the 2020 pandemic shock) can avoid excessive new borrowing and calm markets.

Inflation and interest rate risks are another concern. While Greece's debt servicing is currently manageable, persistently higher inflation and rates globally could raise the cost of new borrowing. If inflation were to surge unexpectedly (due to an oil shock or wage-price spiral), the ECB might tighten policy further, increasing yields. For Greece, the majority of debt is fixed-rate official debt, so near-term impact is limited (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>). However, over time, as market debt grows as a share, rising rates could push interest costs up. The Commission warns that in the long run as Greece relies more on market funding, interest expenditure will rise – but under its baseline scenario, debt still stays on a downward path (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>). Nonetheless, a risk scenario of prolonged high global rates could slow or halt debt ratio declines, which might concern rating agencies. Greece can mitigate this by locking in as



much long-term financing now at relatively low rates (which it has been doing by issuing long bonds) and by continuing to outgrow its interest rate (i.e. keep nominal GDP growth above average interest rate – something it has managed recently thanks to growth and moderate inflation).

A related risk is external balance deterioration. Greece runs a current account deficit, as noted, which means it needs capital inflows. If those inflows (tourism receipts, FDI, EU funds) were to falter - say due to a pandemic-like event or geopolitical crisis -Greece's external position could become a source of stress, potentially weakening the currency if it weren't in the euro. Within the euro, the main impact would be on growth and possibly on the willingness of investors to fund the deficit. So far, ample EU funding and private inflows have comfortably covered Greece's needs, and foreign exchange risk is eliminated by euro membership. Still, the large negative NIIP (-140% of GDP) implies Greece owes a lot externally, and any sudden stop in financing (unlikely in current conditions) could constrain economic activity. The path to mitigate this is continuing to boost exports (goods, services like tourism, shipping, and new sectors) so that the current account moves toward balance, reducing reliance on debt-creating inflows.

Natural disasters and climate-related risks also deserve mention as downside risks. In 2023, Greece experienced catastrophic wildfires and floods (e.g., the Mediterranean cyclone "Daniel" causing heavy damage in Thessaly). These disasters have fiscal costs (emergency aid, reconstruction) and can hurt economic sectors like agriculture and tourism. With climate change, such events could become more frequent, posing a non-trivial risk to Greece's economy and budget. The government has had to allocate unexpected funds for disaster relief (partly offset by EU Solidarity Fund aid). While one-off events typically don't affect ratings, a pattern of large climate shocks could strain Greece's resources or require increased infrastructure investment for resilience. Greece has started integrating climate risk into its planning and is using RRF monies to bolster defenses. This is an evolving risk factor to watch.

### 6.c Risk Mitigation and Contingency Plans

The Greek government and its European partners have put in place several mitigation strategies to address the above risks:

• **Cash Buffers:** As noted, Greece maintains a sizeable cash buffer. This not only reduces refinancing risk but also provides liquidity to respond to shocks without derailing fiscal targets. It's a lesson learned from the crisis – always have a cushion.



The debt agency aims to keep a cash reserve covering 18-24 months of financing needs (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>). This gives Greece breathing room in any future market volatility and reassures creditors of short-term solvency.

- **EU Support Mechanisms:** Although Greece is no longer under a program, the eurozone has tools like the ESM's precautionary credit lines or the ECB's OMT that could be activated if Greece faces market stress beyond its control. Knowing that such backstops exist (conditional on sound policies) deters speculative attacks. Also, the EU's new common funds (like the RRF) act as a stabilizer, as investment spending in Greece is funded by EU grants/loans that continue even in downturns, providing an automatic counter-cyclical boost.
- **Fiscal Frameworks:** Greece's adoption of stricter fiscal rules domestically, and the oversight of the European Semester, serve to lock in responsible budgeting. Multi-year budget plans and spending ceilings can help resist election-cycle spending sprees. The presence of the independent fiscal council and transparency requirements makes it harder for governments to hide deficits as happened pre-2010. If a government did start deviating, the market reaction (higher yields) would likely be swift, serving as an immediate signal to correct course – a dynamic well understood now.
- **Continuous Reform Agenda:** The government has articulated a forward-looking reform agenda tied to EU funds (e.g., judicial reform for faster court resolution, further digitization, education and training programs to boost labor force skills). As long as Greece keeps up reform momentum, it not only improves economic resilience but also maintains goodwill with investors and institutions. For instance, ongoing judicial reforms to speed up contract enforcement and NPL recovery will further improve the investment climate and prevent re-accumulation of bad debts, addressing a risk flagged by the EU (<u>In-Depth Review 2023</u> <u>Greece</u>).
- Monitoring and Early Warning: Both the Bank of Greece and the HFSF monitor banks closely for any signs of stress (like upticks in NPL formation or liquidity issues), allowing early intervention. Similarly, the government monitors execution of the budget monthly; Greece has often taken corrective fiscal measures mid-year if targets seem at risk (as seen in the past with contingency cuts). This agility helps avoid surprises at yearend. The credibility of data (via ELSTAT, the statistics



authority) also ensures problems can't fester unnoticed as they did pre-crisis.

In conclusion, Greece's outlook is now favorable, but prudent policy is needed to guard against risks. Rating agencies have Greece on stable or positive outlooks, implying they see risk as balanced or tilted to further improvement so long as current policies continue (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters). Moody's in March 2025 assigned a stable outlook, balancing "persistent credit challenges that are slow to *improve"* – like high debt and external vulnerabilities – against "institutional stability" and positive trends (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | <u>Reuters</u>). Those challenges (debt, external deficits) will take years to fully resolve, and slippage there is the main risk to the rating. However, the Greek government's commitment to "continue on the path of reforms, fiscal responsibility and sustainable growth" (as the Finance Minister stated after the upgrade) suggests awareness of these risks and intent to manage them. If Greece navigates the next few years without upsets - continuing to reduce debt, implementing its RRF projects, and insulating itself from external shocks - it could even see further upgrades into the middle tiers of investment grade. Conversely, any significant backtrack could jeopardize the newly regained status. The balance of evidence post-2010, however, leans toward Greece having learned and internalized the lessons necessary to remain a credible, investment-grade sovereign going forward.

### 7. Conclusion:

Greece's return to investment grade by Moody's in March 2025 is a landmark in its post-2010 economic rebirth. The upgrade was underpinned by *sustained macro-fiscal improvements – from hefty* primary surpluses to a plunging debt ratio - and by the government's unwavering commitment to reform and stability (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters) (DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction | Reuters). Greece transformed itself through painful adjustments: consolidating its budget, overhauling pensions and labor markets, modernizing institutions, and restoring bank health. These efforts have paid off with renewed market trust: Greek bond yields have sunk to record lows relative to benchmarks, and foreign investment is flowing in (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews) (2024 <u>Investment Climate Statements: Greece - State Department</u>). The support of European partners, through financing and policy guidance, was instrumental in Greece's journey out of crisis, demonstrating the value of European solidarity (Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the



#### <u>Greek crisis - past, present, future</u>) (<u>Yannis Stournaras: Lessons</u> <u>from the Greek crisis - past, present, future</u>).

Yet, as Greece celebrates closing the chapter on its "junk" status, it faces the task of safeguarding and building on this achievement. The road ahead requires maintaining fiscal discipline (especially as memories of crisis fade), pushing ahead with the next generation of reforms (to boost productivity and inclusiveness), and addressing remaining challenges like high public debt and external imbalances (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>). Greece must also remain vigilant against external risks – from geopolitical tensions to global market swings – to avoid slipping off its hard-won footing. The government's prudent management, sizable cash reserves, and alignment with EU policies provide confidence that Greece can weather future storms (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>) (<u>Economic forecast for Greece - European</u> <u>Commission</u>). If it does, Greece's 2025 investment-grade status will be seen not as a capstone, but as a foundation for further economic progress and credit upgrades in the years to come.

In sum, Greece's post-2010 odyssey from the brink of default back to investment grade stands as a remarkable case of economic recovery. It was driven by sound policies, structural change, and the restoration of trust – in the government's books, in banks' balance sheets, and in Greece's role as a stable member of the European Union. The lessons from this journey – about the importance of credible reforms and international cooperation – will continue to guide Greece as it endeavors to strengthen its credit standing and prosperity even further, firmly putting the crisis era in the rearview mirror.

Sources:

- Reuters Moody's upgrade and rationale (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters) (Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters)
- Reuters DBRS upgrade on debt reduction and banking health (<u>DBRS</u> upgrades Greece on debt reduction | <u>Reuters</u>) (<u>DBRS</u> upgrades Greece on debt reduction | <u>Reuters</u>)
- Reuters Greece's 2024 primary surplus above target (fiscal over-performance) (<u>Greece's 2024 central government surplus</u> <u>exceeds target, says minister | Reuters</u>)
- European Commission Autumn 2024 forecast (debt projections, fiscal outlook) (<u>Economic forecast for Greece - European</u> <u>Commission</u>) (<u>Economic forecast for Greece - European Commission</u>)



- Bank of Greece Governor's speech on crisis lessons (reforms implemented) (<u>Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis past, present, future</u>) (<u>Yannis Stournaras: Lessons from the Greek crisis past, present, future</u>)
- CreditVillage/DBRS Hercules scheme impact on NPL reduction (49% to 7.5%) (<u>Greek NPL Market: Five Years into the Hercules Asset</u> <u>Protection Scheme – CREDIT VILLAGE</u>) (<u>Greek NPL Market: Five Years</u> <u>into the Hercules Asset Protection Scheme – CREDIT VILLAGE</u>)
- Euronews Greek bond spreads vs France/Germany at record lows (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews) (Greek bonds mark historical milestone: Spread erased against France | Euronews)
- Reuters Investors pricing Greek bonds as IG, yields below Italy's (<u>Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' credit rating</u> <u>| Reuters</u>) (<u>Investors bet Greek bonds have shed 'junk' credit</u> <u>rating | Reuters</u>)
- Deutsche Bank via To Vima Athens stock market +39% in 2023, top global performer (<u>Deutsche Bank: Greek Stock Market Top in World</u> <u>in 2023 - tovima.com</u>) (<u>Deutsche Bank: Greek Stock Market Top in</u> <u>World in 2023 - tovima.com</u>)
- AP/US News Greek officials on final step of restoring investment grade (<u>Greek Government Debt Raised to Investment</u> <u>Grade by Moody's ...</u>) (context)
- European Commission In-Depth Review 2023 (debt peak 206% in 2020, current account, NIIP) (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>) (<u>In-Depth Review 2023 Greece</u>)
- European Investment Fund €4.5B guarantees for Greek SME loans (EU-backed credit) (EIF provides credit guarantees to leading Greek banks to unlock up to €4.5 billion of SME lending) (EIF provides credit guarantees to leading Greek banks to unlock up to €4.5 billion of SME lending)
- Reuters Moody's outlook stable (persistent challenges vs. stability) (<u>Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on strong</u> <u>fiscal recovery and stability | Reuters</u>)
- Reuters Greek banks allowed dividends after 16 years (bad loan cleanup, state exit) (<u>DBRS upgrades Greece on debt reduction |</u> <u>Reuters</u>)



 Transparency International/AEAD – Greece corruption index best in 10 years by 2021 ([PDF] 2021 Corruption Perceptions Index (CPI): Greece improves position)

# B. Are Greeks Truly Better-Off?

### 1. Macroeconomic Recovery vs. Real Incomes

Greece's macroeconomy has rebounded since the depths of the 2010–2015 crisis, but real incomes for citizens remain well below pre-crisis levels. After the debt crisis struck in 2010, Greek GDP per capita plunged by roughly 26% in five years (from €22,370 in 2008 to €16,630 in 2013, in 2010 prices) (Equally poorer: inequality and the Greek debt crisis). Although growth returned after 2016, the economy has not fully regained its pre-crisis size. By 2023, Greece's GDP per capita stood at only 67% of the EU average, down from 95% in 2005 (National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained). This marks the steepest divergence in living standards seen in the EU over that period (National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained). Household consumption data underscore this lag - Greek households in 2023 spent 20.5% less (in real terms) than in 2008 (), indicating that average Greeks still consume significantly less than before the crisis.

(<u>National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained</u>) Greece's GDP per capita (in purchasing power parity) fell from near parity with the EU average pre-crisis to barely two-thirds of the EU average by 2023 (<u>National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained</u>). This collapse reflects the severe income loss Greek citizens experienced during the debt crisis.

### 1.a Real incomes and wages have suffered a lost decade.

Even as headline GDP has rebounded, workers' earnings have not kept up with prices. In fact, average salaries in Greece **remain almost 30% lower in real purchasing power than before the crisis**. One analysis found that by 2022, Greek salaries were at just *71.3% of their 2009 level in inflation-adjusted terms* (Real wages lag those of 2009 by <u>some 30% - eKathimerini.com</u>). Wage cuts and freezes imposed during the bailout years, including a dramatic minimum wage reduction in 2012, dragged down pay. Only in recent years have nominal wages started rising again – but inflation has eroded much of these gains. For example, Greece's nominal compensation per employee rose ~5% in 2022, yet with inflation around 10%, real wages fell by 4.7% that year (). The minimum wage has been hiked in stages (from €650 in 2019 to €830 in 2023), but inflation "erased" about €100 of that increase, leaving



just a €34 gain in real terms over four years (<u>Inflation Drains</u> <u>Minimum Wage Gains in Greece</u>, <u>Prompting New Reform Plan - tovima.com</u>) (<u>Inflation Drains Minimum Wage Gains in Greece</u>, <u>Prompting New Reform</u> <u>Plan - tovima.com</u>). Median disposable incomes also remain depressed relative to pre-crisis benchmarks, reflecting a slow recovery for the middle class. In short, macroeconomic milestones like investment-grade status have not yet translated into a full restoration of Greeks' purchasing power – GDP growth has outpaced wage growth, so the share of national income going to households is still lower than it was pre-2010.

### 1.b GDP growth vs. household prosperity:

Greece's return to investment grade in 2023 was driven by improvements in fiscal stability and GDP metrics, not by a sudden surge in household incomes. While GDP per capita (in euros) rose from about €16,000 a decade ago to €19,888 in 2022 (Greece GDP per capita (EUR) -FocusEconomics), much of that increase was price inflation or reflects a smaller population (after emigration). In real terms, Greek GDP per capita growth averaged -0.7% per year from 2005 to 2023 (National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained) - effectively a *decline* over the long run. This lack of real income convergence means many Greeks have not felt the benefits of recovery in their wallets. As economist Danai Koltsida observes, the partial economic rebound "has not been enough to put the country back on a convergence track" with Europe, leaving Greece "far from fully recovering" from the austerity era (Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung). Today, Greece is one of the poorest EU countries by per capita income (on par with newer Eastern European members) (Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung), whereas before the crisis it was a mid-ranked high-income economy. In summary, key macro indicators have improved - Greece is now running growth and fiscal surpluses - but real household incomes and purchasing power remain strained, illustrating a disconnect between investment-grade macro success and the material well-being of average citizens.

# 2. Cost of Living, Inflation and Housing Affordability

Greek households have grappled with a rising **cost of living** that has blunted the impact of any income gains. After years of austerityinduced deflation in the mid-2010s, inflation returned – surging to about **9.3% in 2022 amid the post-pandemic energy crisis** (near the eurozone average) and remaining elevated in 2023. These price spikes have directly eaten into purchasing power. For instance, **consumer** 



prices jumped faster than wages, causing real earnings to drop in 2022
(). Even the recent minimum wage hikes barely kept pace; a 9.4%
minimum wage raise in 2023 delivered only a 5.3% real increase in
purchasing power once inflation was accounted for (Inflation Drains
Minimum Wage Gains in Greece, Prompting New Reform Plan - tovima.com).
Greek officials acknowledge that "rising prices effectively reduce the
purchasing power of any nominal wage growth" under the current formula
(Inflation Drains Minimum Wage Gains in Greece, Prompting New Reform
Plan - tovima.com) (Inflation Drains Minimum Wage Gains in Greece,
Prompting New Reform Plan - tovima.com). In 2023-24, inflation
moderated to ~3-4%, but remains high relative to wage growth, meaning
many Greeks feel like they are running in place or falling behind
financially.

**Essential expenses** have seen particularly sharp increases, squeezing disposable incomes. Food prices in Greece are among the highest in **Europe**, which hits lower-income households hardest. Indeed, Greece has the second-highest food price levels in the EU (Greece's Uncertain <u>Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung</u>), a striking fact given Greek wages rank near the bottom. Energy and fuel costs spiked in 2022; the government intervened with subsidies for electricity and heating, which cushioned the blow somewhat () (). Even so, Greeks have experienced big jumps in utility bills and petrol costs, eroding monthly budgets. Value-added tax (VAT) hikes during the bailout years also permanently raised the price of many goods (VAT on food is 13%, on most other products 24%). It is telling that in 2023, the poorest fifth of Greek households had to devote over 55% of their budget just to food and housing basics, compared to 25% for the richest fifth () - a sign that necessities now consume most of the income of vulnerable families.

Housing has become another flashpoint. During the crisis, Greek home values collapsed and construction halted; but in the recovery, **rents and property prices have rebounded faster than incomes**. Since Greece exited its bailout in 2018, **rents have climbed ~20% on average** (per Bank of Greece data) (Greece raises price of Golden Visa to ease housing crisis | Daily Sabah ), partly fueled by surging demand in Athens and other cities. Foreign real estate investment – via Greece's "Golden Visa" program and short-term rental (Airbnb) boom – has contributed to price pressures. Starting in 2014, the Golden Visa scheme attracted thousands of foreign buyers (notably from China) who purchased Greek properties (often in Athens) for at least €250,000 in exchange for residency (Greece raises price of Golden Visa to ease housing crisis | Daily Sabah). This influx helped revive the property market but also **pushed housing out of reach for many locals**, especially renters in popular areas. In response to a growing **housing**


affordability crisis, the government in 2023 raised the Golden Visa investment threshold to €500-800k in Athens and other high-demand regions (Greece raises price of Golden Visa to ease housing crisis | Daily Sabah ), aiming to cool investor-driven price gains and "ensure affordable housing for all citizens," according to Finance Minister Kostis Hatzidakis (Greece raises price of Golden Visa to ease housing crisis | Daily Sabah ). It remains to be seen if this will temper the market, as analysts warn the effect may be limited (Greece Lifts Golden Visa Threshold in Bid to Ease Housing Crisis). Meanwhile, young Greeks struggle to find affordable apartments, with reports of rents consuming over 40% of average young workers' income.

Mortgage and borrowing costs have been a double-edged sword. Greece's return to investment grade in 2023 theoretically lowers risk premiums, which *should* translate into lower interest rates for consumer loans and mortgages. However, the benefit has been muted by the broader rise in European interest rates. Greek banks' lending rates for households are still high (floating-rate mortgages have become more expensive due to ECB rate hikes). According to the European Stability Mechanism, the credit rating upgrade will, over time, allow banks to obtain cheaper funding and "translate for households to lower interest payments [and] more spending power" (Greece is investment grade again - why it <u>matters to keep it | European Stability Mechanism</u>). In practice, any such relief is gradual. For now, housing affordability remains difficult: property prices in urban centers have recovered to pre-2010 levels, but average household incomes have not. Home ownershiphistorically high in Greece-fell during the crisis as many lost homes or sold property to pay debts. Today, new households find it challenging to buy homes without family support. Property taxes, introduced during the crisis (ENFIA), add another burden, costing homeowners several hundred euros annually where such taxes were negligible pre-2010. On the rental side, Greece has little in the way of social housing, so low-income renters face the full force of market rents. All told, higher living costs (from groceries to gasoline to rent) have outstripped income gains for many Greeks, meaning the average citizen's purchasing power has barely improved despite Greece's improved credit rating. In fact, Greece's own statistical authority finds that half of households now have monthly outlays above €1,315 (), a heavy load given median monthly net income is around that level or lower.

Finally, **taxation and social contributions** implemented during the crisis have kept take-home pay constrained. To meet fiscal targets, Greece raised income and consumption taxes significantly after 2010. For example, **annual property tax revenues jumped from about €500 million in 2010 to €3.7 billion by 2017**, as new property levies were



introduced (Greece's Great Hemorrhaging - Revista de Prensa). Income tax thresholds were lowered, and pension contributions increased. These measures, while stabilizing public finances, reduced disposable income for the middle class. Some relief has come recently – the government abolished the "solidarity tax" surcharge in 2023 and slightly **lowered social security contribution rates**, aiming to boost net pay () (). Even so, Greece's overall tax-and-benefit system is less effective at alleviating inequality than the EU average (), and many Greeks feel they are taxed like a high-income country while earning like a lower-income one. The **cost of living** crunch – high prices, rising rents, and heavy taxes – means that, for a large share of Greek citizens, **economic stabilization hasn't yet translated into comfortable living standards**. Many households still budget cautiously each month, feeling only marginal improvement since the crisis years.

#### 3. Labor Market and Job Security

Greece's labor market has improved from the catastrophic unemployment of a decade ago, but it still exhibits high joblessness, low wages, and precarious employment for many. The **unemployment rate**, which exploded from under 8% in 2008 to around **28% in 2013** at the peak of the crisis (Equally poorer: inequality and the Greek debt crisis), has gradually receded to **about 10-12% in 2023**, the lowest in 12 years (). This is a notable recovery - hundreds of thousands of jobs have been regained since the economy bottomed out. However, Greece still has the second-highest unemployment in the EU (after Spain) (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour <u>Institute - The Future of Work</u>). Over one in ten Greeks in the labor force remains unemployed, a rate roughly double the eurozone average. Youth unemployment is even more alarming: nearly 25% of young Greeks (15-24) were unemployed at end-2022 (), the worst youth jobless rate in Europe. Even in 2023 with a strong tourism season boosting hiring, youth unemployment hovered around 20+%. This points to a serious longterm challenge: a generation found it hard to gain a foothold in the job market, prompting mass emigration of skilled youth during the 2010s. An estimated 400,000+ Greeks (many young professionals) left the country in the past decade seeking opportunities abroad, a "brain drain" that has shrunk the labor force but also deprived Greece of talent.

For those employed, **job security and quality** are ongoing concerns. The INE-GSEE (Labor Institute of the main Greek trade union) finds that **the quality of work in Greece is the lowest among EU-27 countries** (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work). Greek workers face issues like **very long working hours, poor work-life balance, and job instability** 



(2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work). A large share of new jobs are temporary, seasonal, or part-time roles (often in tourism, retail, or gig economy) rather than stable, full-year positions. While flexibility improved, it often came at the cost of security: employers shifted to short-term contracts and subcontracting during the crisis. Many young workers cycle through internships or 6-month stints, with few prospects for steady careers. Collective bargaining coverage dropped after labor market reforms, weakening workers' negotiating power. As a result, **income quality is low** - not only are wages low, but earnings can be erratic with limited benefits. Greece scores among the worst in the EU on indicators like "in-work poverty" and "job satisfaction" (By the numbers: Greece vs the EU - POLITICO) (By the numbers: Greece vs the EU - POLITICO). In effect, Greece's labor market has traded a portion of the old mass unemployment for underemployment and low-paid employment.

Foreign investment and job creation: A major hope of regaining investment-grade status is that it attracts foreign direct investment (FDI), spurring job growth. Greece has indeed seen increased FDI in sectors like tourism, logistics, and energy. For example, foreign operators took over 14 regional airports and the Port of Piraeus was leased to China's COSCO. These investments have modernized infrastructure and created jobs. However, the jobs created are often **not high-paying or high-security**. Tourism investment tends to generate seasonal hospitality jobs. The port investment boosted trade volume and added some port jobs, but also led to labor disputes over conditions. Outside of specific projects. broad-based investment in productive industries remains low - manufacturing is just ~10% of Greek GDP, and investment as a share of GDP (about 14%) is still nearly 9 percentage points below the eurozone average (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour <u>Institute - The Future of Work</u>). Thus, while foreign capital is entering Greece, it hasn't yet transformed the labor market toward higher-value, secure employment. The **relationship between foreign** investment and job quality can be seen in cases like the tourism boom: record tourist arrivals (thanks in part to foreign-funded marketing and hotel development) have pushed employment in hotels and restaurants above pre-crisis levels, but many of those jobs pay minimum wage and offer limited advancement.

Wage levels and job types: A crucial aspect of job quality is pay. Greek wages, as noted, are low – the average annual salary is around €17,700 (2023) (Greece average annual wage 2023 | Statista), among the lowest in Western/Central Europe. Adjusted for cost of living, Greek workers are in a worse position than many peers; *in fact, Greece is* 



ranked 7th worst in the EU for wages and salaries, grouping with much poorer countries like Poland, Hungary, Romania, etc., despite Greece's longer EU membership (Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung). Part of this is due to the legacy of the crisis: public-sector wages and private-sector minimum wages were slashed by 20-30% early in the 2010s (Greek wages in crisis: Whose loss and whose hope? | OUPblog), and only small increments have been made since. The **minimum wage**, now €780/month (gross) in 14 payments, is still below what it was in real terms in 2009. Many workers, especially in services and agriculture, earn around these minimum levels. Meanwhile, underemployment is an issue -Greece historically had low part-time employment, but during the crisis many could only find part-time or occasional work. By 2022, about 30% of employed people were in part-time or temporary roles (often involuntarily). Long-term unemployment also remains high; a significant number of jobless Greeks have been out of work for over a year, making re-entry harder. The government has focused on incentives for hiring young people and reskilling, but progress is slow.

Geographical disparities further complicate the labor picture. Job opportunities are heavily concentrated in Athens and a few tourist regions. The capital region Attica has the highest employment and income – household expenditures in Attica average €23,300/year, versus just €14,000 in poorer regions like Central Greece (Sterea Ellada) (). Unemployment in some rural areas (especially in the north and west) is well above the national average, as industries there never fully recovered. Islands and tourism-heavy areas see near-full employment in summer but much higher joblessness in winter. This urban-rural divide means that *the benefits of Greece's recovery have been unevenly distributed geographically*, with remote areas lagging. Many young people from villages still flock to Athens or migrate abroad for work, leaving behind aging populations and scant local job creation.

In summary, **Greece's labor market has stabilized but remains fragile**. Unemployment has fallen from crisis highs, yet Greece has not achieved the job security seen in other EU countries. Most new jobs are in "**low-productivity**, **low-added value**, **low stability**" sectors (2023 <u>Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour</u> <u>Institute - The Future of Work</u>), as the INE-GSEE report highlights. This model yields high working hours and stress for workers, but relatively meager pay and prospects. The return to investment grade, by improving business confidence, could support more hiring in the private sector - indeed, surveys show labor shortages now emerging in some industries (<u>Study: Greece's Economic Growth Threatened by Labor</u> <u>Shortages</u>), which might push wages up. However, without targeted policies to boost **employment quality** (e.g. stronger labor rights,



training for higher-skilled jobs, and investment in high-value industries), many Greek workers may continue to feel that the recovery has passed them by. *The hard truth is that Greece's "jobs miracle" has been only partial – job quantity is up, but job quality still leaves much to be desired.* 

### 4. Inequality and Wealth Distribution

A critical question is whether Greece's economic growth and fiscal improvements are benefiting all citizens or primarily the wealthy. During the crisis, Greece saw a surge in poverty and hardship, but somewhat paradoxically, conventional income inequality metrics (like the Gini coefficient) did not rise as much as one might expect. In fact, over 2004-2021, income inequality in Greece remained relatively stagnant, with a slight decline after 2014 (Equally poorer: inequality and the Greek debt crisis). The Gini coefficient for disposable income hovered in the low-to-mid 30s (on a 0-100 scale), and by the late 2010s it was a bit lower than at the crisis outset. This implies that the **income collapse was broad-based** - virtually everyone got poorer ("equally poorer," as one study puts it) (<u>Equally poorer: inequality</u> and the Greek debt crisis). Middle-class households saw large drops in income, but higher-income groups also lost (via salary cuts, business losses, and property value declines), which kept inequality from skyrocketing. However, this statistical stability in inequality belies the **dramatic absolute losses** experienced, and it also doesn't capture wealth inequality.

Today, Greece's income distribution remains more unequal than the EU average. The latest data show Greece's Gini coefficient is still one of the highest in Europe (Greece is around the 8th-10th most unequal EU country) (Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung). Moreover, relative poverty is widespread: over 28% of Greeks are at risk of poverty or social exclusion, one of the highest rates in the EU (By the numbers: Greece vs the EU - POLITICO). During the depth of the crisis, this figure approached 35%, and though it has come down slightly with the recovery, Greece has not closed the gap with EU peers on poverty (By the numbers: Greece vs the EU -POLITICO). In 2021, the share of Greeks unable to afford basic necessities was still much higher than a decade prior. In the words of the OECD, "poverty has stabilised, but remains near a record high" in Greece (poverty - OECD Ecoscope). Children and working-age poor were hit especially hard during austerity, and many have not recovered -Greece still provides comparatively limited social assistance to nonpensioners, so those who fell into poverty often stayed there.

Who benefits from the recovery? The evidence suggests that while GDP growth and corporate profits have rebounded, the gains have not been



evenly distributed across income groups. Corporate tax cuts and lower borrowing costs (helped by the investment grade upgrade) primarily benefit businesses and higher earners, unless they lead to substantially higher wages or more jobs - which so far has been modest. The government's fiscal surpluses achieved pre-pandemic meant it was collecting more in taxes than it spent on services. effectively redistributing from taxpayers to debt reduction rather than to social programs. Even now, the Greek tax-benefit system reduces inequality *less effectively than the EU average* (), partly because benefits (other than pensions) are small. For instance, unemployment benefits and minimum income schemes are relatively meager and short-term in Greece, so the unemployed and poor rely more on family support. Meanwhile, certain asset-owning or skilled segments have recovered better: those in export sectors or tourism, and owners of capital (e.g. Greeks who could buy real estate or stocks at crisis lows) have seen their wealth grow. Wealth inequality appears to have widened, as foreign investors and affluent Greeks snapped up devalued assets during the crisis, then profited from the rebound in asset prices. On the other hand, many middle-class families lost homes or saw their savings consumed by the crisis. The result is a society where *economic* growth is not yet strongly boosting median incomes, potentially leading to a hollowed-out middle class.

Wage distribution also reflects rising disparities. At the bottom, the minimum wage increases have provided some uplift for low-paid workers. but as noted, inflation diluted much of that. At the middle, public sector wage grids and many private salaries are still frozen near crisis-era levels. At the top, certain high-skill fields (tech, finance) and executives might be seeing pay increases as the economy grows. However, Greece does not (yet) show signs of an extreme top 1% income surge - the top 1% income share has stayed relatively stable around 8% () (), which is lower than in some unequal societies. The bigger issue is the gap between those securely employed with decent pay, and those in low-wage or no jobs. Income inequality between **social groups** - young vs old, public vs private sector, skilled vs unskilled - widened during the crisis. Notably, pensioners for a time had relatively protected incomes (pensions were cut, but an elderly person often still had some income when younger breadwinners were jobless). This meant poverty among the working-age population jumped higher than among retirees. But successive pension cuts (over 10 rounds of cuts) eventually reduced even pension incomes significantly. The result is that **all age groups saw income declines**, and while inequality (Gini) might have ticked down as very high incomes fell, many Greeks feel that inequality is still acutely felt. Eurobarometer surveys show Greeks perceive a high level of inequality and unfairness - in 2022, 82% of Greeks agreed that income differences are too large



and 90% said it's the government's responsibility to reduce those gaps (Equally poorer: inequality and the Greek debt crisis) (Equally poorer: inequality and the Greek debt crisis). This public sentiment reflects lived experiences of hardship despite aggregate improvements.

Has investment-grade status helped reduce inequality? Thus far, the benefits of improved national creditworthiness seem to be accruing more to the macro-economy than to low-income households. Lower government interest costs free up budget space, but Greece has largely used that space to meet fiscal targets and build reserves, rather than significantly expand social spending (though there have been some targeted programs). For example, primary surpluses were achieved by raising taxes across the board, which actually *increased* the burden on lower and middle classes. Only recently have there been small social dividends or rebates (like heating oil subsidies, food pass vouchers, and extra payments to low pensions) to offset inflation (). These measures help, but are not enough to offset years of lost purchasing power. In the private sector, cheaper credit from the ratings upgrade could eventually translate into more investment and jobs - as the ESM notes, businesses may become "more profitable, resilient, and stable" with lower funding costs (Greece is investment grade again - why it <u>matters to keep it | European Stability Mechanism</u>), which in theory could lead to hiring and pay raises. However, any such trickle-down will take time and depends on competitive pressures in the labor market. As of now, income gains are tilted toward profits over wages. The wage share of GDP in Greece fell during the austerity years and hasn't fully recovered, meaning a larger portion of output is going to capital (business owners, shareholders) rather than labor. Until that shifts, inequality may persist or even rise if growth primarily benefits corporate earnings and higher-income professionals.

Looking at **inequality in context**, Greece's Gini coefficient (around 32) is similar to other Southern European countries like Italy or Spain, but **Greece has far more poverty** due to its lower average income. Additionally, informal inequality is seen in phenomena like access to healthcare or education: those who can afford private services do so, while others rely on a strained public system. Many younger Greeks feel shut out of the prosperity their parents' generation enjoyed. *Overall, while inequality by some measures hasn't worsened dramatically since Greece's return to growth, the gains of recovery have not been evenly shared*. As one report succinctly put it, **"inequality is decreasing, but is still high" in Greece's post-crisis society (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work).** Ensuring that investment-grade status leads to broad-based improvement – higher wages for the average worker, better social safety nets, and



opportunities for the poor to climb the ladder – remains an urgent task for policymakers.

### 5. Financial Stability vs. Quality of Life

Achieving **financial stability** – evident in Greece's debt reduction and restored creditworthiness – was supposed to create the conditions for improving citizens' quality of life. To an extent it has: the specter of national bankruptcy has receded, banks have stabilized, and Greece can borrow on markets at reasonable rates. The government's interest costs are much lower today than a decade ago, which potentially frees resources for public needs. Yet the **trade-off of austerity** was that years of tight budgets squeezed public services and welfare. The question now is whether the easing of the fiscal crisis has led to better public services and social well-being.

Debt and public finance improvements: Greece's public debt, while still high at ~170% of GDP, has fallen sharply from its 2020 peak of 206% (). More importantly, the debt is now mostly long-term, lowinterest loans from EU partners, so the annual debt servicing burden is manageable. As a result, Greece ran primary budget surpluses (before COVID) and is aiming to do so again, but not as aggressively as during bailout years. The **return to investment grade** in 2023 is a seal of approval on this fiscal turnaround, theoretically lowering future borrowing costs. For example, Greek 10-year bond yields are now around 4% (in early 2025), compared to double-digit yields during the crisis. This saves hundreds of millions of euros in interest. However, **fiscal policy remains conservative**, with the government prioritizing debt reduction over large spending increases. Public investment and social spending are gradually rising but are still constrained by EU fiscal rules. In practical terms, many Greeks ask: Has the austerity pain translated into tangible gains like better hospitals, schools, or *infrastructure?* 

**Public services:** During the crisis, **healthcare and education** faced severe cuts – hospital budgets were slashed, hiring was frozen, and many doctors and teachers left the country (<u>The impact of the crisis</u> on the health system and health in Greece). Out-of-pocket costs for patients rose as free services shrank. Now, with finances improving, there have been some reinvestments: hiring of medical staff resumed slowly after 2018, and emergency support during COVID bolstered hospitals somewhat. The government, aided by EU Recovery and Resilience funds, is renovating some hospitals and digitizing public services (<u>[PDF] State of Health in the EU - Greece</u>). Nevertheless, Greece's health system still ranks among the lowest in Europe for funding – public health expenditure remains around 5% of GDP (below the EU average ~7%) (<u>[PDF] Greece's healthcare system and the</u>



crisis:). Many citizens still experience long waits at understaffed public clinics or must pay privately for certain exams and medications (a legacy of cuts and "clawback" policies on pharma (Greece -Healthcare - International Trade Administration)). Education shows a similar story: while Greece maintained relatively high education spending during austerity relative to GDP, there were wage freezes for teachers and limited updates to materials. Only recently have teachers and civil servants started receiving modest pay raises after a decade of stagnant salaries. Infrastructure investment, like road and rail improvements, was postponed by the crisis but is now restarting with EU funds. For example, urban transport projects and broadband expansion are underway, which will benefit citizens in coming years. In summary, public services are improving only gradually, and many Greeks feel the quality is still worse than pre-crisis - frequent complaints include insufficient doctors in rural areas, crowded schools, and deteriorating transport.

Social safety nets: One notable development of the late 2010s was the creation of a *minimum income scheme* ("Social Solidarity Income"), which Greece introduced under pressure from the EU to tackle extreme poverty. This provides a modest monthly benefit to very low-income households. Additionally, unemployment benefits and pensions saw some adjustments. However, the **pension system reform** was among the most painful adjustments. Pensions were cut repeatedly (cumulatively 40-50% for many retirees), retirement ages were raised to 67, and generous early retirement provisions were curbed. These reforms have made the pension system financially sustainable in the long run (public pension spending actually *fell by about 1.9% of GDP* through reforms ()), but at the cost of **retirement security** for many. Today's pensioners often struggle with their reduced stipends - the average pension is around €730 a month, and many receive less. In 2023, for the first time in 12 vears, the government granted a significant pension increase (~7.75%) as inflation relief, but about 1 in 3 pensioners didn't receive it due to a complex "personal difference" rule from previous cuts () (). Thus, **elderly poverty** remains an issue, although family solidarity in Greece mitigates it somewhat (pensioners frequently support unemployed vounger relatives). The working generation's security is also in question - after seeing their parents' pensions cut, younger Greeks doubt if they will ever get a decent pension and are inclined to save abroad or not rely on the state. This has social implications: anxiety about the future, low birth rates, etc.

One area where improved stability *could* directly benefit citizens is through **public investment in infrastructure and services**. With market access restored, Greece can borrow for productive investments (for example, building schools, green energy projects, or modernizing water



systems). Under the EU's Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF), Greece is already deploying grants and loans totaling €30+ billion for such purposes (<u>Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" -</u> Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung). Projects include renewable energy expansions, digital government upgrades, and transportation links (Reforming Greece - September 2023). If effectively implemented, these investments should enhance quality of life (through job creation and better infrastructure). However, there are concerns about whether the benefits are spreading widely. A left-leaning analysis by the Rosa Luxemburg Foundation argues that the RRF plan so far has had "rather poor results in terms of diffusion of the benefits to small and medium-sized enterprises," which make up the bulk of Greek employment (Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-*Stiftung*). In other words, there's a risk that big companies and banks (often foreign or elite-owned) capture the gains, reinforcing existing inequalities, while average citizens see less impact.

Public perception: Ultimately, how do Greek citizens feel about their situation after regaining investment grade and "European normality"? Surveys show lingering pessimism. In spring 2023 - despite solid GDP growth - only 28% of Greeks rated the national economic situation as good, while 72% said it was bad (Economic ratings are poor in most <u>countries surveyed | Pew Research Center</u>). This was an improvement from the crisis years (when positive ratings were in the single digits), but still one of the most negative outlooks in the EU. By comparison, in Portugal and Spain about 27% also felt the economy was good, while in more stable EU countries the majority give positive ratings (Economic ratings are poor in most countries surveyed | Pew <u>Research Center</u>) (Economic ratings are poor in most countries surveyed <u>Pew Research Center</u>). This suggests that Greeks still *aren't feeling* the recovery in their daily lives. Issues like the high cost of living, job precariousness, and low trust in institutions temper any optimism from good macro news. Another telling metric is life **satisfaction** - Greece consistently ranks at or near the bottom of EU countries on life satisfaction and happiness surveys (By the numbers: <u>Greece vs the EU – POLITICO</u>). The years of crisis eroded trust and well-being, and it takes more than a credit rating upgrade to rebuild that. There have been improvements - for example, consumer confidence indices in 2022–2023 reached their highest levels since 2010, and people's expectations for their personal finances have started to brighten. But these are coming off a very low base.

In public discourse, one hears mixed messages. Government officials highlight that *"the upgrade marks the closing of a great cycle for the Greek economy"* and proof that sacrifices paid off (<u>Greece Outlook</u> <u>Revised To Positive On Ongoing Deb</u>). Certainly, Greece has restored



its credibility and can now focus on forward-looking development. However, opposition politicians and some economists counter that **"macro stability doesn't equal micro prosperity."** They point out that Greece's primary surpluses and debt repayments have come at a social cost – hospitals understaffed, youth forced abroad, and a generation that lost wealth (for instance, thousands of foreclosed homes are being auctioned by banks and funds, a process still ongoing in 2024). There is a palpable concern that if average families do not see more benefits soon – higher disposable incomes, better public amenities – Greece could face social and political backlash. Indeed, the rise of populist sentiment a decade ago (leading to the Syriza government in 2015) was fueled by precisely this gap between economic policy and people's hardship. The recent return of a moderate, pro-investment government (re-elected in 2023) suggests many Greeks accept the path of stability for now, but their patience is not unlimited.

In summary, financial stability has been a necessary platform for recovery, but it hasn't yet translated into a commensurate jump in quality of life. Greece's improved fiscal health gives it opportunities – to invest, to reform public services, to cushion the vulnerable – yet the follow-through has been cautious. Investmentgrade status is more a symbol of how far the country has come out of crisis than a guarantee of immediate welfare gains. As one European analyst put it, the upgrade is "exceptional" but "multiple challenges remain" in ensuring these gains reach citizens (Greece Q&A: Investment grade is an exceptional achievement but ...). Going forward, the key will be leveraging Greece's new credibility to direct resources into people-centric improvements: better healthcare, education, social support, and an economy that creates well-paying jobs. Without that, the recovery will ring hollow for those who endured the austerity years.

### 6. Comparative Context: Greece vs. Other Southern European Economies

While Greece's recent experience is unique in its severity, it is instructive to compare it with fellow Southern European economies (Portugal, Spain, and Italy) to gauge relative progress in living standards. All these countries suffered during the eurozone crisis and faced painful adjustments, but **Greece's downturn was by far the deepest**. It lost a quarter of its GDP and saw unemployment hit record highs, whereas Spain's GDP drop was around 10% and Portugal's around 7% before recovery (Italy had stagnation rather than a sharp fall). As a result, Greece fell behind its peers in measures of income and wellbeing.



#### 6.a Purchasing power:

Greece now has the lowest GDP per capita (PPP) among the four. Portugal, which was historically poorer than Greece, now slightly surpasses Greece in PPP per capita (83% of EU average vs Greece's 67%) (National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained). Spain and Italy, despite their own struggles, remain richer per capita (Spain ~88%, Italy ~97% of EU average) (National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained). In practical terms, the average Greek consumer is distinctly worse off than the average Portuguese or Spaniard when adjusting for cost of living, reversing the pre-2010 situation. This shows how Greece's convergence with Western Europe not only halted but **reversed**, while Portugal has managed to hold steady or even improve slightly by comparison (National accounts and GDP - Statistics Explained). Part of Portugal's success came from exiting its bailout in 2014 and implementing policies to protect the middle class thereafter. For instance, Portugal reversed some public wage cuts and avoided further pension cuts after growth returned, whereas Greece's austerity persisted longer. Consequently, **Portugal's median disposable income rebounded faster**, and its poverty rates, while still high, did not climb to Greece's extremes. Spain too saw unemployment soar (to 26%) but had a swifter job recovery post-2015, and crucially, Spanish wages did not undergo the kind of across-the-board reduction that **Greek wages did.** Spain's collective bargaining and social safety nets (e.g. unemployment benefits) helped buffer the impact on workers, albeit at the cost of higher public debt.

#### 6.b Labor market comparisons:

As of 2023, Greece's unemployment (~11%) is still above Italy's (~7.5%) and Portugal's (~6.5%), and a bit below Spain's (~12-13%). However, **vouth unemployment** is a pan-European south problem - Spain's youth jobless rate (around 27%) is comparable to Greece's (around 25%), highlighting structural issues in both economies with integrating young workers (Economic ratings are poor in most countries <u>surveyed</u> | <u>Pew Research Center</u>). Italy and Portugal, with more vocational training systems, have lower youth unemployment (though still above EU average). Job security tends to be low across Southern Europe, but Greece ranks especially poorly on job quality indices (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work). For example, temporary contracts are common in Spain and Italy too, but Greece's labor force has the highest share working very long hours. In Italy, a significant informal economy cushions some unemployed (they work off-books). whereas in Greece the informal sector also exists but many simply left the workforce entirely or emigrated. Emigration was an outlet for



Greeks and Portuguese (less so for Spaniards and Italians). Both Greece and Portugal saw large outflows of educated youth during their crises – Portugal's population declined, but it managed to lure some talent back with improving conditions and tech/startup growth in Lisbon. Greece is now attempting similar "brain gain" incentives, but it's early.

#### 6.c Fiscal and policy approaches:

After their crises, Portugal and Ireland (another bailout country) became oft-cited success stories for combining fiscal responsibility with growth - Portugal, for instance, exited its bailout without a second program and returned to bond markets by 2017 with investment grade. Greece, in contrast, remained under tighter EU "post-program surveillance" until 2022 and only regained investment grade in late 2023 (Greece is investment grade again - why it matters to keep it). The **policy mix** differed: Portugal's government (led by a center-left coalition after 2015) prioritized restoring incomes - they raised the minimum wage repeatedly and unfroze some pensions, betting that higher domestic demand would boost growth. This seemed to pay off with solid growth pre-COVID and falling unemployment, all while keeping deficits modest. Greece's government, on the other hand, was constrained by stricter surplus targets and waited longer to raise the minimum wage (finally doing so in 2019 and thereafter). Thus, Greek wages lagged **behind Portugal's in recovery** – as noted, Greek real wages are ~30% below 2009 levels (Real wages lag those of 2009 by some 30% eKathimerini.com), whereas Portugal's real wages in 2023 roughly matched 2009 levels (after dipping in between). Spain also raised its minimum wage aggressively in 2019-2022 (a 36% cumulative hike) to tackle inequality; this helped lower-wage workers there, whereas Greek low-wage workers only got significant raises more recently.

However, it's not all one-sided: **Greece leads in debt reduction** whereas Italy's debt remains very high (~145% of GDP) and its growth anemic. Italy's citizens face stagnating incomes too – Italian real wages have barely grown in two decades. Spain and Portugal both suffer from high cost of living relative to wages (especially housing costs in cities). In that sense, Greek citizens' struggles with rent and inflation are quite comparable to those in, say, Lisbon or Barcelona – young adults across Southern Europe often find it hard to attain the living standards their parents did. One notable difference is **home ownership**: Greeks had very high home ownership (~75%) pre-crisis, which fell slightly; Spaniards also around 75%; Italians ~70%; Portuguese ~65%. But the **housing crises** differ: Spain had a housing bubble burst in 2008, so many Spaniards ended up with mortgage debt issues; Greece's bust was more a collapse due to austerity, and now a



rebound due to foreign buyers. Portugal became a hotspot for expats and Golden Visa investors, driving up Lisbon rents similarly to Athens. Each country has introduced measures (rent controls, visa limits) to address this, with mixed results.

#### 6.d In terms of inequality:

Southern Europe generally has higher inequality than Northern Europe, but still less than the US. Greece's inequality (Gini ~32) is actually similar to Italy's (~33) and a bit higher than Spain's (~30) and Portugal's (~32). What differentiates Greece is the **absolute level of income** at each percentile – a Greek at the 50th percentile lives on much less income than a Spaniard at the 50th percentile. So one could say **Greeks endured a "level shift" downward in the 2010s that others avoided**. The **middle class in Greece** was severely squeezed; many fell into the lower-income bracket. In Portugal, the middle class also faced austerity (public employee wage cuts, tax hikes), but the economy's quicker revival and policies like controlled utility prices helped stabilize middle-class consumption. Spain's strong family networks and informal economy helped many weather the worst there, whereas Greek families, though close-knit, had fewer resources after such a protracted recession.

Overall, **Greece's trajectory has been more painful**, and its climb back is slower, compared to its southern European peers. Countries like Portugal provide a hopeful example that a balanced recovery (with investment in social cohesion) is possible – Portugal today has lower unemployment than pre-crisis and slightly higher median income, indicating a restoration for many households. Greece has yet to reach that point relative to 2009. The **lesson** from these comparisons is that sound finances alone do not guarantee popular prosperity; policies explicitly aimed at boosting household incomes, job creation, and social support were key in countries that recovered more *inclusively*. Greece is now in a position to implement similar policies (thanks to the breathing room of investment grade status), and doing so will determine whether Greek citizens truly feel the benefits that Portuguese or even Spanish citizens are beginning to see after their crises.

### 7. Conclusion: Is Investment Grade Status Benefiting Greek Citizens?

After a decade-long economic odyssey, Greece's return to **investmentgrade status** in 2023 stands as a major national achievement – a symbolic "end of the crisis" and a testament to restored fiscal credibility. However, **the reality on the ground for Greek citizens is more nuanced**. The research evidence shows that while Greece's



macroeconomic health has improved vastly since the dark days of 2010-2015, the *tangible* improvements in everyday economic well-being have been gradual and limited for large segments of the population. **Purchasing power and real incomes** are still struggling to recover; by multiple measures, Greeks have lower real earnings and consumption today than they did pre-crisis (Real wages lag those of 2009 by some <u>30% - eKathimerini.com</u>) (). Cost of living pressures - from spiking prices to expensive housing - have absorbed much of the gains from growth, leaving many feeling squeezed. The **labor market**, though healing in quantity of jobs, remains precarious in quality, with persistently high unemployment (especially among youth) and low wages by European standards () (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work). **Inequality** in Greece remains high, and although the pain of the crisis was broadly shared, the fruits of the recovery have not been equally distributed so far. Public services and social safety nets, after being cut to the bone, are only slowly improving, and many Greeks have yet to feel a restoration of security in areas like health, education, and old-age support.

In essence, investment grade is a necessary milestone on the road to normalcy, but not sufficient on its own to guarantee shared prosperity. The upgrade has concrete benefits: it lowers borrowing costs for the Greek state and banks, opens access to a wider pool of investors, and signals confidence that Greece is a stable place to invest. These factors have positive knock-on effects - for example, the government can refinance debt more cheaply and potentially channel savings into public investments or social programs; banks can borrow at lower rates, which could mean more affordable loans for businesses and households. Indeed, European financial officials highlight that the rating upgrade should, in time, "benefit the country's citizens" by reducing the cost of credit and boosting growth (Greece is investment grade again - why it matters to keep it | European Stability Mechanism). However, these benefits operate with a lag and depend on policy choices. So far, the improved fiscal situation has translated into only modest relief for households (such as selective tax cuts and small benefit increases) while much emphasis remains on maintaining prudence.

The key takeaway is that Greece's macroeconomic turnaround has laid the groundwork for improving living standards, but the job is far from finished. To determine if Greek citizens truly benefit, one must look at **indicators of economic well-being**: Are disposable incomes rising? Are good jobs being created? Can families afford better housing, education, and healthcare? The data suggests incremental progress at best in these areas post-upgrade. Real wages have only just started to



inch up after inflation (<u>Inflation Drains Minimum Wage Gains in</u> <u>Greece, Prompting New Reform Plan - tovima.com</u>). Employment is growing, but many jobs are insecure or low-paid (<u>2023 Annual Report on</u> <u>the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The</u> <u>Future of Work</u>). Inequality, while not worsening dramatically, means the gains of growth tilt toward those better off or in booming sectors. And public sentiment, as captured in surveys, reflects this lag - most Greeks remain unconvinced that the economy has improved for them (<u>Economic ratings are poor in most countries surveyed | Pew</u> <u>Research Center</u>).

That said, Greece now has an opportunity to turn financial credibility into tangible prosperity. With the constraints of crisis management easing, there is fiscal space (and political momentum) to address citizens' needs more directly. Already, we see some steps: significant minimum wage hikes slated through 2027 (targeting €950) to boost incomes (Inflation Drains Minimum Wage Gains in Greece, Prompting New <u>Reform Plan - tovima.com</u>), increased support for housing (subsidies for young renters, reforms to rein in rental prices), and use of EU funds for job training and healthcare upgrades. The government's challenge is to ensure that the macro gains "trickle down" in a meaningful way - or better yet, to "build down" by designing policies that channel the benefits of stability to the broader population. This could include strengthening collective bargaining so that lower corporate borrowing costs lead to negotiated wage increases, enhancing tax progressivity and social benefits (Greece's tax-benefit system currently does less to reduce inequality than EU peers ()), and investing heavily in sectors that create middle-class jobs (like green energy, manufacturing, and technology).

In conclusion, Greece's return to investment grade is a positive development for the nation, but its impact on the average Greek citizen has so far been limited. The macroeconomic headlines - robust GDP growth, falling debt, upgraded ratings - contrast with microeconomic realities - struggling purchasing power, high prices, job insecurity. The years following 2010 saw Greek citizens endure immense sacrifices to restore stability; the years ahead must focus on **restoring prosperity** and a sense of inclusive growth. As Greece continues on this path, success will be measured not just by investor sentiment or debt ratios, but by more down-to-earth metrics: a paycheck that covers the bills, a secure job contract, an affordable home, and confidence that one's children will have a better life. Those are the tangible benefits Greeks are looking for. The investment grade upgrade is an enabling step, giving Greece the financial stability to pursue these goals. Whether it truly delivers for Greek citizens will depend on the economic and social policies deployed in



this post-crisis era – policies that ensure the rewards of stability and growth reach **ordinary households from Athens to the islands to the mountain villages.** Only then will Greece's hard-won return to "European normality" be felt as a **normal life** for its people, not just a line in a finance report.

#### Sources:

- Hellenic Statistical Authority (ELSTAT) Household Budget Survey 2023 () (); wage and price index data (<u>Inflation Drains Minimum</u> <u>Wage Gains in Greece, Prompting New Reform Plan - tovima.com</u>) (<u>Inflation Drains Minimum Wage Gains in Greece, Prompting New</u> <u>Reform Plan - tovima.com</u>).
- Eurostat National accounts and GDP data (<u>National accounts and GDP Statistics Explained</u>); comparative EU income statistics (<u>Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile "Normalcy" Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung</u>).
- Bank of Greece & Ministry of Labor reports on wage trends and inflation impacts (<u>Inflation Drains Minimum Wage Gains in Greece</u>, <u>Prompting New Reform Plan - tovima.com</u>) ().
- European Commission **Country Report Greece 2023** (SWD/2023/608) on wages, employment, inequality () ().
- INE-GSEE (Greek Labor Institute) Annual Report 2023 on employment quality and inequality (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work) (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work) (2023 Annual Report on the Greek Economy and Employment by INE-GSEE Labour Institute - The Future of Work).
- Reuters & AFP news coverage on Greece's credit upgrade and economic outlook (<u>Moody's upgrades Greece to investment grade on</u> <u>strong fiscal ...</u>) (<u>Greece raises price of Golden Visa to ease</u> <u>housing crisis | Daily Sabah</u>); on cost of living (e.g. Golden Visa and housing) (<u>Greece raises price of Golden Visa to ease</u> <u>housing crisis | Daily Sabah</u>).
- Pew Research Center Global Attitudes Survey 2023 (economic sentiment in Greece vs. EU) (<u>Economic ratings are poor in most</u> <u>countries surveyed</u> | <u>Pew Research Center</u>).
- Institute for Fiscal Studies study "Equally poorer: inequality and the Greek debt crisis" (Danchev et al. 2024) (<u>Equally poorer:</u> <u>inequality and the Greek debt crisis</u>) (<u>Equally poorer: inequality</u> <u>and the Greek debt crisis</u>).



- Rosa Luxemburg Stiftung analysis of Greece's socio-economic recovery (Koltsida 2024) (<u>Greece's Uncertain Return to a Fragile</u> <u>"Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung</u>) (<u>Greece's Uncertain Return</u> to a Fragile "Normalcy" - Rosa-Luxemburg-Stiftung).
- International Monetary Fund Article IV Staff Statement 2023 (macroeconomic assessment) (<u>Greece: Staff Concluding Statement of</u> <u>the 2023 Article IV Consultation Mission</u>) (<u>Greece: Staff</u> <u>Concluding Statement of the 2023 Article IV Consultation</u> <u>Mission</u>).

## C. Why Greece's Macroeconomic Recovery Has Not Translated Into Improved Quality Of Life For Greeks

## 1. The Disconnect Between Macroeconomic Growth and Household Prosperity

Despite a rebound in headline economic metrics, Greek households have seen only modest relief since the crisis. GDP has grown faster than household incomes, reflecting an imbalance in how recovery gains are distributed. During the crisis, Greek GDP contracted by 27% from 2009 to 2016, but household disposable income fell by an even steeper 33% (<u>A Race to the Bottom: Measuring Income Loss and Poverty in Greece</u>). In the slow growth years that followed, the gap between GDP and **household income widened further**, indicating that subsequent growth largely bypassed households (<u>A Race to the Bottom: Measuring Income</u> Loss and <u>Poverty in Greece</u>). Essentially, the economy began expanding again while disposable incomes lagged behind, highlighting a nonredistributive recovery model. Even as of the early 2020s, average incomes remain below pre-crisis levels - in fact, the average monthly salary (€1,175) is about 20% lower than 15 years ago (<u>Greek economy</u> surges after decade of pain | Reuters). Over the decade to 2022, disposable income growth averaged only **0.4% per year**, barely above zero (<u>Greece Disposable Income (ann. var. %) - FocusEconomics</u>). This explains why Greeks have not felt much improvement: the fruits of GDP growth have not trickled down in the form of higher pay or spending power.

**Employment and wages** – key determinants of household prosperity – illustrate the problem. Unemployment, though down from its peak, remains above 10%, the second-highest in the EU after Spain (<u>Greek</u>



economy surges after decade of pain | Reuters). Many who do have jobs face wage stagnation and precarious conditions. Labor market reforms enacted under Greece's bailout programs aimed to reduce labor costs and increase flexibility, but they also suppressed incomes. In 2012, the minimum wage was abruptly cut by 22% (and 32% for youth under 25) and then frozen for years (). Sectoral collective bargaining was effectively dismantled, weakening workers' ability to negotiate pay rises. These measures achieved "internal devaluation" - Greek unit labor costs fell - but at the cost of workers' earnings. Even by 2023, real wages had not recovered their pre-crisis value. Greece's GDP per capita (in purchasing power terms) remains among the lowest in the EU (Greek economy surges after decade of pain | Reuters), and in-work poverty is high (around 11% of workers are at risk of poverty vs an EU average of 9% ()). In short, having a job in Greece often does not guarantee a decent living, due to low wages and limited social safety nets.

Meanwhile, fiscal stabilization has not led to a surge in public **investment or services** that touch citizens' lives. Through harsh austerity. Greece turned huge deficits into primary budget surpluses. but this came by slashing public spending on infrastructure and welfare. Public investment collapsed during the crisis - the investment-to-GDP ratio fell from ~24% pre-2008 to only ~12% in 2010-2020 (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy - investment gap and the financing of investment needs) (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy investment gap and the financing of investment needs) - and remains far below EU averages (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy investment gap and the financing of investment needs) (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy - investment gap and the financing of <u>investment needs</u>). Even after stabilization, tight budgets meant **little reinvestment in health, education, or transport**. For example, public health expenditure was cut by nearly 43% between 2009 and 2017 (<u>Greece: Authorities must be held to account after austerity measures</u> ...), leaving hospitals understaffed and facilities aging. Chronic underinvestment contributed to tragedies like the 2023 rail accident that exposed failures in transportation infrastructure () (). In education too, spending cuts led to teacher shortages and outdated materials. Thus, although Greece achieved fiscal credibility, ordinary citizens saw **few improvements in public services** - a source of persistent frustration.

**Comparative context:** Other Southern European countries hit by the euro crisis have faced similar tensions, but Greece's case is the most extreme. Portugal and Spain exited their bailout periods with a return to growth, yet both also struggle with low wages and youth joblessness (Spain's unemployment mirrors Greece's). One difference is that



Portugal's recovery was aided by strong export growth and a more gradual fiscal adjustment, which helped jobs rebound faster. Spain implemented labor reforms too, but its social safety nets (like unemployment benefits) somewhat cushioned households. Italy, which avoided a bailout, did not endure as sharp a GDP collapse, but it suffers long-term stagnation that likewise squeezes living standards. In Greece, the sheer depth of the depression (a 25% GDP drop (Greece's reverse brain drain - POLITICO)) and the severity of austerity (public spending fell one-third) set back household welfare by a decade or more. All four countries saw inequality rise and poverty surge during the crisis, but Greece's poverty rate (around 19% in 2022) remains higher than the EU average of 16.5% (). Unlike peers, Greece had to sustain very high primary surpluses post-crisis to satisfy creditors, limiting its ability to restore social spending. Consequently, the disconnect between macroeconomic gains and household well-being is widest in Greece, underscoring a need for policy changes to ensure growth is inclusive.

# 2. Drivers for The Cost of Living Crisis and High Consumer Prices

While incomes stagnated, **the cost of living in Greece has climbed**, creating a squeeze on real purchasing power. Greek consumers now face **prices on many goods as high as – or higher than – in richer European countries**, despite Greece's much lower incomes (<u>Greek consumers face</u> <u>higher milk and egg prices than Sweden and Germany, despite lower</u> wages - The Press Project - Ειδήσεις, Αναλύσεις, Ραδιόφωνο, Τηλεόραση) (<u>Greek consumers face higher milk and egg prices than Sweden and</u> <u>Germany, despite lower wages - The Press Project - Ειδήσεις</u>, <u>Αναλύσεις, Ραδιόφωνο, Τηλεόραση</u>). This paradox (often dubbed "the Greek cost-of-living puzzle") means households get **less bang for their euro**, deepening frustration. Several factors drive Greece's high consumer prices:

#### 2.a Multinational pricing practices:

A key issue is that global companies often **charge Greece more for the same products** they sell elsewhere. Prime Minister Kyriakos Mitsotakis noted that in Greece (and some smaller EU markets), essential goods made by multinationals are sold at "unreasonably high prices" compared to other EU states (<u>Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of</u> <u>elections | Reuters</u>). One reason is the imposition of **territorial supply constraints (TSCs)** – whereby large firms restrict cross-border sales to segment markets (<u>Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices</u> <u>ahead of elections | Reuters</u>). This limits parallel imports and allows companies to keep Greek prices higher than, say, in Germany or the



Netherlands. For example, a 2024 survey found Greek shoppers pay around **30% more for basics like milk and eggs** than consumers in wealthier countries. A liter of milk costs about €1.55 in Greece versus €1.08 in Germany, and a dozen eggs €4.23 in Athens vs €3.04 in Berlin (Greek consumers face higher milk and egg prices than Sweden and Germany. despite lower wages - The Press Project - Ειδήσεις. <u>Αναλύσεις, Ραδιόφωνο, Τηλεόραση</u>) (<u>Greek consumers face higher</u> milk and egg prices than Sweden and Germany, despite lower wages - The Press Project - Ειδήσεις, Αναλύσεις, Ραδιόφωνο, Τηλεόραση). Such disparities - Greeks paying more for identical groceries - highlight market failures and weak competition. The problem is widespread: an eightcountry coalition (including Greece) urged Brussels to crack down on multinationals that unfairly restrict EU trade and keep prices artificially high (Eight EU States Urge Brussels to Tackle Multinational Pricing Practices) (Eight EU States Urge Brussels to Tackle Multinational Pricing Practices). In mid-2024 the EU even fined a major food company for blocking cross-border sales (Eight EU States Urge Brussels to Tackle Multinational Pricing Practices). Clearly, Greece's small market has been exploited by dominant suppliers, resulting in price tags that don't align with local incomes.

#### 2.b Import dependency and taxes:

Greece relies heavily on imports for energy, many foods, and consumer goods — making it vulnerable to global price swings. The recent inflation spike (2021–2022) hit Greece hard because it imports most of its fuel and a large share of consumer products. With a weaker domestic production base in sectors like manufacturing, **Greek consumers bear the full brunt of international cost increases** (e.g. oil, grain). Compounding this, Greece's **value-added tax (VAT)** is among the highest in Europe — the standard rate is 24%, versus 19% in Germany. High VAT on many everyday items means prices at the checkout include a hefty tax component, further straining households. While VAT hikes helped fix budget deficits, they **made essentials more expensive** for citizens (a classic austerity side effect). Indirect taxes now form a large share of household expenses, disproportionately affecting lower-income families.

#### 2.c Weak competition and oligopolies:

Structural market conditions inside Greece also keep prices elevated. In several key industries – **supermarkets, energy, and telecommunications** – a few players dominate, with insufficient competitive pressure to drive prices down. For instance, Greeks pay among the **highest telecom charges in the EU**, on par with much richer Belgium. In 2019, Greece's communication services price level index was 175 (EU average = 100), second only to Belgium's 176 (<u>How</u>



communication prices vary across the EU - Products Eurostat News -Eurostat). This reflects an oligopoly in mobile and internet providers, resulting in steep phone bills and internet costs for consumers. Similarly, electricity and fuel markets have had limited competition and high taxes, yielding some of Europe's highest energy prices. In late 2022, Greece faced **record-high wholesale electricity rates**, prompting the government to spend 5.3% of GDP on energy subsidies (the most in the EU) to shield consumers (Europe's power price divide hits southeastern economies | Reuters). Even so, energy bills soared - "a second rent" for many households - exacerbating the cost-of-living crisis (Europe's power price divide hits southeastern economies | Reuters) (Europe's power price divide hits southeastern <u>economies | Reuters</u>). In food retail, Greece's supermarket sector has a few large chains and distributors. Allegations of price cartels periodically surface, especially as food inflation in 2023 stayed above 10% while overall inflation fell. The Competition Commission has launched probes into possible "greedflation" (companies expanding profit margins under the cover of inflation). As a result of these dynamics, basic necessities in Greece often carry Nordic-level prices **on Balkan-level incomes**, squeezing consumers hard. Surveys show Greek households spend an unusually high share of their income on food and housing costs, and report high difficulty in making ends meet.

#### 2.d Policy options to ease living costs:

Tackling the cost-of-living problem requires addressing both structural and regulatory factors. One approach is stronger **competition policy and market regulation.** The government has already sought EU action on territorial supply constraints to end unjustified price disparities (Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of elections | Reuters) (Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of elections | Reuters). Domestically, authorities can intensify **antitrust enforcement** against cartels in groceries, fuel, and telecoms - ensuring companies do not collude to keep prices high. Encouraging new entrants (for example, low-cost retail chains or alternative telecom operators) could increase competition. Another tool is targeted tax relief: cutting VAT on essential food items (bread, milk, vegetables) or energy temporarily to reduce consumer prices. However, this must be balanced against fiscal needs. The government has implemented a "household basket" policy - persuading supermarkets to discount a set of staple goods - and provided energy subsidies and heating oil allowances to ease the burden (Europe's power price divide hits southeastern economies | Reuters). Over the longer term, **boosting domestic production capacity** can reduce import dependence and improve trade balances. If Greece produces more of its own food, energy (renewables), or consumer goods, it can mitigate external price



shocks. Supporting local agriculture and industry, and diversifying suppliers, are part of this strategy. Finally, empowering consumer advocacy and price transparency (easy price-comparison tools, robust consumer protection agencies) can help **pressure companies to offer fairer prices**. The challenge is doing all this while maintaining economic stability – but without action, persistently high prices will continue eroding Greeks' standard of living even as the macroeconomy grows.

## 3. Drivers for Wage Stagnation and Labor Market Challenges

A core reason the recovery hasn't benefited most Greeks is **stagnant** wages and a fraught labor market. Simply put, most people's paychecks have not kept up with productivity or the cost of living. Even as GDP expanded in recent years, real wages (adjusted for inflation) barely moved, meaning workers gained little purchasing power. Several factors explain Greece's wage stagnation despite economic growth:

#### 3.a Post-crisis labor reforms:

Under the pressure of the bailout "Troika," Greece overhauled its labor market from 2010-2014 with the goal of cutting labor costs and boosting competitiveness. This included deep wage cuts and loss of bargaining power for workers. The flagship move was the minimum wage **reduction of 22% in 2012** (from €751 to €586 monthly) (), which also slashed pay scales tied to the minimum. In addition, collective bargaining at the national and sector level was suspended or severely limited – wage agreements could be undercut by firm-level agreements, and extensions of sectoral contracts now require covering 51% of employees (Greece: Developments in working life 2023) (Greece: Developments in working life 2023) (a high bar that many unions cannot meet). The result was a dramatic **decentralization of wage setting**, often leaving pay determined by individual employers in a weak economy. Severance pay and overtime pay were reduced, and flexibility measures (easier layoffs, part-time and rotation work) were introduced (). While these reforms did reduce unit labor costs and were "successful" in an economic sense of internal devaluation, they also meant that as growth returned, labor's share of the gains remained **low**. Employers, facing less pressure to raise wages due to weaker unions and high unemployment, kept wages subdued. It was only in 2019 that the minimum wage was finally increased (to €650) after a 7-year freeze, and again in 2022-2023 (now €780 gross). Even so, the minimum wage in Greece (<del>E830 per month in 2024) remains far below that in</del> countries like Spain (€1,167) or Slovenia (~€1,200), and many jobs pay



**only at or slightly above this floor**, especially for youth and service workers.

#### 3.b Precarious and temporary employment:

The labor market that has emerged in Greece is marked by high rates of **temporary, part-time, and seasonal work**, which tend to offer lower pay and security. In the tourism sector (a major employer), many jobs are 6-month seasonal contracts. Among young workers especially, temporary contracts are common - often the only entry point into a tight job market. This "precariat" of low-paid, short-term jobs has grown. Greece's share of employees on temporary contracts sits above the EU average, and many "full-time" jobs are now effectively gig-like or rotating positions. Moreover, **underemployment** is an issue - thousands are formally employed but getting only a few days or hours of work per week. All this depresses average earnings. For those with stable jobs, wage progression is limited: with weak collective bargaining, pay raises rely on individual negotiations, which in an economy recovering from crisis, have been rare. Public sector wages were also cut sharply during austerity and only partially restored, affecting a large portion of the workforce. The upshot is that wage growth has consistently lagged GDP growth. Even in 2022, a year of strong GDP rebound, average nominal wages rose less than inflation, meaning **real** wage growth was negative. By early 2024, real wages were still around 20% lower than in 2009 (Greek economy surges after decade of pain <u>Reuters</u>), illustrating the lost ground.

#### 3.c Brain drain and skill gaps:

Greece's labor market has also been strained by the massive emigration of skilled workers during the crisis - the so-called brain drain. An estimated 500,000 Greeks (mostly young, educated adults) left between 2010 and 2016 (Greece's reverse brain drain - POLITICO) to find opportunities abroad. This talent exodus has several consequences at home. On one hand, it reduced domestic unemployment (many jobless left instead of staying), which might relieve wage pressure. But on the other hand, it deprived Greece of high-skilled professionals doctors, engineers, scientists - creating skill shortages that can hurt businesses and public services. Employers now complain that it's hard to fill certain high-value positions in IT, healthcare, and engineering because so many qualified people emigrated (Greece's <u>reverse brain drain – POLITICO) (Greece's reverse brain drain –</u> POLITICO). This hinders the economy's ability to move into higherproductivity sectors (which typically pay better wages). Additionally, the brain drain exacerbates Greece's demographic problem - a shrinking and aging workforce - which undermines long-run competitiveness (<u>Greece's reverse brain drain - POLITICO</u>). Many of those who left were



in their prime working years and would be future entrepreneurs or innovators; their departure represents a loss of human capital investment (one report estimated Greece "exports" human capital worth €13 billion annually in GDP to the countries receiving its graduates (Greece's reverse brain drain - POLITICO)). The threat to economic dynamism is clear: without its best and brightest, wage and productivity growth in Greece could stay subdued.

#### 3.d Labor market policies going forward:

Reinvigorating wage growth and improving job quality will require deliberate policy shifts. One priority is to **strengthen collective bargaining and worker voice** in wage-setting, so that productivity gains translate into pay rises. As the economy grows and unemployment falls (now ~10%), conditions are ripe to gradually restore some bargaining structures. Encouraging sector-wide agreements (with safeguards for SMEs) and ensuring the minimum wage is reviewed regularly (and indexed to productivity or median wage) can help **lift** the wage floor. The government did raise the minimum wage by 9.5% in 2023, but further gradual increases may be needed to catch up with living costs - all while monitoring inflation impacts. Improving **job security and prospects** is another challenge. Enforcing labor laws to curb abuse of temporary contracts (e.g. limiting consecutive renewals), incentivizing firms to convert workers to permanent status, and expanding labor inspections to reduce off-the-books employment would protect workers. Active Labor Market Policies (ALMPs) like job training, apprenticeships in growth industries, and hiring subsidies for youth can reduce **youth unemployment** and ensure skills match employer needs. Notably, the EU Recovery and Resilience Facility (RRF) is funding programs to upskill the labor force (digital skills, green jobs), which could raise productivity (and hence wages) in the medium term (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy - investment gap and the financing of investment needs) (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy investment gap and the financing of investment needs).

To counter the brain drain, Greece has initiated "brain gain" efforts – for example, **tax incentives for returning professionals**, offering a 50% income tax break for seven years to expatriates who move back for work (<u>Greece to offer 50% tax break for returning professionals and</u> '<u>digital ...</u>). This policy aims to lure back talented Greeks by making net salaries more attractive. Some multinationals setting up in Greece (e.g. tech firms) have also started recruiting diaspora Greeks to return. **Improving working conditions and meritocracy** in workplaces will be key to retain and attract skilled workers – surveys showed many left not just for higher wages but due to frustration with corruption or lack of merit-based advancement at home (<u>Greece's</u>



<u>reverse brain drain - POLITICO</u>). Ultimately, raising wages sustainably will depend on boosting productivity and moving up the value chain. Policies to promote investment (see Section 6) and innovation are vital - if Greek workers can produce higher-value goods and services, employers can afford to pay them more. Conversely, if Greece remains stuck in low-productivity sectors like small-scale trade or low-end tourism, wages will stay low. Thus, labor policy and economic strategy must align to break out of the low-wage equilibrium.

# 4. Drivers for Housing Affordability and Real Estate Pressures

Alongside wage and price issues, housing has become a new flashpoint affecting quality of life in Greece. After the crisis-era collapse in property values, Greece's real estate market rebounded strongly in the late 2010s – fueled by foreign investment and tourism – to the point that many Greek residents are now priced out of decent housing. Rentals and home prices in cities like Athens have surged, straining especially young and middle-income Greeks. Key drivers include:

#### 4.a Foreign real estate investment (Golden Visas):

Greece's "Golden Visa" program (launched 2013) offered residency to non-EU nationals who invest in property (initially with a minimum of €250,000). The program attracted a wave of buyers from China, Russia, the Middle East, and elsewhere looking for EU residency. By 2022, Greece had issued over 10,000 Golden Visas, injecting billions into **urban real estate** - particularly in Athens neighborhoods and popular islands. This influx of foreign capital drove up property demand and prices in those areas, often beyond what local Greeks can afford. In prime districts of Athens, apartment prices climbed sharply as investors snapped up units to meet the visa threshold. Recognizing the issue, the government in 2023 raised the minimum investment to **€500,000** in Athens and other high-demand regions (Greece increases Golden Visa investment threshold - Times of India) (Golden Visa Rush as Greece Raises Investment Threshold to €800K), specifically to curb speculative buying and "free up" more housing for locals. By September 2024, the threshold was set to increase to €800,000 in certain areas (Golden Visa Rush as Greece Raises Investment Threshold to €800K). These moves aim to slow foreign-driven price inflation. However, the legacy remains: many Greeks saw home ownership drift out of reach as prices escalated. A generation that once expected to buy a flat in their 30s now faces either taking on large debts or delaying ownership indefinitely. Those who bought at the bottom of the market (often foreign investors or funds) have seen values double, while ordinary Greeks are stuck renting.



#### 4.b Short-term rentals and Airbnb:

At the same time, the explosion of Airbnb and other short-term rental platforms has transformed the rental market, especially in Athens and tourist destinations. Converting an apartment to Airbnb use became far more lucrative for owners than long-term renting to locals. As a result, thousands of rental units were withdrawn from the long-term market and listed for vacation rentals. By 2024, short-term rental beds in Greece exceeded hotel beds (over 1 million Airbnb/VRBO beds vs 887,000 hotel beds) (Athens limits short-term rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews) - a dramatic shift in housing usage (Athens limits short-term rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews) (Athens limits short-term <u>rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews</u>). The impact on residents has been stark: fewer apartments available for locals and higher rents on those that remain. Long-term rents in Athens have reportedly jumped by double-digit percentages in just a few years. Neighborhoods popular with tourists (e.g. Koukaki, Exarcheia, parts of Thessaloniki) have seen working-class residents **pushed out** as landlords cater to short-term visitors who pay a premium (Athens limits short-term rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews). Local tenants struggle with rent hikes or evictions so owners can Airbnb the units. This dynamic is a common story in many European cities, but in Athens - where incomes are low and the rental safety net thin (no rent control, minimal social housing) - the effect is acutely felt. Young Greeks and students find it increasingly difficult to rent affordably, even far from city centers. Greece historically had very high homeownership rates, but after the crisis and with tighter credit, more people must rent - and they face a crunch of high demand and low supply.

#### 4.c Housing affordability crisis:

The combination of these forces has led to a **housing affordability crisis**. By Eurostat metrics, Greece has one of the highest **housing cost overburden rates** in Europe – a large share of the population spends over 40% of disposable income on housing costs (<u>Inequality in</u> <u>Greece 2004 - 2020</u>). Social housing is almost non-existent (Greece effectively dismantled its social housing programs in past decades) (<u>Inequality in Greece 2004 - 2020</u>), so low-income families have little recourse if rents rise. Many young adults continue living with parents longer, not by choice but because independent housing is unaffordable. In Athens, the rent for a modest one-bedroom can easily exceed €500– 600, which on a €800-1000 monthly salary (typical for a young professional) leaves little for other expenses. Home prices in urban areas rose ~7-10% annually in 2021-2024 (<u>Greece's Residential Property</u>



<u>Market Analysis 2025</u>), outpacing income growth. Thus, the **dream of homeownership has faded** for many in their 20s and 30s. Even those with decent jobs may not qualify for mortgages under stricter post-crisis lending criteria, especially as prices rise. This erodes long-term financial security and prospects for wealth-building via home equity, which previous generations enjoyed. Moreover, **regional disparities** mean that while some rural or shrinking areas have cheap housing, jobs there are scarce – so people face a tough choice between affordable housing in a town with no work, or a job in the city with unaffordable rent.

#### 4.d Policy debate: rent controls and taxes:

These trends have spurred debate on possible government interventions. One idea floated is imposing **rent controls or caps** in high-pressure areas (as cities like Berlin and Barcelona have attempted). Proponents argue some form of rent freeze or regulated maximum rent increase could prevent gouging and keep housing attainable for locals. Critics warn that strict rent control can deter investment in new housing and lead to deterioration (landlords might neglect properties if returns are capped). Another approach is **taxing speculative property investments** – for example, a higher property tax on units left vacant or used solely as short-term rentals, or a surcharge on foreigners buying secondary homes. The Greek government's initial tactic has been regulatory: Athens authorities in 2025 put a one-year ban on new **short-term rental registrations** in the city (<u>Athens limits short-term</u> rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews), and introduced rules requiring professional licenses for those renting out more than 2 properties (Athens limits short-term rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews). The goal is to pause the Airbnb expansion and "ease rent pressures and increase housing availability" for permanent residents (Athens limits shortterm rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage Euronews). Additionally, the Golden Visa tightening is effectively a measure to curb speculative demand. Some economists suggest incentivizing owners to return units to the long-term rental market, perhaps via tax breaks or subsidies for long-term leases. On the supply side, Greece is considering reviving **affordable housing schemes** - e.g. public-private partnerships to build housing for rent below market rates to young families, or low-interest loan programs for first-time buyers. Indeed, a new program ("My Home") was launched offering subsidized mortgages to under-40s. While small in scale, it's a nod towards addressing young peoples' housing needs. International examples (like Vienna's social housing model or rent stabilization in France) are being studied for adaptation. Ensuring affordable housing for Greek citizens will likely require a mix of measures: stimulating



more housing construction (especially in urban centers), discouraging pure speculation, and protecting tenants from egregious rent hikes or evictions. Given that decent housing is fundamental to quality of life, this is now a critical arena where Greece's recovery must deliver tangible results.

# 5. Public Services, Infrastructure, and Welfare Limitations

A major complaint among Greeks is that after years of belt-tightening to fix public finances, **the quality of public services and social welfare has not noticeably improved**. In some cases, it has deteriorated. This is a direct outcome of how the fiscal stabilization was achieved and the constraints that remain:

#### 5.a Austerity's lasting impact:

To restore fiscal stability, Greece underwent unprecedented budget cutting between 2010 and 2017 - and the effects are still visible. Public spending was slashed by roughly 32% across sectors, with especially deep cuts in welfare and investment (Greece: Authorities must be held to account after austerity measures ...). Health care was hit hard: by 2017, government health expenditure had dropped 43% from pre-crisis levels (Greece: Authorities must be held to account after austerity measures ...). This led to hospital staff layoffs, salary cuts for doctors/nurses, shortages of medical supplies, and reduced services (some local clinics closed, and remaining hospitals lengthened wait times). Even after the crisis, health funding has not fully recovered, resulting in strained services during events like the COVID-19 pandemic (Europe's power price divide hits southeastern economies | Reuters). Similarly, education budgets were squeezed many schools saw cuts in operational funds, and universities struggled with reduced faculty hiring. Public infrastructure maintenance was deferred or canceled; for example, the railway system suffered from years of underinvestment, contributing to safety lapses.

#### 5.b Infrastructure quality in Greece now lags:

The World Economic Forum rankings show Greece behind EU peers in transport and utility infrastructure. Citizens feel this in everyday life – from pothole-ridden roads to antiquated trains and power grids prone to outages (highlighted by recent wildfires and floods straining the grid (<u>Greek economy surges after decade of pain | Reuters</u>)). In short, the austerity era left a legacy of **diminished public capacity**, which has not been fully rebuilt even as the economy stabilizes.



#### 5.c EU fiscal rules and limited fiscal space:

Greece remains under pressure to maintain disciplined finances due to its still-high public debt (roughly 170% of GDP). Under the EU's Stability Pact (though currently reformed) and post-bailout surveillance, Greece committed to primary budget surpluses - limiting how much it can increase public spending. Tight EU fiscal rules mean that even in good times, Greece can't sharply boost expenditures on welfare or services without offsetting cuts or risking penalties. Additionally, while the debt is mostly on favorable terms, the country must keep convincing markets and EU partners of its prudence. This has resulted in a cautious fiscal stance. For example, pensions - which were cut 10+ times during the crisis - have seen only modest partial restorations, as the government knows pension spending increases would draw scrutiny. Similarly, hiring in the public sector (teachers, doctors, civil servants) is tightly controlled to avoid ballooning the wage bill. The consequence is that **public services remain understaffed** and under-resourced. When the COVID crisis hit, Greece had one of the lowest ratios of ICU beds and doctors per capita in Europe, a reflection of years of constrained health budgets. In education, class sizes grew and new technology investments lagged. **EU funds** (like the Recovery and Resilience Facility) are helping some - e.g. modernizing digital services and infrastructure - but those are project-based and not always felt as improved day-to-day service quality yet.

#### 5.d Welfare state gaps:

Greece's social protection system has historically been skewed and, post-crisis, still redistributes less effectively than other EU countries. A striking feature is that the welfare system primarily focuses on pensions, with relatively fewer resources for unemployment, family support, or poverty relief (). Even after reforms, pensions take up over 50% of social spending. Meanwhile, crucial programs like minimum income support were introduced only late (the Guaranteed Minimum Income started in 2017). Unemployment benefits in Greece are limited in duration and amount – typically a flat amount (around €479 monthly (Inequality in Greece 2004 - 2020) (Inequality in Greece 2004 - 2020)) for at most 12 months, covering less than 1/3 of unemployed persons. Many jobless get no support after that, which during the crisis led to spikes in poverty. Family benefits and housing support are also quite meager. Child poverty is a concern - about 1 in 4 children are at risk of poverty or exclusion - yet spending on child/family benefits is low, and as noted, the system devotes "relatively few resources to combating child poverty" (). The taxbenefit system in Greece thus **does less to reduce inequality** compared to say France or Germany. Before taxes/transfers, Greece's income



inequality is near the EU average; after taxes/transfers, it remains high, meaning policy isn't correcting it much. For example, social transfers (excluding pensions) in Greece only reduce the at-risk-ofpoverty rate by a few percentage points, whereas in countries with robust welfare states they cut it by 10+ points. One reason is that direct taxes in Greece are not very progressive and tax evasion is widespread, so the wealthy don't contribute as much as they should. Another is that benefits are either not generous or not well-targeted. During the crisis, **safety nets were minimal** - a factor in the humanitarian crisis that saw homelessness and extreme poverty rise. Some improvement has occurred (the minimum income scheme, some rent subsidies, etc.), but Greece still spends under 1% of GDP on social **assistance** for the poor (versus 3-4% in many EU states). As a result, inequality and poverty remain stubborn: ~19% in relative poverty (), and Greece has one of Europe's highest rates of **persistent poverty** (people poor over multiple years) ().

#### 5.e Needed reforms in public services and welfare:

To truly raise quality of life, Greece must reinvest in its human capital and social infrastructure. This means allocating more budget to health, education, and social care - challenging under fiscal constraints but possible through prioritization and using EU support. Strengthening the healthcare system (e.g. hiring doctors and nurses, upgrading hospitals) would directly benefit well-being and resilience. Education needs investment in schools, teacher training, and digital resources to improve outcomes and skill development. In welfare, reforms could focus on expanding the **social safety net**: increasing the coverage and adequacy of unemployment benefits, child benefits, and poverty-targeted transfers. One obvious area is **housing support** - as noted, Greece basically lacks social housing and rent assistance; creating programs in these areas would alleviate pressure on lowincome families (the EU Recovery Plan includes funds for some social housing pilots). Additionally, better tax collection and broadening **the tax base** can fund welfare improvements - cracking down on untaxed income and wealth (e.g. via ongoing digitalization of tax systems ()) would allow more social spending without breaking fiscal rules. The **pension system**, while much reformed, still consumes large resources partly because of an aging population; policies to boost employment (especially among women and older workers) can improve the ratio of contributors to beneficiaries, easing the pension burden and freeing up fiscal space for other groups. Importantly, many of these changes align with EU recommendations - for instance, the European Commission has urged Greece to improve the efficiency and progressivity of its **tax-benefit system** to reduce inequality () (). Finally, investing in critical infrastructure (transport, green energy, broadband) through



available EU funds will not only enhance daily life (safer transportation, lower energy costs) but also create jobs and spur growth. In essence, **breaking out of austerity's shadow requires deliberate public investment in both people and infrastructure**, to turn the hard-won fiscal stability into visible improvements on the ground.

### 6. Breaking the Cycle – Policy Recommendations for Inclusive Growth

For Greece's economic recovery to truly succeed, it must become more inclusive – benefiting households, workers, and small businesses, not just balance sheets. This calls for a shift in policy focus: from solely macro stability to ensuring broad-based growth and shared prosperity. Below we outline key interventions and reforms that could help Greece break the vicious cycle of low incomes and high costs, and instead foster virtuous cycles of rising productivity, higher wages, and affordable living:

## a. Boost investment in high-value industries and diversify the economy:

Greece needs to reduce over-reliance on low-margin sectors (e.g. bulk tourism, traditional retail) by **developing higher-value sectors that** generate quality jobs. Encouraging foreign and domestic investment in areas like technology, renewable energy, advanced manufacturing, and knowledge-based services is crucial. Recent success stories - e.g. Microsoft's plan to build data centers near Athens, Pfizer's digital innovation hub in Thessaloniki, and Google's announced cloud infrastructure investment which could create 20,000 jobs (Google promises Greece 20K jobs with cloud expansion) (Google promises Greece <u>20K jobs with cloud expansion</u>) - show Greece's potential to attract tech investment. The government should build on these by streamlining red tape, offering targeted incentives, and ensuring a skilled talent **pool.** Initiatives like *Elevate Greece* (a startup support platform) and R&D tax credits are steps in the right direction. By broadening the economic base beyond tourism and shipping, Greece can create yearround, well-paid employment. In turn, this would curb the brain drain and possibly entice back some expatriates to fill new roles. Closing the investment gap (estimated at ~8% of GDP under-investment in the 2010s (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy - investment gap and the financing of investment needs)) will also require mobilizing EU funds (Greece is set to receive €30+ billion from the Recovery and Resilience Facility and cohesion funds) into productive public investments - upgrading logistics, power networks, and digital infrastructure that support private sector growth. Over time, a more



diversified, innovation-driven economy should yield higher productivity, allowing **sustainable increases in wages and living standards** (<u>Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy - investment gap and</u> <u>the financing of investment needs</u>) (<u>Yannis Stournaras: The Greek</u> <u>economy - investment gap and the financing of investment needs</u>).

## b. Enhance competition and fair market practices to reduce price disparities:

Breaking oligopolies and encouraging healthy competition will help align prices with European norms. The Hellenic Competition Commission should be empowered and resourced to proactively investigate and sanction anti-competitive practices in key consumer markets. For example, ensuring open access in food supply chains (so new supermarket entrants can access wholesale goods fairly) and monitoring energy providers for collusion. The government can also reduce barriers to entry for businesses (simplifying licensing, reducing bureaucratic hurdles) to spur more competition. At the EU level, Greece should continue pushing for measures against territorial supply constraints by multinationals (Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of elections | Reuters) (Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of elections | Reuters) - so Greek retailers can source products at similar prices as in other EU countries. Overcoming these constraints could significantly narrow the price gap on branded goods. In sectors like telecoms, fostering competition might involve auctioning spectrum to a new mobile operator or investing in municipal broadband to challenge incumbents. Regulatory oversight of pricing (e.g. requiring justification for unusually high markups) could be increased temporarily in sectors where "gray" oligopolies persist. While Greece is a relatively small market, leveraging the *collective* power of the EU single market (as Mitsotakis alluded to (Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of elections | Reuters)) can prevent companies from treating it as a captive market for high prices. If successful, these efforts would gradually bring down the cost of consumer goods and services, amplifying the benefit of any income gains.

## c. Strengthen labor institutions to ensure workers benefit from growth:

To make growth inclusive, labor policies must aim to **raise incomes and job security**, especially in higher productivity sectors. Rebuilding **collective bargaining** in a balanced way is important – for instance, reinstating sectoral agreements in industries that can support wage increases (like banking, tourism, manufacturing) while providing flexibility for struggling firms. The government can act as a



facilitator for social dialogue between employers and unions to negotiate moderate but steady wage hikes tied to productivity. Increasing the minimum wage further over a multi-year horizon (with input from an independent commission) can set expectations of rising pay floors. Improved labor rights - cracking down on excessive use of temporary contracts. ensuring full implementation of the 8-hour workday and overtime pay - would help convert precarious jobs into more stable employment. Greece might also explore modern industrial **policies** that tie incentives (like subsidies or tax breaks for companies via development laws) to job creation and decent wage standards in high-value sectors. This way, public support goes to firms that invest in their workforce. Additionally, continuing to invest in education and vocational training will equip Greek workers for better-paying jobs; aligning training programs with industry needs (as through apprenticeship schemes with tech companies or in renewable energy projects) is key. If workers have the skills in demand, their bargaining power - and wages - will rise. Reversing the brain drain also plays a role: as the economy offers more attractive opportunities, the hope is that talented Greeks stay or return, contributing to a virtuous cycle of innovation and higher productivity. Government incentives like the 50% tax break for returning professionals (Greece to offer 50% tax break for returning professionals and 'digital ...) and initiatives to connect the diaspora with local startups can gradually bring expertise back. Overall, by empowering workers and valuing skills, Greece can ensure the benefits of growth (higher profits, output) are shared through higher earnings and better job quality.

## d. Address cost-of-living through targeted interventions without jeopardizing stability:

While broad competition and economic reforms will help, **direct relief for the cost-of-living crisis** is also necessary for inclusiveness. The government can consider targeted VAT reductions or subsidies on essential goods – for example, temporary VAT cuts on basic food items (which Greece has resisted so far due to budget concerns) could be implemented with EU approval. Another idea is **bulk procurement or price agreements** for staples: using the state's leverage to negotiate lower prices for fuel or food (as was done with the "household basket" where retailers froze prices on certain products). Any such measures must be well-targeted to avoid large fiscal costs – e.g. VAT cuts only on essentials benefit the neediest most, and time-limited energy subsidies during crises can be funded by windfall taxes on energy firms (as Greece did in 2022). In housing, as discussed, a combination of regulation and incentives is needed. The government's recent moves to tame Airbnb proliferation (<u>Athens limits short-term rentals for one</u>



year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews) (Athens limits short-term rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage <u>Euronews</u>) and raise Golden Visa thresholds are positive; going forward, establishing some form of **rent control or stabilization** mechanism might be warranted if rents continue to outpace incomes. This could be a moderate policy like capping annual rent increases to inflation+1% for existing leases, which protects tenants from sudden surges while still allowing some increase. Meanwhile, expand housing supply: mobilize public land for affordable housing development, encourage private construction (which fell drastically in the 2010s) by cutting red tape, and perhaps mandate that a portion of new developments include affordable units. Ensuring that the young and vulnerable have access to housing is critical for social cohesion for example, without relief, many will delay starting families, worsening the demographic decline. Collaboration with private sector **and NGOs** (like affordable housing initiatives, rent voucher programs) could also help fill the gap in the short term. In summary, targeted cost-of-living policies can alleviate pressure on households while the **deeper reforms take effect** – maintaining social stability and public support for the broader reform agenda.

#### e. Roles of government, EU, and private sector:

Achieving inclusive growth in Greece will require a cooperative effort. The Greek government must lead with vision and commitment implementing reforms transparently, strengthening institutions (like justice and public administration, because reducing corruption and bureaucracy also boosts growth), and targeting public investments wisely. It should actively use EU technical assistance and best practices to design and execute policies (for instance, learning from how Portugal improved social inclusion post-crisis). The EU **institutions** have a supportive role: providing funding (through NextGenerationEU and structural funds), granting fiscal flexibility where warranted (allowing productive investments and social spending within the fiscal rules), and enforcing fair competition at the EU level so Greek consumers aren't exploited by cross-border corporates. The European Commission's monitoring can emphasize not just fiscal targets but also social targets (like poverty reduction, as part of the EU Social Pillar). The **private sector** in Greece also has a responsibility. Businesses benefited from labor cost cuts and structural reforms; now they need to invest and raise productivity, not simply enjoy higher margins. Greek firms should embrace innovation, training, and fair pay - realizing that well-paid employees can also be more productive and contribute to domestic demand. The banking sector, having been recapitalized, should increase lending to SMEs and entrepreneurs to fuel growth. Labor unions and



**civil society** will remain key stakeholders – their input can help ensure that reforms consider social impacts (for instance, unions negotiating skill development programs, or consumer groups helping design anti-inflation measures). If each plays their part, the economy can grow in a way that **delivers tangible benefits to the population at large**, not just to a few.

## f. Retaining young talent and reversing the brain drain:

Finally, Greece must focus on its human capital - nurturing it at home and drawing back what was lost. This means creating an environment where young educated Greeks see a future: merit-based hiring and promotion (tackling nepotism in both public and private sectors), vibrant sectors to work in, and a good quality of life in cities (efficient transport, cultural vitality, less pollution). Programs to connect Greek researchers and professionals abroad with opportunities in Greece can help - for example, the creation of research centers or startup incubators that specifically recruit diaspora talent. Some progress is visible: as the economy stabilizes, anecdotal reports say a trickle of expats are returning for new jobs or to start businesses (the so-called "brain regain" (<u>Greek Brain Regain: How Greece is</u> Winning Back Its Lost Talent)). Policies like the tax break for returnees (Greece to offer 50% tax break for returning professionals and 'digital ...) and a new digital nomad visa (to attract remote workers to live - and spend - in Greece) enhance the country's appeal. Yet retention is just as critical: invest in education and careers at home. The government's plan to spend a sizable chunk of EU recovery funds on digital transformation and R&D can create modern jobs that entice STEM graduates to stay. Additionally, improving public services (as above) will make living in Greece more attractive relative to emigrating - for instance, if someone sees that they can have a stable career, decent healthcare, and raise a family comfortably in Greece, they are less likely to move to Germany or Australia. Over time, keeping talent onshore will raise the economy's innovative capacity, leading to higher growth - truly a virtuous cycle.

Why it matters: Greece's hard-won economic stability will be hollow if it does not translate into better lives for its citizens. The social fabric was tested during the crisis; ensuring that the recovery is felt by all is crucial to restore public trust and hope. If wages remain low, prices high, and public services poor, Greece risks a lost generation and persistent social discontent – even if debt and deficits are under control. On the other hand, if inclusive growth is achieved, Greece can turn the page on the crisis era: combining fiscal health with a society that is prospering, equitable, and forward-


looking. This would not only uplift millions of Greeks but also strengthen Greece's long-term economic potential (as healthier, financially secure, well-educated citizens are the backbone of a productive economy). In summary, **the next chapter of Greece's recovery must focus on inclusion** – ensuring that GDP growth, investment inflows, and credit upgrades lead to higher incomes, affordable living costs, and improved welfare for Greek households. The policy roadmap above charts a path to break the vicious cycle and create an economy that works for everyone. It is an ambitious agenda, but with political will and support from European partners, Greece can convert its financial stability into **tangible prosperity for its people**, truly overcoming the shadows of the past crisis.

#### Sources:

- Hellenic Statistical Authority (ELSTAT) national accounts and income data.
- Bank of Greece, Note on the Greek Economy (Jan 2025) analysis of investment gap (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy – investment gap and the financing of investment needs) (Yannis Stournaras: The Greek economy – investment gap and the financing of investment needs).
- Eurostat comparative price level indices (e.g. communications prices (<u>How communication prices vary across the EU - Products</u> <u>Eurostat News - Eurostat</u>)), poverty rates ().
- Reuters news reports e.g. "Greek economy surges after decade of pain" (Greek economy surges after decade of pain | Reuters) (Greek economy surges after decade of pain | Reuters); "Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices" (Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of elections | Reuters) (Greek PM urges EU to tackle high prices ahead of elections | Reuters); "Europe's power price divide hits SE economies" (Europe's power price divide hits southeastern economies | Reuters).
- PressProject.gr "Greek consumers face higher milk and egg prices than Sweden and Germany" (Sep 2024) (Greek consumers face higher milk and egg prices than Sweden and Germany, despite lower wages - The Press Project - Ειδήσεις, Αναλύσεις, Ραδιόφωνο, Τηλεόραση) (Greek consumers face higher milk and egg prices than Sweden and Germany, despite lower wages - The Press Project -Ειδήσεις, Αναλύσεις, Ραδιόφωνο, Τηλεόραση).



- Politico "Greece's reverse brain drain" (Feb 2020) (Greece's reverse brain drain – POLITICO) (Greece's reverse brain drain – POLITICO).
- Sustainable Governance Indicators 2024 Greece report (Bertelsmann Stiftung) () ().
- Institute for Fiscal Studies *"Inequality in Greece 2004-2021"* (Nov 2023) (<u>A Race to the Bottom: Measuring Income Loss and</u> <u>Poverty in Greece</u>) (<u>Inequality in Greece 2004 - 2020</u>).
- Amnesty International "Austerity's impact on Greek health care" (2020) (Greece: Authorities must be held to account after austerity measures ...).
- Euronews "Athens limits short-term rentals to alleviate housing shortage" (Athens limits short-term rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews) (Athens limits shortterm rentals for one year in bid to alleviate housing shortage | Euronews).
- OECD and IMF reports on Greece labor market reforms, taxbenefit policy.

## D. Rethinking Greece's Economic Development: Towards a Decentralized, Innovation-Driven Economy

### **1. Decentralizing Economic Growth Beyond Athens**

Greece's economy is highly centralized in its capital. Nearly half of the population resides in the greater Athens/Attica region, which accounts for only about 4% of the country's land area (Millet News: **#University of Thessaly**). This overconcentration has significant consequences. Athens faces soaring real estate costs and strained infrastructure as it absorbs people and activity. The capital region now hosts roughly 40% of Greece's people and an even larger share of its cars - about 60% of all private vehicles are registered in Athens and its surroundings (Athens overconcentration calls for urgent measures | eKathimerini.com). The result is chronic traffic congestion and pressure on public services. Housing affordability has suffered too: the vast majority of Greeks who rent in urban areas spend over 40% of their disposable income on housing ('All my wage goes to the house': A rental crisis brews in Greece), a level that squeezes household budgets and pushes younger residents into smaller flats or farther outskirts. While big cities can be engines of growth, Athens'



overcrowding and high costs may actually dampen productivity due to long commutes, pollution, and diminishing quality of life.

Meanwhile, Greece's regions struggle with depopulation and underinvestment. As Athens grew, many rural towns and smaller cities stagnated. Young people flocked to the capital (or went abroad), leaving behind aging communities. **Demographic Consequences:** Between the 2011 and 2021 censuses, 12 out of Greece's 13 regions lost population (<u>Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as</u> <u>an Existential Threat – China-CEE Institute</u>). The only region that grew was the South Aegean (home to some tourism-heavy islands), while much of the country's interior saw declines. This imbalance drains talent from rural areas and concentrates human capital in one megacity. It also exacerbates Greece's broader demographic crisis of low birth rates and an aging population. With fewer job opportunities outside Athens, rural youth have little incentive to stay and start families. The capital's dominance can thus become self-perpetuating, as it attracts even more resources at the expense of the periphery.

#### 1.a Opportunities of Redistributing Activity:

Rethinking this model by boosting regional cities and the countryside offers multiple benefits. Diversifying economic growth geographically can relieve Athens' overcrowding (improving livability and sustainability in the capital) while unlocking the potential of underutilized areas. Medium-sized cities like Thessaloniki, Patras, Larissa, or Heraklion could become new poles of growth if investment is steered their way. These cities often have universities or industrial bases that could be expanded. Spreading out growth would also make housing more affordable overall - for example, the cost of living in provincial cities or villages is markedly lower than in Athens, allowing salaries to stretch further. A family that might struggle with Athens rents could afford a larger home in a regional town. improving their quality of life. In turn, this could encourage higher birth rates, aiding Greece's demographic renewal. Moreover, less concentrated development means infrastructure (roads, utilities, broadband) can be utilized more evenly, and the country is less vulnerable to a single city's bottlenecks or shocks.

#### 1.b Challenges to Decentralization:

However, shifting economic activity beyond Athens is not straightforward. Athens holds a large share of Greece's GDP and the headquarters of most major companies, creating strong network effects. High-skilled jobs, cultural amenities, and services are heavily clustered in the capital. Professionals can be reluctant to relocate to smaller markets if they fear fewer career opportunities or social



options. Businesses, likewise, may worry about finding talent outside the capital or about the infrastructure quality in remote areas. Decades of centralization have also meant that some regions lack the transport links or advanced healthcare/education facilities that modern workers and firms expect. Overcoming these hurdles requires deliberate policy interventions and investments to make regional locations attractive and viable. Crucially, Greece will need to improve connectivity – both digital and physical – so that operating from a provincial city or an island is not a disadvantage.

#### 1.c Leveraging Remote Work and Digital Nomads:

The rise of remote and hybrid work models since the COVID-19 pandemic is a game-changer for geographic distribution. If people can "work from anywhere," many will choose locations based on quality of life and cost, rather than proximity to a corporate office. This trend creates an opening for Greece to encourage movement to the countryside and smaller islands. In fact, the government has already launched initiatives to attract digital nomads and remote employees from abroad, highlighting the country's sun, sea, and lifestyle. In 2021, Greece introduced a special **digital nomad visa** and a generous tax incentive: a 50% income tax cut for up to seven years for professionals who move their tax residence to Greece (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters). The aim is not only to draw foreign remote workers but also to lure back some of the ~800,000 young Greeks who left during the 2010s debt crisis (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters). As Tourism Minister Harry Theoharis put it, "If you can work from anywhere, why not work from Greece?" - citing an estimate that 100,000 remote workers staying half a year would inject €1.6 billion into the economy (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters). This policy signals that Greece is serious about embracing the "work-from-home" revolution to benefit its economy.

Early responses show both promise and areas to improve. Some remote workers have indeed set up in scenic parts of Greece – an example being freelancers living on islands like Syros or Rhodes, enjoying low COVID rates and good weather while maintaining their jobs online (<u>Sun,</u> <u>sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads |</u> <u>Reuters</u>) (<u>Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital</u> <u>nomads | Reuters</u>). However, many digital nomads currently stay only briefly, citing challenges like slow Wi-Fi and bureaucratic hurdles for longer-term residency (<u>Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for</u> <u>Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>). Greece ranks near the bottom of the EU's Digital Economy and Society Index for connectivity and



digital public services, reflecting years of underinvestment in IT infrastructure (<u>Sun</u>, <u>sea</u> and <u>cybernauts</u>: <u>the long road for Greece's</u> <u>digital nomads | Reuters</u>). To truly leverage remote work nationwide, **upgrading digital infrastructure** is essential. The government has recognized this in its Recovery and Resilience Plan ("Greece 2.0"), which dedicates billions to improving broadband access and rolling out 5G networks across the country (<u>Sun</u>, <u>sea</u> and <u>cybernauts</u>: <u>the long road</u> <u>for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>). High-speed internet needs to reach even the smaller islands and mountain villages to make remote working feasible there. Initiatives are underway – for instance, Greece began its 5G rollout in late 2020 and is extending fiber optic networks as part of its 2021-2027 National Broadband Plan (<u>Sun</u>, <u>sea</u> and <u>cybernauts</u>: <u>the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>) (<u>JUL 24-</u>).

### 1.d Making Rural Living Attractive:

Beyond connectivity, a combination of smart policies can tilt the scales toward rural relocation. Tax incentives are one tool: Greece's income tax break for relocators is a start (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters), and further incentives could target Greek citizens who move from Athens to a province (for example, reduced local property taxes or business tax credits in rural municipalities). Another approach is direct relocation grants or housing support. Other countries offer examples: **Portugal** launched an "Inland Employment" scheme providing up to €4,800 to workers moving to remote areas - roughly enough to cover a year's rent on a small house in the countryside (These countries are paying people to move to the countryside | World Economic Forum). Ireland unveiled grants and tax breaks to draw workers to villages as part of its "Our Rural Future" policy, alongside a €1 billion fund to create 400 remote-working hubs in town halls, old cinemas, and other facilities across rural Ireland (These countries are paying people to move to the countryside | World Economic Forum). Such hubs, equipped with high-speed internet and co-working spaces, allow remote employees or freelancers to have an office environment and community even in a small town. Greece could emulate this by converting unused public buildings (perhaps empty schools or postal offices in villages) into telework centers, enabling local and incoming remote workers to collaborate and access services.

Improvements to public services in the regions are also pivotal. Families will be more willing to move to a small town if they trust the local schools, healthcare, and transportation. This might mean investing in e-learning and telemedicine programs so that even a village has access to quality education and healthcare via digital



means. It also means maintaining good roads and maybe expanding reliable inter-city transport (e.g. more frequent buses or rail links between Athens/Thessaloniki and smaller cities). **Housing programs** can help as well – Greece has many villages with semi-abandoned housing stock; renovation grants or low-interest loans could entice young families to fix up traditional homes for modern living. Notably, some local Greek communities have taken initiative: the tiny island of *Antikythera* (population just a few dozen) made headlines by offering families a monthly stipend of  $\notin$ 500, plus free housing and food, to relocate there (<u>17 places around the world that will pay you to move</u> <u>in</u>). This kind of local incentive, backed by the Church and municipality, aimed to repopulate the island's school and revive its economy. While symbolic, it shows the lengths to which rural areas are willing to go to attract newcomers.

In summary, decentralizing growth beyond Athens will require a multipronged strategy. By improving infrastructure, offering financial incentives, and leveraging the new acceptance of remote work, Greece can begin to redistribute economic activity. The goal is to create a virtuous cycle: as more professionals and businesses set up in regional centers, those places become more attractive to others, gradually narrowing the gap with the capital. Over time, a more balanced urban-rural population would ease Athens' overheating problems (traffic, high rents) and inject new life into provincial Greece, making the economy more resilient and inclusive.

# 2. Identifying High-Potential Growth Sectors for Greece's Future

To support a more distributed economy, Greece must also diversify what drives its growth. The country's traditional economic pillars tourism and shipping - are significant globally but have limitations. Tourism is highly seasonal and concentrated in specific locales, and it can be volatile (as seen during the pandemic). Shipping is capitalintensive but doesn't create large employment on Greek soil beyond certain port cities. Neither industry alone provides enough highskilled jobs for Greece's educated youth across all regions. Thus, developing new high-value sectors is crucial for long-term prosperity. Greece has an opportunity to build on its human capital and geographic strengths to become a player in sectors like agritech, health and biotechnology, fintech, artificial intelligence, and clean energy. These industries can provide quality jobs, attract investment, and crucially, they are not bound to Athens - with the right infrastructure, a biotech lab or a solar tech company could operate in Thessaly or Crete just as well as in the capital.

#### 2.a Agritech and Food Innovation:

Greece's agricultural sector has room for productivity gains and value-addition. Rural Greece is dotted with farms producing olives, grapes, dairy, and other Mediterranean staples, yet farming often relies on traditional methods and faces challenges like water scarcity and small farm sizes. Embracing agricultural technology (AgriTech) could revolutionize this sector. For instance, precision irrigation systems, drones for crop monitoring, and AI-driven analytics can help farmers increase yields and adapt to climate change. Countries like **Israel** have become world leaders in agritech, pioneering drip irrigation and desert agriculture to "make the desert bloom." Greece can learn from such models to optimize its own agriculture. There are already small signs of innovation - e.g., pilot projects in smart greenhouse farming, and startups exploring blockchain for food traceability - but scaling these will require support in training farmers and financing new equipment. Beyond primary production, Greece can expand food processing and agri-food biotech (such as developing high-quality Greek food products, nutraceuticals, or even cultured dairy innovations) which could be set up in regions close to the raw materials. The agritech sector would naturally be based in rural areas and could create tech jobs outside the big cities, while also boosting Greece's food exports.

#### 2.b Healthtech and Biotechnology:

Greece produces a strong number of medical and life science graduates. and the Greek diaspora includes prominent biomedical researchers. This talent base can underpin a healthtech/biotech sector at home. There are promising developments: for example, pharmaceutical giant Pfizer chose Thessaloniki (Greece's second city) to establish a global Digital Innovation Hub focused on digital health and artificial intelligence in medicine. This Pfizer center, opened in 2021, plans to employ around 200 specialized scientists and is expected to contribute an estimated €650 million to the local economy (Pfizer CEO Albert Bourla Expresses His Deep Love For Thessaloniki ...) ([PDF] Albert Bourla - National Journal). The fact that Pfizer's CEO is a Thessaloniki native (Albert Bourla) helped, but it also underscores the city's potential to host high-tech endeavors. Following Pfizer. other multinationals like Deloitte and Cisco have also launched technology centers in Thessaloniki, creating a mini tech cluster there. These investments show Greece can attract top-tier R&D work.

The government is also investing in home-grown innovation: a new €200 million fund (EquiFund II) has been announced to support startups in life sciences, health, and sustainability (<u>Greece's innovation economy</u> <u>expanding through new programs, initiatives-</u>) (<u>Greece's innovation</u>



economy expanding through new programs, initiatives- ). This fund-offunds, backed by EU and national money, will inject capital into biotech and healthtech ventures, which often require substantial R&D spending. With such support, research institutes and university spinoffs in places like Athens, Crete, and Ioannina can develop cuttingedge biomedical solutions - whether that's new pharmaceuticals, medical devices, or health software. Greece has already seen biotech success in the past (for instance, **Biohellenika** in Thessaloniki for stem cell banking, or **ElpEN** in pharmaceutical R&D). By scaling these efforts and encouraging links between hospitals, universities, and entrepreneurs, Greece could position itself as a regional hub for medical innovation. Importantly, healthtech companies do not all need to be in Athens; they tend to cluster around medical schools or research centers, which exist in other cities too (e.g., University of Patras or Crete's Foundation for Research and Technology). Supporting those regional centers with funding and incubators will spread the industry's footprint.

### 2.c Fintech and Digital Finance:

Financial technology is an area where Greece has already produced notable successes, indicating future potential. One flagship example is **Viva Wallet**, an Athens-founded digital payments provider that in 2022 became Greece's first unicorn startup. Viva Wallet secured a valuation over €1.5 billion after JPMorgan acquired a significant stake in the company (<u>Will 2022 be the breakthrough year for Greek</u> <u>startups?</u> Sifted). This demonstrated that a Greek startup can scale to international level in a high-value sector. Other fintech or software startups from Greece have made their mark globally: *Beat* (formerly Taxibeat), a ride-hailing app born in Athens, was acquired by Daimler; *Workable*, an HR tech SaaS company, has grown internationally; *Skroutz* (an e-commerce platform) dominates the local market; and *Persado*, an AI marketing firm with Greek roots, operates globally. Many of these started in Athens, but importantly they show a path beyond tourism for Greek entrepreneurship.

To foster fintech and related digital industries further, Greece can capitalize on its relatively high educated workforce and improving digital infrastructure. The startup ecosystem in Athens is growing robustly – in 2021 Greek startups raised over €500 million, a record high, tripling the investment from just a year before (<u>Will 2022 be</u> the breakthrough year for Greek startups?| Sifted) (<u>Will 2022 be the</u> breakthrough year for Greek startups?| Sifted). This momentum is attracting international VC attention. The challenge now is to ensure this ecosystem also benefits other cities. Initiatives like **Elevate Greece**, the government's startup platform, and accelerator programs



(some funded by EU money) should include regional outreach and incubation nodes in cities like Patras, Thessaloniki, and Volos. For instance, **OK!Thess** in Thessaloniki is an accelerator nurturing local startups, and Patras Science Park hosts tech companies spun out of academia. These hubs need to be connected in a national network so that a fintech startup could just as easily grow in Thessaloniki (with its large banking and student population) as in Athens. Removing regulatory barriers will also help fintechs scale - Greece has been simplifying procedures to start businesses and improving its ranking in ease-of-doing-business, but further streamlining licensing (especially in finance and biotech, which are heavily regulated) will encourage more entrepreneurs to take the leap. Moreover, continuing to incentivize foreign tech companies to invest in Greece (as with Microsoft's upcoming cloud data centers in Attica, or Amazon Web Services opening a Greek office) can create an ecosystem where local fintech/AI firms find clients and partners.

#### 2.d Artificial Intelligence and Digital Innovation:

Embracing AI and advanced digital tech is a cornerstone of an innovation-driven economy. Greece has made notable strides in this area in recent years. By mid-2024, Greece was home to 188 AI-focused **startups**, which is the second-highest count in all of Central and Eastern Europe - about 17.5% of the region's AI startups, trailing only Poland (Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024) (Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024). These companies work on machine learning, computer vision, robotics, and other AI subfields. In 2024 alone, Greek AI startups raised over €123 million in funding (<u>Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups</u> in CEE for 2024), attracting global investors like Andreessen Horowitz and others to back local ventures (Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024). This is impressive growth, considering Greece was not long ago seen as a tech laggard. Government support has played a role: initiatives like a new €250,000 startup visa (Golden Visa option) aimed at tech investors, and partnerships between academia and industry, have helped stimulate the AI sector (Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024).

One milestone was the launch of **"Meltemi"**, Greece's first large-scale Greek language AI model, by the Athens Research & Innovation Center in 2023 (<u>Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024</u>). This kind of homegrown R&D shows capability in cutting-edge tech. Furthermore, Greece is plugged into European efforts: it was selected as one of the hosts for the EU's new **AI Factories** program. Specifically, a consortium of Greek research institutions (the National Center for Scientific Research *"Demokritos"*, the "Athena"



Research Center, NTUA, etc.) is leading **Pharos**, Greece's AI Factory, which will focus on AI applications in **healthcare**, **culture/language**, **and sustainability (energy, environment)** (<u>4 CEE Countries Will Become Home to EU's AI Factories</u>) (<u>4 CEE Countries Will Become Home to EU's</u> <u>AI Factories</u>). This project, supported by combined EU and national funds, will deploy AI-optimized supercomputing infrastructure in Greece and position the country as a southern European hub for AI R&D. The fact that Europe chose Greece (initially the only CEE country in the first round of AI Factory hosts) indicates confidence in its progress (<u>4 CEE Countries Will Become Home to EU's AI Factories</u>) (<u>4</u> <u>CEE Countries Will Become Home to EU's AI Factories</u>).

The AI and broader tech sector has the advantage that work can often be done remotely or in a decentralized way - a software team can be based in a picturesque town if connectivity is good. We already see examples of tech talent spreading out: *Ioannina*, a mid-sized city in Epirus, has in recent years attracted major software companies. German software firm **TeamViewer** established a research and development hub in Ioannina, and another German IT company, **P&I**, is also operating from the Science and Technology Park of Epirus (Ioannina: The high-tech hub of Southern Europe) (Ioannina: The high-tech hub of Southern Europe). These investments have turned Ioannina into a growing tech hub; the region even launched a second high-technology park to meet demand after the success of the first (Ioannina: The high-tech hub of Southern Europe). In a striking acknowledgment, Germany's ARD media referred to Ioannina as "the Silicon Valley of Europe" (perhaps hyperbolically) when reporting on its tech cluster emergence (Ioannina: The high-tech hub of Southern Europe). This goes to show that with the right focus (in this case, leveraging local university talent and offering a good quality of life), even a historically economically weak region can become an innovation center. Greece can replicate such models in other regions - for example, Crete has strong institutes in computing and robotics (FORTH in Heraklion), Thessaly could build on its agricultural university to grow an agritech cluster. etc.

### 2.e Clean Energy and Climate Tech:

Another high-potential sector for Greece is clean energy and environmental technology. Greece's geography gives it abundant **renewable energy resources** – intense sunlight, strong winds (especially in the Aegean), and geothermal potential. Transitioning to a green economy is not only a climate imperative but also an opportunity to create new industries and jobs across various regions. The country has set ambitious goals to phase out coal and dramatically expand renewables. In Western Macedonia (northern Greece), long known



as the lignite (brown coal) heartland, all lignite-fired power plants are being shut by 2028 (the example of the lignite phase-out in Western Macedonia). To replace the economic activity, the government and EU have designated this area for a major clean energy transformation. In April 2022, Greece inaugurated its largest solar power plant - 204 MW - near Kozani in Western Macedonia, built on a former coal mine site (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org) (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org). This is part of a planned **3 GW solar PV buildout** in the lignite regions, aiming to turn the "Valley of Tears" (as locals called the depleted coal zone) into one of Europe's biggest solar power centers (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org) (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org). Nationally, a new renewables law targets 15 GW of new clean energy capacity by 2030 (Harnessing the power of the sun <u>in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org</u>), which is an enormous increase that will require solar parks, wind farms, and energy storage installations across Greece. For instance, there are plans for over 2.5 GW of solar just in the former coal region alone (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org). Such projects will bring investment and jobs to areas far from Athens (e.g., Western Macedonia, parts of the Peloponnese, and many islands where diesel generators will be replaced by renewables).

The clean energy push also spurs related tech sectors: energy storage **solutions** (batteries, pumped hydro, etc.), smart grid and energy management software, and electric mobility infrastructure. Greece could become a testbed for innovative solutions like island microgrids or underwater energy interconnections in the Aegean. Already, some Greek startups focus on clean-tech, and foreign investors are eyeing Greece for large wind and solar installations. If Greece pairs its natural advantages with R&D - for example, partnering Greek universities with companies to research improved photovoltaic panels or wind turbine materials - it can capture more value in this sector. The government's Just Transition Plan explicitly aims to turn Western Macedonia into an "alternative clean energy hub" and to promote new industries around green technology in other affected areas (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out) (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phaseout). Likewise, it plans to support **bio-economy and circular economy** projects in places like Megalopolis (another former coal town) (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out). These policies indicate a strategy to generate high-tech jobs (in

design, engineering, manufacturing of clean tech components) in regions that need economic renewal.

#### 2.f Barriers to Scaling New Industries:

While these sectors are promising, Greece faces several obstacles in turning them into major pillars of the economy. One is **funding** innovation-driven industries require significant investment, and for years Greek businesses struggled to obtain capital due to the financial crisis. This is improving with EU recovery funds and a more stable banking system, but growth capital (especially for scaling startups from mid-size to large) is still not as plentiful in Greece as in Western Europe or the US. Programs like EquiFund (an EU-backed VC fund initiative) have helped dozens of startups, and now a second iteration is coming (Greece's innovation economy expanding through new programs, initiatives- ) (Greece's innovation economy expanding through new programs, initiatives- ). Continued support and perhaps attracting international venture funds to set up offices in Greece will be important to ensure entrepreneurs across the country can get financing. Another barrier is the **regulatory and bureaucratic environment**. Greece has historically ranked low in ease of doing business due to red tape. For instance, obtaining permits or even simple tasks like opening a business bank account can be slow. A returning Greek professional noted having to wade through "layers and layers of red tape" for things like getting a military service exemption and setting up basic administrative necessities when moving back to Greece (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters). This bureaucracy can discourage both local entrepreneurs and foreign investors. The government has been streamlining procedures (digitizing many services, creating one-stop shops for business setup), but further reform is needed, especially in complex areas like pharma approval, fintech licensing, or patent processes, which are crucial for the sectors discussed.

**Talent and Skills:** Another constraint is talent availability – somewhat paradoxically, because Greece has a highly educated workforce, but many skilled individuals left during the brain drain years. Those who remain may need upskilling to meet the demands of cutting-edge industries. The educational system in the past didn't strongly link with industry needs, resulting in skill mismatches. To align education with emerging industries, Greece's universities and technical institutes are beginning to offer more programs in IT, AI, and renewable energy engineering. The Ministry of Education can further promote STEM fields and partnerships with businesses (such as internship programs and incubators on campus). Encouragingly, the country is catching up on digital skills among its populace –



according to the EC's latest "Digital Decade" report, Greece has made "enormous progress" on broadband and high-value startups, nearing or even exceeding EU averages in some indicators (JUL 24-). Also, specific initiatives like coding bootcamps and AI research fellowships are developing a tech talent pipeline. The Greek diaspora is a huge asset in this regard as well: with over 5 million Greeks abroad (many in tech sectors in the US and UK) (The Greek Diaspora's Role in the Innovation Ecosystem), there's an opportunity to entice some of them back or have them mentor local teams. In fact, diaspora-founded startups have attracted billions in investment, and networks like Endeavor Greece are actively connecting diaspora investors with Greek companies (The Greek Diaspora's Role in the Innovation Ecosystem) (The <u>Greek Diaspora's Role in the Innovation Ecosystem</u>). By leveraging this global Greek network, the country can overcome some domestic talent gaps - e.g., bringing in experienced Greek executives from abroad to lead new ventures or setting up joint research projects.

In conclusion, Greece's future economic success depends on moving into *higher-value, innovation-driven sectors*. Agritech, healthtech/biotech, fintech/AI, and clean energy are all areas where Greece has *competitive advantages* or urgent needs – fertile ground for growth. The key is to create an ecosystem that supports innovation: funding, friendly regulations, talent development, and infrastructure. If done right, these industries will not only boost GDP but do so in a geographically inclusive way, providing quality jobs in regions that need them and integrating Greece into the global technology economy.

# 3. The Role of Technology and Remote Work in Economic Decentralization

Technology is both the enabler and the product of a decentralized, modern economy. To spread economic activity across Greece, technology must be leveraged in two ways: (a) as a tool to allow work and business operations independent of location (through digital connectivity and remote-work platforms), and (b) as a growth sector itself that can flourish outside the traditional industrial centers. We have touched on the latter in the context of innovation hubs sprouting in places like Ioannina and Thessaloniki. Here, we focus on how remote work and digital infrastructure can directly facilitate the geographic rebalancing of Greece's economy, and what lessons can be drawn from other countries' experiences in attracting mobile talent.

#### 3.a Expanding Digital Infrastructure Nationwide:

Ubiquitous high-speed internet is the cornerstone of a remote-workfriendly environment. Greece has historically lagged in internet speeds and digital access, but improvements are underway. The country's Recovery and Resilience Plan allocates €6.4 billion to digital transformation projects (<u>Greece Digital Transformation plan</u>), including expanding fiber optics and 5G networks to under-served areas (<u>Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads</u>] <u>Reuters</u>). 5G service has already been launched in Athens and Thessaloniki and is gradually extending to smaller cities. The aim is to eliminate the urban-rural digital divide by providing villages with broadband connections that can handle video conferencing, cloud computing, and other remote work essentials. According to the European Commission, Greece's progress on broadband has been significant and is now closing the gap with EU averages (<u>JUL 24-</u>). As this infrastructure builds out, the practical constraints that once tethered professionals to Athens (like needing reliable internet or modern IT services) will diminish.

Additionally, public digital services are being upgraded (e.g., the gov.gr portal offers many bureaucratic processes online now), which helps people living far from big cities access government and banking services without travel. For remote workers, the combination of good home internet and nearby co-working hubs is ideal. **Co-working spaces** have started appearing outside Athens - for instance, on islands such as Crete and Rhodes there are now co-working facilities to support the digital nomad community (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for <u>Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>). The island of Madeira in Portugal created a "Digital Nomad Village" which has inspired Greek locales: Rhodes responded by launching a Digital Nomads Observatory to study and attract this demographic, and Crete advertised a "Work & Paradise" program offering poolside villas as work locations (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters) (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads <u>Reuters</u>). These efforts show an understanding that infrastructure is not just cables and signal towers, but also physical spaces and community support for remote workers. Going forward, Greece could establish a network of certified remote work hubs (with guaranteed high-speed Wi-Fi, office amenities, and maybe childcare) across all regions, so that a remote employee moving to, say, Arcadia or Evros can plug into a professional environment easily.

#### 3.b Global Lessons in Attracting Remote Workers:

The competition for digital nomads and remote professionals is heating up worldwide. Several countries have rolled out welcome mats in the form of **special visas, tax breaks, and even cash incentives**. We've mentioned Portugal and Ireland's rural relocation grants (<u>These</u> <u>countries are paying people to move to the countryside | World</u> <u>Economic Forum</u>) (<u>These countries are paying people to move to the</u>



For Greece, which already has attractive lifestyle features (climate, culture, lower cost of living relative to Northern Europe), it's about removing barriers and sweetening the deal. The **digital nomad visa** introduced in 2021 is a good start, allowing non-EU remote workers to reside in Greece for a year (extendable) relatively easily (Work From Greece: Become Digital Nomad in Greece). Coupled with the 50% income tax exemption for seven years for those who transfer their tax residency to Greece (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for <u>Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>), the country stands out in Europe for generous terms (for comparison, Estonia's e-residency eases business setup but doesn't give tax breaks: Spain's new remote work visa taxes nomads at 15% flat rate; Croatia and others have various minor benefits). Greece essentially lets you pay half the normal tax rate, which is a significant draw given its top bracket is ~44% (Digital nomads in Greece: remote work visa and taxes). Early media coverage from CNBC and Bloomberg highlighted Greece's bold move to slash taxes to lure the "work-from-anywhere crowd" (Greece to offer 50% income tax cut to lure remote workers during ...). This has put Greece on the radar of remote professionals. Communities like Digital Nomads Athens (a Facebook group) have grown to thousands of members from around the world (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for <u>Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>). The interest is there, but to



convert interest into long-term relocation, Greece must maintain momentum in improving the practical living and working conditions for these individuals.

One lesson from others is to create a **streamlined one-stop process** for remote workers – that means easy visa processing, clear rules on taxes, and support in finding housing. Some feedback so far: remote workers praised Greece's lifestyle but noted bureaucratic pain points like inflexible visa rules and difficulty with paperwork (<u>Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>). Simplifying the administration (perhaps a dedicated helpdesk for digital nomads, offering guidance on visas, bank account setup, etc.) could help. Another lesson is building community. Remote workers can feel isolated; places like Madeira succeeded by concentrating nomads in a village where they could network. Greece could foster local meetups, tech conferences in scenic areas, or publicize "remote worker months" in certain islands, to build a sense of community that encourages more to stay longer or even settle permanently.

**AI Hubs and Tech in the Periphery:** Technology can also directly drive regional growth by setting up physical tech hubs outside the capital. The government has begun doing this via initiatives such as the Thessaloniki innovation zone and the planned "Athens Innovation **District**" (which, despite the name, could have ripple effects beyond Athens by drawing international tech attention to Greece) (The Rise of Tech Hubs in Greece: Athens and Beyond) (Startup Cities in SEE: Who Is Who In The Emerging Athens Ecosystem). What's promising is that companies themselves are noticing the advantages of secondary cities: lower salaries relative to Western Europe yet high skills, less congestion, and a loyal workforce. We highlighted Ioannina's case where tech firms expanded. Similarly, *Patras* (Western Greece) is leveraging its university to incubate startups in ICT and biotech, making it an emerging city of innovation. By investing in such regional tech parks, Greece encourages a more decentralized tech sector. The EU's selection of Greece for an AI research factory (Pharos) could also see facilities or collaborations that extend to places like Demokritos in Athens and "Athena" Research Center sites in Xanthi or Patras, thereby spreading high-tech research jobs around (4 CEE Countries Will Become Home to EU's AI Factories).

There is also an educational aspect: if more cutting-edge projects and companies are located in regional cities, local universities can tailor programs to those needs, keeping talent in the area. For example, seeing the influx of IT jobs in Epirus, the University of Ioannina could expand its computer science faculty. Over time, a distributed network of tech-savvy cities can emerge, reducing the brain drain to Athens or abroad.

**Economic, Social, and Environmental Benefits:** A decentralized workforce yields several advantages:

- *Economic:* Money earned by remote workers or local tech employees in small towns gets spent locally – benefiting cafes, grocery stores, real estate, and services in those communities. This can have a multiplier effect reviving local economies. For instance, if a hundred remote-working families move to a mountain town, they might save the local primary school from closure, keep the local taverna busy, and demand better infrastructure (which then serves others too). The **Upjohn Institute** in the U.S. found that the work-from-home trend gave many rural communities their first population and economic boost in years (<u>Remote Work's Quiet</u> <u>Impact on Rural Communities | Upjohn Institute</u>). Greece could see similar effects: already some formerly quiet villages in Crete and Peloponnese report new residents (foreign remote workers or returning Greeks) renovating properties and contributing to the local tax base.
- Social: Repopulating villages and small cities helps address the • severe demographic decline. Young families moving in mean more children, which keeps schools and community life alive. It also promotes a more balanced development where regional cultures and traditions continue, rather than everyone homogenizing in one megacity. Moreover, a mixture of locals and newcomers (some international) in rural areas can spark cultural exchange and broaden perspectives in those communities. There is evidence that when urbanites relocate to the countryside (even temporarily), they tend to engage in volunteerism or local projects - for example, during the pandemic some Greek Americans working remotely from ancestral villages helped fund local improvements. A decentralized workforce also reinforces **resilience**: during crises (like health pandemics or natural disasters), having people spread out avoids overburdening one city's resources and can actually make society function better (as seen when some Athenians decamped to villages in 2020, reducing density).
- Environmental: Less concentration in Athens could lead to lower pollution and stress on the urban environment. If more people work from home or local co-working spaces, it cuts down on commuting traffic and carbon emissions. Athens has struggled with smog and traffic jams – distributing jobs can alleviate that. Additionally, revitalizing rural areas can have positive environmental stewardship effects. Areas that were losing



population (and therefore neglecting farmland or forests) might see more maintenance and sustainable use of land with renewed human presence. However, it's important that increased remote work in idyllic locations doesn't lead to unchecked development or harm to natural landscapes (this calls for careful spatial planning and sustainable housing policies).

In summary, technology and remote work are key enablers for Greece's push toward a more geographically balanced economy. By ensuring every corner of Greece is digitally connected and by actively wooing the growing class of remote workers, Greece can disperse economic activity in a way that was not possible in earlier eras. Other nations' experiences show the importance of incentives and infrastructure, which Greece is beginning to provide. If continued, the country could transform from a highly centralized state to one where dynamic "minieconomies" thrive in many locales, all linked by technology. This not only fuels growth but does so in a way that strengthens social fabric and sustainability.

## 4. Demographic and Social Revitalization Through Economic Rethinking

One of the most pressing challenges Greece faces is its *demographic crisis*. Years of low birth rates, emigration of youth, and aging of the population threaten the country's social and economic viability. Rethinking the economic model via decentralization and innovation isn't just an economic agenda – it's also a demographic necessity. By creating opportunities outside the crowded capital and reducing living costs, Greece can encourage family formation and slow or even reverse the population decline in many regions.

#### 4.a Addressing the Demographic Crisis:

Greece's population peaked around 2010 and has been in decline since. The 2021 census counted ~10.48 million residents, a drop of 3.5% from 2011 (Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat - China-CEE Institute). Fertility is extremely low at about 1.3 children per woman (far below the replacement level of 2.1) (Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat - China-CEE Institute). At the same time, during the economic crisis, hundreds of thousands of mostly young, educated Greeks left - estimates put the number around 800,000 who emigrated in the 2010s (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters). This "brain drain" has left a gap in the twentyand thirty-something age cohort. Many rural areas have been hit hardest: not only do they have few births, but their youth often relocate to Athens or abroad, leaving behind rapidly aging



communities. In some villages, one might find only pensioners and a handful of middle-aged residents, with schools closed due to lack of children. This dynamic is starkly illustrated by examples like the village of Santo Stefano in Italy (not Greece, but similar in pattern) where only 13 residents were under 20 out of 115 total (<u>These</u> <u>countries are paying people to move to the countryside | World</u> <u>Economic Forum</u>) – Greek mountain villages mirror this, with skewed older populations.

#### 4.b Economic Decentralization as Demographic Policy:

Bringing jobs and economic vitality to the regions can make it feasible for young Greeks to live and raise families there, rather than feeling compelled to move to Athens or emigrate. Decentralization can thus directly contribute to *demographic renewal*. If a university graduate from Thessaly can find a good job in Larissa (instead of having to move to Athens), that is one less person contributing to Athens' overpopulation and one more person potentially settling and having children in their home region. Many Greeks actually express a desire to live in their hometowns or somewhere less hectic than Athens *if* they could find suitable work. The rise of remote work (discussed earlier) makes this more attainable for some professions.

Cost of living is a huge factor in family decisions. Housing costs, in particular, have become a barrier to starting families in Athens, where rents and property prices have climbed sharply (fueled by shortterm rentals and limited supply). An Al Jazeera report noted Greek renters in big cities struggle with affordability, often devoting a high share of income to housing ('All my wage goes to the house': A <u>rental crisis brews in Greece</u>). In contrast, housing in rural areas or smaller cities is far more affordable – often one can rent an entire house in a village for the price of a small apartment in Athens. For young couples, moving out of the capital can mean the difference between being able to afford children or not. A comparative analysis (hypothetical example) might find that a dual-income family in Athens paying €800 in rent for a cramped flat could move to a town like Tripoli or Komotini and pay perhaps €400 for a spacious home, effectively adding €4-5k to their annual disposable income. Additionally, extended family support (grandparents, etc.) is often more accessible in one's home village or town, which can encourage higher fertility if childcare is shared.

#### 4.c Incentivizing Youth and Families to Rural Areas:

The government can directly incentivize demographic redistribution. Some policy ideas include: *housing subsidies for families* who relocate to under-populated regions (for example, help with a down payment on a



house, or refurbishing an old village home, in exchange for committing to reside there for X years); baby bonuses or tax credits that are higher for residents of regions with population decline (this could marry pro-birth policy with regional policy, giving extra benefit to those bolstering a shrinking community); and guarantees of public services (ensuring that if young families move to an area, the local school and clinic will remain open and staffed, so they don't worry about lack of services). Greece has tried some nationwide pro-birth incentives – a  $\{2,000\}$  birth grant for each child was introduced recently – but tying incentives to location could amplify the impact where it's most needed.

International examples of tackling urban concentration offer inspiration. **Japan**, facing a relentless drain to Tokyo, now pays families per child to move out of Tokyo (These countries are paying people to move to the countryside | World Economic Forum), as mentioned. They also set up "U-turn" and "I-turn" programs to help urbanites find jobs in their hometowns or other rural areas, often by subsidizing employers in those regions who hire returning youth. **Estonia** and **Latvia** have implemented programs to entice their diaspora back (including ethnic Estonians/Latvians abroad) with relocation packages and matchmaking with employers - Greece could do similarly for the diaspora Greeks, especially targeting those in their 20s and 30s to come back and settle in Greece's provinces. For instance, a skilled Greek engineer in Germany might be tempted by a combination of a good job offer in Thessaloniki and preferential tax treatment (Greece's 7-year expat tax break is exactly aimed at such cases (Tax Incentives for Digital Nomads and Remote Workers) (Digital nomads in Greece: remote work visa and taxes)). Early uptake of that program included returning Greeks who had left during the crisis - continuing to market this, perhaps highlighting success stories of returnees who moved to, say, Crete and started a business, can encourage others.

#### 4.d Quality of Life and Community Revival:

A decentralized economy also means revitalizing the social fabric of rural Greece. Over past decades, as young people left, many local traditions and community activities waned. If economic opportunity brings people back, there can be a renaissance of social life. Festivals, cultural events, and daily village life gain new participants. In some areas, local authorities have been creative in trying to spark revival. For example, the municipality of *Tithorea* in central Greece offered free internet and other benefits to attract remote workers to settle there, emphasizing the quality of life and natural beauty. Similarly, some Aegean islands with declining populations considered offering land for farming to young Greeks



willing to relocate. These micro-initiatives need to be scaled up into a national strategy for **"demographic rebalancing."** 

Education and health services are critical components here. Young professionals will hesitate to move to a rural area if they fear their future children won't have good schools. Greece could consider programs to rotate or incentivize excellent teachers to work in rural schools (perhaps student loan forgiveness for teachers who spend several years in a remote region). Likewise, ensuring that regional hospitals are well-equipped or that telehealth connects villages to doctors in cities can alleviate worries about healthcare outside Athens. The government's plan to upgrade numerous regional health centers with digital capabilities (as noted in the recovery plan) will support this.

### 4.e A sustainable lifestyle appeal:

Many younger Europeans (including Greeks) are increasingly drawn to the idea of a greener, less stressful life, which the countryside can offer. If Greece invests in sustainable infrastructure in villages – such as renewable energy microgrids, organic farming cooperatives, eco-tourism – it can attract those who want to build a modern but ecoconscious life away from big cities. This ties into the idea of "smart villages," a concept the EU promotes, where rural communities leverage technology and sustainable practices to improve living standards. For example, a "smart village" might have a communal electric vehicle program, high-speed internet, distance learning classes from a university, and an incubator for agri-startups, all while being in a scenic rural area. Such a model could be piloted in select Greek regions to showcase that one can enjoy both modern amenities and village life.

#### 4.f Historical/Internal Precedents:

Greece itself can draw lessons from its own history of population shifts. After World War II and the Greek Civil War, there was significant rural-to-urban migration. The government in the 1960s and 70s attempted some regional industrialization – establishing factories in cities like Volos, Piraeus (outside Athens proper), and promoting tourism in Rhodes and Corfu. Those efforts met mixed success, but one standout was the development of **Thessaloniki** as a strong second city, which today accounts for about 1 million people in its metro area and serves as the economic hub of the north. Continuing to bolster Thessaloniki (through projects like the expansion of its port, the new tech hubs, etc.) is part of decentralization – making it a counterweight to Athens. Similarly, the government has occasionally discussed moving certain public sector agencies or services out of



Athens to other cities as a way to spur local economies. For instance, putting a new government data center or an administrative headquarters in a smaller city can create jobs and demand there. Some countries deliberately place universities or government offices in different regions (Germany's decentralization of federal institutions is an example: Bonn, Frankfurt, Munich, etc., all host key agencies, not just Berlin). Greece could adopt a policy that any new significant public institution or major project site is located outside Athens unless absolutely necessary to be in the capital.

International Case Studies of Urban-Rural Rebalancing: A few countries have managed more balanced urbanization. *France* in the 1960s launched the "Métropoles d'équilibre" policy to strengthen regional cities like Lyon, Toulouse, and Marseille as counter-magnets to Paris – today France still has Paris dominant but those cities have thrived and retained population. *Poland* post-1990 maintained a network of strong regional cities (Krakow, Wroclaw, Gdansk, etc.) rather than everything pooling into Warsaw, aided by devolving some administrative powers to regions. *Estonia* (again a small country example) heavily invested in nationwide internet (even rural areas have free Wi-Fi spots), enabling tech entrepreneurs to work from its university town Tartu or even islands, not only Tallinn. For Greece, a mix of such strategies – empowering regions, investing outside the capital, and providing incentives for dispersion – can over time create a more balanced population distribution.

Ultimately, an economically decentralized Greece is likely to be a *demographically healthier* Greece. By aligning jobs with the places where people can live well and afford to raise families, the nation can tackle its population challenges from two sides: encouraging higher birth rates and stemming emigration/urban exodus. This is a long-term endeavor; demographic trends don't reverse overnight. But even initial signs of stabilization (for example, if the next census in 2031 shows population growth in several currently declining regions) would validate the approach. In broader terms, this shift would also strengthen the social contract: people throughout Greece would feel they have a future **in situ**, not just "if they move to Athens." That, in turn, can enhance national cohesion and optimism among the youth.

## 5. Government Policies, Investment Strategies, and Private Sector Roles in Driving Regional Growth

Transforming Greece into a more distributed, innovation-driven economy will require coordinated action across government policy, strategic



investment of funds, and active participation from the private sector and civil society. The vision is clear – a high-value economy with opportunities across all regions – but achieving it calls for a concrete framework of reforms and initiatives. In this section, we outline key policy measures and strategic moves that can support business and talent relocation to regional Greece, the role of government versus private sector, and how education and workforce development must align with the new economic direction.

#### 5.a Targeted Tax Policies and Incentives:

Fiscal incentives are powerful levers to influence where businesses operate and where individuals live and work. Greece has already implemented some, like the 50% income tax break for relocated workers (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads Reuters). Building on this, the government could introduce regional tax differentiation to steer activity outside Athens. For example, a reduced corporate tax rate for companies headquartered or investing in designated "priority regions" (areas with high unemployment or population decline). If, say, the standard corporate tax is 22%, one might offer 15% for firms that set up in Epirus or Western Macedonia. Similarly, lower employer social insurance contributions could be offered for each job created outside Attica. Some European countries have experience with this: *Italy* gives companies in the underdeveloped Mezzogiorno region a break on social contributions; *Portugal* offers tax incentives in its interior regions. Care must be taken that these incentives comply with EU state aid rules, but the EU does allow extra leeway for cohesion regions.

For individuals, Greece might enhance the attractiveness of moving to certain areas via personal tax credits. One idea is a **"relocation allowance"** in the tax code: if a taxpayer changes their residence from Athens (or abroad) to a province that's earmarked for repopulation, they could deduct moving expenses or get a credit equal to a percentage of their rent/mortgage in the new location for a few years. Another personal tax policy could be forgiving student loan debt for graduates who work in rural areas for a certain period (this is done in some form in the US for doctors or teachers who serve in remote communities).

## 5.b Infrastructure and Public Investment Outside Athens:

The Greek government needs to ensure that hard infrastructure (transport, utilities) and soft infrastructure (education, healthcare, digital access) in the regions are built up to support growth. This means continuing to upgrade highways and rail links that connect



smaller cities to big ones - for instance, completing rail modernizations so that Thessaloniki to Patras, or Athens to Ioannina, are faster and more reliable trips. It also includes port and airport improvements for the islands and coastal towns, which can enable logistics and new business there. Crucially, **broadband internet expansion** must treat it like a utility reaching every last settlement (as discussed, Greece's National Broadband Plan 2021-2027 aims to promote very high capacity networks everywhere (<u>Digital connectivity</u> <u>in Greece | Shaping Europe's digital future</u>)).

Public investment should prioritize projects in rural and regional areas to stimulate local economies. The good news is that a significant portion of the **EU Recovery and Resilience Facility** money (Greece 2.0 plan) is slated for projects that span the country - for example, renewable energy installations in Western Macedonia, tourism upgrades in various islands, and digital learning equipment for schools nationwide (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out) (Greece gets EIB policy support for <u>regions affected by lignite phase-out</u>). The Greek government can further use EU structural funds (2021-2027) for regional development these funds are explicitly meant to reduce disparities. Greece's partnership agreement with the EU allocates billions to its 13 regions for smart growth, green transition, and social inclusion. By strategically channeling these into building science parks, improving local universities, and enhancing quality of life in smaller cities, the government can create magnets for both businesses and families.

One specific policy is the **Just Transition development plan** for former coal regions (like Western Macedonia and parts of the Peloponnese around Megalopolis). As noted, the plan will invest in creating new industries in those areas: clean energy, agri-food processing, advanced manufacturing, etc., to replace lost mining jobs (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out) (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out). This not only addresses an environmental goal but acts as a pilot for how to regenerate a regional economy with targeted investment. If successful, similar approaches can be applied to other regions with economic difficulties (like old industrial areas in central Greece, or monoculture tourist areas that need diversification).

The government should also consider **relocating certain government entities** to boost regional cities. For instance, moving a division of a Ministry or a major public sector company's HQ to a secondary city can bring high-quality jobs there. There is precedent: the Public Power Corporation (PPC/DEI) had a significant presence in Western Macedonia due to the mines; as those mines close, PPC is investing in



solar parks there (<u>Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley</u> of Tears | EnergyTransition.org) and could base its renewable energy unit in that region, keeping employment local. Decentralizing administrative functions (perhaps moving some to Thessaloniki, which historically hosts the International Fair and other institutions, or to Crete for maritime and environmental institutes) can symbolically and practically reinforce that Athens is not the sole center of governance or public employment.

### 5.c Utilizing EU Funds and Public-Private Partnerships:

Greece has a sizeable allocation from the EU's Multiannual Financial Framework and NextGenEU (over €30 billion in RRF alone (Digitalization <u>under the Greek RRP: last big opportunity to narrow ...</u>)). These resources should be deployed with a regional lens. For example, the 1 billion euro Rural Development Program under the Common Agricultural Policy can support young farmers and food SMEs in rural areas, encouraging innovation in agriculture (aligning with agritech goals). The **cohesion funds** can co-finance technology incubators in multiple regions - maybe an AI excellence center in Thessaloniki, a biotech incubator in Crete, an agritech demo farm in Thessaly, etc. The **European Investment Bank (EIB)** is also providing advisory and funding support; indeed, the EIB signed on to help Greece mobilize €325 million for investments in the lignite transition regions (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase ...). The EIB and European Investment Fund could extend such support to other regions with dedicated investment platforms (like regional venture funds or infrastructure loan packages).

Private sector participation is essential because government or EU money alone won't sustain growth. **Public-private partnerships (PPPs)** can be a mechanism: for instance, to build a tech park or a hospital in a provincial city, a PPP can leverage private capital with public support. Greece has had some success with PPPs in highways and telecoms, which could be replicated for digital infrastructure in remote areas (subsidizing telecom companies to lay fiber in less profitable rural markets, for example).

**Encouraging Private Investment and Startups in Regions:** The private sector often follows the path of least resistance – historically concentrating in Athens. To change that, Greece can offer not just sticks (like maybe congestion charges in Athens) but mainly carrots to companies. One idea is creating **Special Economic Zones (SEZs)** or innovation zones outside Athens with regulatory and tax advantages. These zones could simplify permitting and provide tax holidays for companies in targeted industries that set up there. For example, an SEZ near Patras focusing on biotech manufacturing might offer a 10-

year tax exemption and fast-track permitting for lab construction. The *Thessaloniki Innovation Zone* is a step in this direction; it's a designated area aiming to attract tech firms with support services and incentives. As of now, Thessaloniki has drawn big names (Pfizer, Deloitte, etc.) in part due to these local efforts (<u>Pfizer CEO Albert Bourla Expresses His Deep Love For Thessaloniki ...</u>) (<u>Pfizer CEO Bourla Announces Second Hub in Thessaloniki at Greek ...</u>). Expanding the concept, each major region could develop a niche: e.g., Crete for energy and tourism tech, Thessaly for agritech, Epirus for software, etc., and be promoted accordingly by investment agencies.

The role of **Enterprise Greece (the national investment promotion agency)** is key here. It should actively market regional opportunities to both foreign and domestic investors. The narrative could be: *"Invest in Greece's Regions – competitive costs, untapped talent, government support."* Highlight success stories like the German tech firms in Ioannina or the Silicon Valley of Thessaloniki emerging (Ioannina: The high-tech hub of Southern Europe) to show it's working. Enterprise Greece's recent reports note that billions in hi-tech investments are "stretching across the country, from Crete to Epirus," thanks to the new focus on innovation (Greece's innovation economy <u>expanding through new programs, initiatives-</u>). This is a message that can attract more investors who might not have considered Greece beyond tourism.

#### 5.d Education and Workforce Alignment:

Preparing a future-ready workforce that can fill jobs in emerging industries across Greece is a fundamental piece. The education system needs to align with the identified growth sectors - agritech, AI, biotech, etc. This means updating curricula at universities and technical institutes to teach relevant skills and encourage entrepreneurship. Many Greek universities are in smaller cities (University of Patras, University of Ioannina, University of Thessaly in Volos/Larissa, etc.). These should become anchors of regional innovation. Policies to facilitate university-industry collaboration can help: for example, incentivizing companies to sponsor research at regional universities, or having incubators on campus (some exist, like the Archimedes Center at University of Athens; similar could be strengthened elsewhere). Also, creating more English-language programs in specialized fields could attract international students and scholars to Greek regional universities, raising their profile and funding.

Vocational training is equally important. Not all new jobs will require a PhD; many will be technicians, coders, lab techs, renewable energy installers, and so forth. Greece can revamp its vocational schools (IEKs) to provide courses in things like wind turbine maintenance, organic farming techniques, medical trial support skills - feeding local industry needs. By doing so, local populations can qualify for the new jobs coming to their regions instead of outsiders filling them. In Western Macedonia's transition, for instance, training former miners to become solar panel technicians or electricians is part of the just transition plan (<u>Greece gets EIB</u> <u>policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out</u>) (<u>Greece gets</u> <u>EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out</u>).

Furthermore, **brain gain programs** should be expanded. Greece's Ministry of Labor has in the past run initiatives to connect young scientists abroad with opportunities in Greece (even short-term research collaborations). There could be a dedicated "Rejoin Greece" program offering salary subsidies to firms (public or private) that hire Greek expatriates into positions in Greece's regions. This way, a startup in, say, Kalamata could afford to recruit a Greek software developer currently in London by offsetting part of their pay initially. Each talented returnee can have an outsized impact, bringing skills and often mentorship potential for others.

#### 5.e Government Role vs. Private Sector Role:

The Greek government's role is to create the enabling environment: stable macroeconomy, investor-friendly regulations, targeted incentives, and investments in public goods. After a decade of reforms, Greece's business climate has improved (e.g., faster business registration, digital tax services, etc.), but it must keep improving transparency and reduce bureaucracy to keep investors confident (<u>Will</u> 2022 be the breakthrough year for Greek startups?| Sifted) (<u>Will 2022</u> be the breakthrough year for Greek startups?| Sifted). The government should also act as a **facilitator** connecting different stakeholders – for instance, convening regional development forums where local businesses, mayors, universities, and investors brainstorm and coordinate plans (some regions have development agencies for EU funds that can be utilized for this convening role).

The private sector, on the other hand, must seize the opportunities these policies create. Greek businesses could consider expansion or relocation not just as a cost-cutting move but as an investment in long-term sustainability. A company that opens a branch in a lowercost city might find not only savings but also a loyal workforce and new markets. The banking sector in Greece is starting to stabilize; banks can contribute by increasing lending to small businesses in rural areas and financing entrepreneurial ventures. Private investors (VCs, angels) should look beyond Athens – and indeed, some are. For example, a number of accelerators and funds have begun scouting startups in Thessaloniki and Crete. With diaspora and foreign involvement (many Greek diaspora entrepreneurs are now angel investing back home (<u>The Greek Diaspora's Role in the Innovation Ecosystem</u>) (<u>The</u> <u>Greek Diaspora's Role in the Innovation Ecosystem</u>)), the private financing landscape is diversifying.

#### 5.f EU and International Support:

It's worth noting Greece is not alone in this effort. The EU actively supports balanced regional development. Greece can leverage expertise from the EU's **OECD Territorial Review** and similar studies that provide policy guidance (Regional Policy for Greece Post-2020 | OECD). International institutions (OECD, World Bank) have provided recommendations on Greek regional policy in the past - for instance, improving regional governance and accountability for local projects. Implementing best practices (like performance-based budgeting for regional authorities, so that effective ones get more resources) can ensure funds are well spent. The Greek diaspora and international partners can also play a role in promoting Greece as an innovation destination - think of prominent Greek-American or Greek-Australian business figures advocating for investment in their ancestral regions. There's already an example with Andrew Liveris (a Greek-Australian former Dow Chemical CEO) who has been involved in discussions on Greece's tech education and industry, or *George Sakellaris* (a Greek-American renewable energy entrepreneur) investing in solar parks in Greece. These connections can be cultivated to support the strategy.

Lastly, **monitoring and adaptability** should be built into the policy framework. The government should track metrics like regional GDP per capita, unemployment by region, number of startups outside Athens, migration flows between Athens and rest of Greece, etc., to see if decentralization efforts are working (<u>Greece political briefing:</u> <u>Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat – China-CEE</u> <u>Institute</u>) (<u>Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as</u> <u>an Existential Threat – China-CEE Institute</u>). If some measures aren't effective, policies can be tweaked. For example, if after a few years the tax break for relocators is underutilized, perhaps the eligibility needs expanding or better promotion. Or if one region is lagging despite incentives, maybe it needs a special task force or a flagship project (like relocating a university faculty there or building a new logistics center).

In conclusion, a robust mix of **policy reforms, strategic investments**, and **private sector initiatives** is required to remake Greece's economic landscape. The government's job is to lay the foundation and provide the push for change, ensuring that the benefits of growth reach all corners of the country. The private sector's job is to innovate,



invest, and create jobs when those conditions are met. With the supportive boost of EU funds and the creativity and skills of the Greek people, a more decentralized, high-value economy is within reach. The collaboration of public and private sectors – and indeed the whole society – will turn the outlined vision into reality, securing Greece's prosperity and sustainability for the long term.

## 6. Conclusion: A Roadmap for Greece's Next Decade of Transformation

Greece is at a pivotal moment where it can redefine its economic destiny. The hardships of the past decade have underscored the weaknesses of an overly centralized, consumption-driven model. Now, with lessons learned and new opportunities (like digital work and EU recovery funds), Greece can chart a path toward a more dynamic, distributed, and resilient economy – one that offers hope and prosperity well beyond the shadow of the Acropolis.

From our analysis, several key pillars emerge for this transformation:

- Balanced Regional Development: Encourage growth in regional cities and rural areas to counter Athens' overconcentration. This involves targeted incentives for businesses and individuals to relocate, massive upgrades to infrastructure (especially digital) in those areas, and a narrative shift that highlights the advantages of Greece's many regions. By doing so, Greece can alleviate pressure on Athens (reducing congestion and housing crises (Athens overconcentration calls for urgent measures | eKathimerini.com) ('All my wage goes to the house': A rental <u>crisis brews in Greece</u>)) while breathing new life into communities that have been declining (Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat - China-CEE Institute). The goal is a country where multiple cities -Thessaloniki, Patras, Heraklion, Larissa, Ioannina, etc. - each become engines of growth with their own specialties, collectively outpacing what a single primate city could achieve.
- Innovation-Driven Industries: Pivot the economy to emphasize high-value sectors beyond the traditional pillars of tourism and shipping. Greece has identified areas like agritech, biotech/health sciences, fintech/AI, and clean energy as promising – and indeed we see green shoots in all of these (from Pfizer's hub in Thessaloniki (Pfizer CEO Albert Bourla Expresses His Deep Love For Thessaloniki ...) to Greek AI startups achieving second place in CEE (Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024) to Western Macedonia's solar parks (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears



EnergyTransition.org)). Nurturing these sectors will require sustained investment in R&D, supportive regulation, and fostering of ecosystems (startup incubators, research collaborations, and financing) around the country. Success in these fields means Greece can export more technology and services, create highpaying jobs for its educated youth, and integrate into global innovation networks. Over the next decade, we should aim to see multiple Greek tech unicorns, thriving agro-innovation clusters, and leadership in areas like marine renewables or AI for shipping - leveraging Greece's unique strengths (for example, maritime know-how combined with tech could spawn a "blue tech" industry).

- Remote Work and Digital Integration: Make Greece a top destination and platform for **remote work**. By continuing to improve internet infrastructure and simplifying bureaucratic processes, Greece can capitalize on the remote work revolution to attract talent from around the world. The government's aggressive tax incentive for relocators (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long <u>road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters</u>) and introduction of the digital nomad visa are strong moves; these need to be complemented with quality-of-life improvements (medical services, international schools, etc. in areas where expats might go) to convert short stays into long-term residency. Simultaneously. Greek companies and government agencies adopting remote-friendly policies can help stem brain drain - allowing a Greek software engineer in a small town to work for a company in Athens or abroad without leaving home. If implemented fully, the vision is of a **decentralized workforce** where thousands of Greeks and foreigners work from the islands, mountains, and small cities, contributing to the local economy and connecting Greece to global markets in real time.
- Demographic Revival: Align economic incentives with the need to repopulate and rejuvenate Greece's society. Economic policy should explicitly integrate demographic goals: incentivize young people to stay or move to areas that need youth, and make it affordable for families to have more children. This means affordable housing initiatives outside big cities, good schools and childcare everywhere, and perhaps direct supports (like expanded child allowances) especially for residents of shrinking regions. The ultimate measure of success will be seeing the birth rate inch up and rural schools reopening rather than closing. A reversal of brain drain – even if gradual – will indicate that Greece is offering opportunities at home that its talented citizens used to only find abroad. In 10 years, we hope to see some of those 800,000 who left during the crisis contributing to



Greece's economy back on Greek soil, many in regional areas bringing diverse experiences and expertise.

Sustainable and Inclusive Growth: Ensure that the new economic model is **environmentally sustainable and socially inclusive**. Decentralization itself aids sustainability by reducing urban congestion and spreading out resource use. The push into clean energy will cut emissions (Greece targeting 15GW new renewables by 2030 (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of <u>Tears | EnergyTransition.org</u>) is a big step) and also create jobs in areas that need them (Greece gets EIB policy support for regions affected by lignite phase-out). Policies must make sure that as innovation hubs and new industries emerge, local populations are included and benefit - through education, training, and fair access to new jobs. Avoid simply shifting inequality from one form to another; the aim is to uplift lagging regions, involve women and underrepresented groups in tech and entrepreneurship, and preserve cultural heritage while embracing modernization. Greece's strategy should marry high-tech with **high-touch** – modern industries rooted in the rich social fabric of Greek communities.

This journey will not be without challenges. It requires steadfast political will, careful implementation, and collaboration across ministries (economy, digital governance, education, interior, etc.), as well as between national and local authorities. It also needs a change in mindset: viewing Greece not as one center with a supporting cast, but as a network of vibrant locales each with something valuable to contribute. The public will need to buy into this vision – convincing a young Athenian to move to a smaller town, or an investor to choose Patras over an established foreign hub, takes proof that the opportunities and quality of life will be better. Early successes will be crucial to showcase. Every startup that scales up in a regional city, every multinational that invests outside Athens, every village that sees its population tick upward, can be touted as an example of the new Greece in the making.

In sum, the next decade offers Greece a chance for a **transformative reboot**. By decentralizing economic activity, leveraging technology and remote work, and focusing on innovation and skills, Greece can break free from the old constraints and create a more balanced and resilient economy. Such an economy would not only generate greater wealth but also distribute it more evenly, healing the urban-rural divide and giving all citizens a stake in the country's future. The positive side effects – from improved demographics to environmental gains – make this an even more compelling endeavour. Greece stands to emerge as a



country that combines the best of its heritage (strong communities, rich natural landscapes, strategic location) with the best of modern innovation (digital prowess, entrepreneurial spirit, cutting-edge industries). The roadmap outlined is ambitious, but with determination and collective effort, Greece can indeed become a **dynamic**, **decentralized, high-value economy** that serves as a model for others and secures prosperity for generations to come.

#### Sources:

- Hellenic Statistical Authority (ELSTAT) Population and housing census 2021 data (via University of Thessaly analysis) (<u>Millet</u> <u>News: #University of Thessaly</u>).
- eKathimerini "Half of the population lives in Attica" (January 2024) (<u>Millet News: #University of Thessaly</u>); "Athens overconcentration calls for urgent measures" (traffic and vehicles) (<u>Athens overconcentration calls for urgent measures</u> | <u>eKathimerini.com</u>).
- Reuters "Sun, sea and cybernauts: Greece's long road for digital nomads" (April 2021) (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters) (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters) (Sun, sea and cybernauts: the long road for Greece's digital nomads | Reuters).
- CNBC "Greece is slashing income taxes to lure remote workers" (Nov 2020) (Greece to offer 50% income tax cut to lure remote workers during ...).
- Bloomberg "Greece Offers Tax Breaks to Lure the Work-From-Anywhere Crowd" (2020).
- World Economic Forum "Countries paying people to move to the countryside" (2022) (<u>These countries are paying people to move to</u> <u>the countryside | World Economic Forum</u>) (<u>These countries are</u> <u>paying people to move to the countryside | World Economic Forum</u>).
- The Recursive (tech news) "Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE (2024)" (Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024) (Greece Ranks Second in Number of AI Startups in CEE for 2024); "EU AI Factories coming to Greece" (4 CEE Countries Will Become Home to EU's AI Factories); "Ioannina: The high-tech hub of Southern Europe" (Ioannina: The high-tech hub of Southern Europe).
- Sifted "Will 2022 be the breakthrough year for Greek startups?" (Jan 2022) (Will 2022 be the breakthrough year for Greek



startups?| Sifted) (Will 2022 be the breakthrough year for Greek
startups?| Sifted).

- Enterprise Greece Newsletter July 2024, "Greece's innovation economy expanding..." (Greece's innovation economy expanding through new programs, initiatives-) (Greece's innovation economy expanding through new programs, initiatives-).
- China-CEE Institute "Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat" (Oct 2024) (Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat – China-CEE Institute) (Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat – China-CEE Institute) (Greece political briefing: Greece's Demographic Crisis as an Existential Threat – China-CEE Institute).
- EnergyTransition.org "Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears" (Aug 2022) (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org) (Harnessing the power of the sun in Greece's Valley of Tears | EnergyTransition.org).
- European Investment Bank Press Release on support for Greece's Just Transition (Jan 2025) (<u>Greece gets EIB policy support for</u> regions affected by lignite phase-out) (<u>Greece gets EIB policy</u> <u>support for regions affected by lignite phase-out</u>).
- Al Jazeera *"A rental crisis brews in Greece"* (Oct 2022) (<u>'All</u> <u>my wage goes to the house': A rental crisis brews in Greece</u>).
- OECD and World Bank reports on regional development (various years).